Igor Rodnianski · Jared Speck

On the nature of Hawking's incompleteness for the Einstein-vacuum equations: The regime of moderately spatially anisotropic initial data

Received December 20, 2018

Abstract. In the mathematical physics literature, there are heuristic arguments, going back three decades, suggesting that for an open set of initially smooth solutions to the Einstein-vacuum equations in high dimensions, stable, approximately monotonic curvature singularities can dynamically form along a spacelike hypersurface. In this article, we study the Cauchy problem and give a rigorous proof of this phenomenon in sufficiently high dimensions, thereby providing the first constructive proof of stable curvature-blowup (without symmetry assumptions) along a spacelike hypersurface as an effect of pure gravity. Our proof applies to an open subset of regular initial data satisfying the assumptions of Hawking's celebrated "singularity" theorem, which shows that the solution is geodesically incomplete but does not reveal the nature of the incompleteness. Specifically, our main result is a proof of the dynamic stability of the Kasner curvature singularity for a subset of Kasner solutions whose metrics exhibit only moderately (as opposed to severely) spatially anisotropic behavior. Of independent interest is our method of proof, which is more robust than earlier approaches in that (i) it does not rely on approximate monotonicity identities and (ii) it accommodates the possibility that the solution develops very singular high-order spatial derivatives, whose blowup-rates are allowed to be, within the scope of our bootstrap argument, much worse than those of the base-level quantities driving the fundamental blowup. For these reasons, our approach could be used to obtain similar blowup-results for various Einstein-matter systems in any number of spatial dimensions for solutions corresponding to an open set of moderately spatially anisotropic initial data, thus going beyond the nearly spatially isotropic regime treated in earlier works.

Keywords. Big Bang, constant mean curvature, curvature singularity, geodesically incomplete, Hawking's theorem, Kasner solutions, maximal globally hyperbolic development, singularity theorem, stable blowup, transported spatial coordinates

Funding. Igor Rodnianski gratefully acknowledges support from NSF grant #DMS-1001500. Jared Speck gratefully acknowledges support from NSF grant #DMS-1162211, from NSF CAREER grant

Igor Rodnianski: Princeton University, Department of Mathematics, Fine Hall, Washington Road, Princeton, NJ 08544-1000, USA; irod@math.princeton.edu

Jared Speck: Vanderbilt University, Department of Mathematics, 1326 Stevenson Center Lane, Room SC1412, Nashville, TN 37212, USA; jared.speck@vanderbilt.edu

Mathematics Subject Classification (2020): Primary 83C75; Secondary 35A21, 35Q76, 83C05, 83F05

#DMS-1454419, from a Sloan Research Fellowship provided by the Alfred P. Sloan foundation, and from a Solomon Buchsbaum grant administered by the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	169
	1.1.	The evolution problem and the initial data	170
	1.2.	Some additional context and preliminary comments on the new ideas in the proof .	171
	1.3.	Kasner solutions and a rough summary of the main theorem	173
	1.4.	Previous breakdown results for Einstein's equations	174
	1.5.	An overview of the proof of the main theorem	179
	1.6.	Further comparisons with two related works and open questions	185
	1.7.	Paper outline	188
	1.8.	Notation and conventions	189
2.	Setti	ng up the analysis	193
	2.1.	The Einstein-vacuum equations in CMC-transported spatial coordinates	193
	2.2.	Standard expressions for curvature tensors of \hat{g}	195
	2.3.	The existence of Kasner solutions verifying our exponent assumptions when	
		D > 38	195
3.	Norr	ns and bootstrap assumptions	196
	3.1.	Fixed constants appearing in the norms	196
	3.2.	Pointwise norms.	197
	3.3.	Lebesgue and Sobolev norms	197
	3.4.	The specific norms that we use to control the deviation of the solution from the	
		Kasner background	199
	3.5.	Bootstrap assumptions	200
4.	Estimates for the Kasner solution and preliminary technical estimates		
	4.1.	Basic estimates for the Kasner solution	200
	4.2.	Norm comparisons	200
	4.3.	Sobolev interpolation and product inequalities	201
	4.4.	Sobolev embedding	202
5.	Cont	trol of n in terms of g and k	204
	5.1.	The equations	204
	5.2.	Control of the error terms in the lapse estimates	207
	5.3.	Proof of Proposition 5.1	214
6.	Estir	nates for the low-order derivatives of g and k	216
	6.1.	The equations	217
	6.2.	Proof of Proposition 6.1	218
7.	Estir	nates for the top-order derivatives of g and k	220
	7.1.	The equations	220
	7.2.	Energy currents	222
	7.3.	Control of the error terms	225
	7.4.	Proof of Proposition 7.1	236
8.	Estimates for the near-top-order derivatives of g and k		238
	8.1.	The equations	239
	8.2.	Control of the error terms in the near-top-order energy estimates	240
	8.3.	Proof of Proposition 8.1	250
9.	The	main a priori estimates	252
	9.1.	Integral inequality for the high norm	252
	9.2.	A priori estimates for the solution norms	253

10. Estimates tied to curvature-blowup and the length of past-directed causal geodesics	254	
10.1. Curvature estimates	254	
10.2. Estimates for the length of past-directed causal geodesic segments	256	
11. The main stable blowup theorem		
References	260	

1. Introduction

Hawking's celebrated "singularity" theorem (see, e.g., [59, Theorem 9.5.1]) shows that an interestingly large set of initial data for the Einstein-vacuum¹ equations leads to geodesically incomplete solutions. The chief drawback of this result is that the proof is by contradiction and therefore does not reveal the nature of the incompleteness; see Section 1.4 for further discussion. In this article, for an open² subset of regular initial data in high spatial dimensions that satisfy the assumptions of Hawking's theorem, we show that the solution's incompleteness is due to the formation of a Big Bang, that is, the formation of a curvature singularity along a spacelike hypersurface. For more detailed statements of our main results, readers can jump ahead to Theorem 1.8d for a rough summary or to Theorem 11.1 for the precise versions.

Before proceeding, we note that the Einstein-vacuum equations in D spatial dimensions are

$$\mathbf{Ric}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{Rg}_{\mu\nu} = 0 \quad (\mu, \nu = 0, 1, \dots, D),$$
(1.1)

where **Ric** is the Ricci curvature of the Lorentzian spacetime metric **g** (which has signature $(-, +, \dots, +)$), and **R** = **Ric**^{α} is³ its scalar curvature. Throughout, \mathcal{M} denotes the (1 + D)-dimensional spacetime manifold, on which system (1.1) is posed. In this article, the spacetimes under study are *cosmological*, i.e., they have compact spacelike Cauchy hypersurfaces. In particular, the solutions that we study are such that $\mathcal{M} = I \times \mathbb{T}^D$, where *I* is an interval of time and *D* is the standard *D*-dimensional torus (i.e., $[0, 1]^D$ with the endpoints identified).

Our work provides the first constructive proof of stable curvature-blowup along a spacelike hypersurface *as an effect of pure gravity* (i.e., without the presence of matter) for Einstein's equations in more than one spatial dimension without symmetry assumptions. The present work can be viewed as complementary to our previous works [50, 51, 53], in which we proved similar results in the presence of scalar field or stiff fluid⁴ matter. As we explain below, out of necessity, we had to devise a new and more robust analytic

¹Hawking's theorem also applies to any Einstein-matter system whose energy-momentum tensor verifies the strong energy condition.

²By "open," we mean relative to a suitable Sobolev norm topology.

³We summarize our index and summation conventions in Section 1.8.1.

⁴A stiff fluid is such that the speed of sound is equal to the speed of light, i.e., it obeys the equation of state $p = \rho$, where p is the pressure and ρ is the density. The stiff fluid is a generalization of the scalar field in the sense that it reduces to the scalar field matter model when the fluid's vorticity vanishes.

framework to treat the Einstein-vacuum equations, since many of the special structures that we exploited in [50, 51, 53] are not available in the vacuum case.

For the singularities that we study here, the blowup is rather "controlled" in the sense that the solutions exhibit approximately monotonic behavior as the singularity is approached. For example, relative to an appropriately constructed time coordinate t, the Kretschmann scalar **Riem**_{$\alpha\beta\gamma\delta$} **Riem**^{$\alpha\beta\gamma\delta$} blows up like Ct^{-4} as $t \downarrow 0$ (see Lemma 10.1 for the precise statement), where **Riem** is the Riemann curvature of g. A main theme of this paper is that the monotonic behavior is not just a curiosity, but rather it lies at the heart of our analysis. Heuristic evidence for the existence of a large family of (non-spatially homogeneous) approximately monotonic spacelike-singularity-forming Einstein-vacuum solutions for large D goes back more than 30 years to the work [25], which was preceded by other works of a similar vein that we review in Section 1.4.1. In [25] and in the present work as well, the largeness of D is used only to ensure the existence of background solutions with certain quantitative properties (in our case Kasner solutions whose exponents verify the condition (1.8e); for the Einstein-vacuum equations in low space dimensions, the only obstacle to the existence of such solutions is the Hamiltonian constraint equation (1.2a). Given such a background solution, the rest of our analysis is essentially dimensionally independent.⁵ Although our main theorem applies only when D > 38, our approach here is of interest in itself since it is more robust compared to prior works on stable blowup for various Einstein-matter systems, and since it has further applications, for example in three spatial dimensions; see the end of Section 1.2 for further discussion of this point.

1.1. The evolution problem and the initial data

Before further describing our results, we first provide some background material on the evolution problem for Einstein's equations. The foundational works [14, 26] collectively imply that the Einstein-vacuum equations (1.1) have an evolution problem formulation in which all sufficiently regular initial data verifying the constraint equations (1.2a)–(1.2b) launch a unique⁶ maximal classical solution ($\mathcal{M}_{(Max)}$, $\mathbf{g}_{(Max)}$), known as the *maximal globally hyperbolic development of the data* (MGHD for short). Below we will discuss the evolution equations. For now, we recall that the initial data are (Σ_1 , \mathring{g} , \mathring{k}), where

- Σ_1 is a *D*-dimensional manifold,
- \mathring{g} is a Riemannian metric on Σ_1 , and
- $\overset{\circ}{k}$ is a symmetric type $\binom{0}{2} \Sigma_1$ -tangent tensorfield.

The subscript "1" on Σ_1 emphasizes that in our main theorem, Σ_1 will be identified with a hypersurface of constant time 1. \mathring{g} and \mathring{k} represent, respectively, the first and second fundamental form of Σ_1 , viewed as a Riemannian submanifold of the spacetime to be

⁵Aside from the number of derivatives that we need to close the estimates.

⁶More precisely, the maximal globally hyperbolic development (MGHD) is unique up to isometry in the class of globally hyperbolic spacetimes.

constructed. The constraints are the well-known *Gauss* and *Codazzi* equations (which are often referred to, respectively, as the Hamiltonian and momentum constraint equations):

$$\mathring{\mathbf{R}} - \mathring{k}^{a}_{\ b} \mathring{k}^{b}_{\ a} + (\mathring{k}^{a}_{\ a})^{2} = 0, \tag{1.2a}$$

$$\nabla_a \mathring{k}^a_{\ j} - \nabla_j \mathring{k}^a_{\ a} = 0. \tag{1.2b}$$

In (1.2a)–(1.2b), ∇ denotes the Levi-Civita connection of \mathring{g} .

In analyzing solutions to (1.1), we will use the well-known constant-mean-curvaturetransported spatial coordinates gauge. The corresponding PDE system involves hyperbolic evolution equations for the first and second fundamental forms of the constanttime hypersurface Σ_t coupled to an elliptic PDE for the lapse n > 0, which verifies $\mathbf{g}(\partial_t, \partial_t) = -n^2$. See Section 2.1.1 for a review of this gauge. Here we only note that *the elliptic PDE for n is essential for synchronizing the singularity across space*. To employ this gauge in the context of our main theorem, we assume that the initial data verify the constant-mean-curvature (CMC from now on) condition

$$\overset{\circ}{k}{}^{a}{}_{a} = -1.$$
(1.3)

Remark 1.4 (The CMC assumption is not a further restriction). In the context of our main theorem, equation (1.3) should not be viewed as a further restriction on the initial data since for the near-Kasner solutions that we study, we can always construct a CMC hypersurface lying near the initial data hypersurface. This can be achieved by making minor modifications to the arguments given in [51], where we constructed a CMC hypersurface in a closely related context.

1.2. Some additional context and preliminary comments on the new ideas in the proof

The aforementioned results [14, 26], while philosophically of great importance, reveal very little information about the nature of the MGHD. In our main theorem, we derive sharp information about the MGHDs of an open set of nearly spatially homogeneous initial data (i.e., initial data along a spacelike hypersurface that "vary only slightly" from point to point) given along the *D*-dimensional torus $\Sigma_1 = \mathbb{T}^D$, where $D \ge 38$. The largeness of *D* allows us to consider initial data that are only moderately (as opposed to severely) spatially anisotropic, in the sense that the data are close to a Kasner solution (1.6) whose Kasner exponents verify (1.8e) (see below for further discussion). Broadly speaking, the main analytic themes of our work can be summarized as follows (see Section 1.5 for a more detailed outline of our proof):

The amount of spatial anisotropy exhibited by the solutions under study is tied to the strength of various nonlinear error terms that depend on spatial derivatives. Below a certain threshold, the error terms become sub-critical (in the sense of the strength of their singularity) with respect to the main terms. This allows us to give a perturbative proof of stable blowup through a bootstrap argument, where the blowup is driven by "ODE-type" *singular terms that are linear in time derivatives*, and, at least at the low derivative levels, **the nonlinear spatial** **derivative-involving error terms are strictly less singular than the singular linear time derivative terms**. Put differently, at the low derivative levels, the spatial derivative terms remain negligible (in a relative sense) throughout the evolution, a phenomenon that, in the general relativity literature, is sometimes referred to as *asymptotically velocity term dominated* (AVTD) behavior. In contrast, at the high derivative levels, the spatial derivative terms can be very singular; bounding the maximum strength of the high-order spatial derivative singularities and showing that highly singular behavior does not propagate down into the low derivative levels together constitute the main technical challenges of the proof.

We stress that in the absence of matter, spatially homogeneous and isotropic Big Bang solutions *do not exist*; they are precluded by the Hamiltonian constraint equation (1.2a). Hence, it is out of necessity that our main theorem concerns spatially anisotropic solutions. In our previous works [50, 51, 53], we proved related stable blowup-results for the Einstein-scalar field and Einstein-stiff fluid systems in three spatial dimensions. In those works, the presence of matter allowed for the existence of spatially homogeneous, spatially isotropic Big-Bang-containing solutions, specifically, the famous Friedmann–Lemaître–Robertson–Walker (FLRW) solutions, whose perturbations we studied. The approximate spatial isotropy of the perturbed solutions lied at the heart of the analysis of [50, 51, 53], and we therefore had to develop a new approach to handle the moderately spatially anisotropic solutions under study here. We now quickly highlight the main new contributions of the present work; in Section 1.5, we provide a more in depth overview of how they fit into our analytical framework.

- In [50, 51, 53], the *presence* and the precise structure of the matter model was used in several key places, leaving open the possibility that the blowup was essentially "caused" by the matter. In contrast, our present work shows that for suitable initial data (which exist for $D \ge 38$), stable curvature-blowup can occur in general relativity as an effect of pure gravity.
- Our previous works [50, 51, 53] relied on *approximate monotonicity identities*, which were L^2 -type integral identities in which the special structure of the matter models and the spatially isotropic nature of the FLRW background solutions were exploited to exhibit miraculous cancellations. The cancellations were such that dangerous singular error integrals with large coefficients were replaced, up to small error terms, with *coercive ones*. That is, the identities led to the availability of friction-type spacetime integrals that were used to control various error terms up to the singularity. The net effect was that we were able to prove that the very high spatial derivatives of the solution are not much more singular than the low-order derivatives; this was a fundamental ingredient in the analytic framework that we used to control error terms. In contrast, in the present article, we completely avoid relying on approximate monotonicity identities, which might not even exist for the kinds of solutions that we study here. This leads, at the high spatial derivative levels, to very singular energy estimates near the Big Bang, which our proof is able to accommodate; see Section 1.5 for an outline of the main ideas behind the estimates. For these reasons, our approach here is significantly more robust compared to [50, 51, 53] and could be used, for example,

to substantially enlarge the set of initial data for the Einstein-scalar field and Einsteinstiff fluid systems in three spatial dimensions that are guaranteed to lead to curvatureblowup. More precisely, it could be used to prove stable blowup for perturbations of generalized Kasner solutions (i.e., non-vacuum Kasner solutions) to these systems that exhibit moderate spatial anisotropy. We stress that it might not be possible to extend these stable blowup-results to Einstein-matter systems that feature **g**-timelike characteristics, such as the Euler-Einstein system under a general equation of state; in [50,51,53], the analysis relied on the fact that for the matter models studied, the characteristics of the system are exactly the null hypersurfaces of **g**, a feature that is tied to the following crucial structural property: the absence of time-derivative-involving error-terms in various equations. Readers can consult [50] for further discussion on this point.

1.3. Kasner solutions and a rough summary of the main theorem

As we have mentioned, in our main theorem, we consider initial data given on

$$\Sigma_1 := \mathbb{T}^D, \tag{1.5}$$

where *D* is the standard *D*-dimensional torus (i.e., $[0, 1]^D$ with the endpoints identified) and, relative to the coordinates that we use in proving our main results, Σ_1 will be identified with a spacelike hypersurface of constant time 1, i.e., $\Sigma_1 = \{1\} \times \mathbb{T}^D$. Our assumption on the topology of Σ_1 is for convenience and is not of fundamental importance; we expect that similar results hold for other spatial topologies, much in the same way that the blowup-results of [50, 51] in the case of \mathbb{T}^3 spatial topology were extended to the case of \mathbb{S}^3 spatial topology in [53] (see Section 1.4.4 for further discussion of these works). Our main theorem addresses the evolution of perturbations of the initial data (at time 1) of the *Kasner solutions* [32]

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{g}} := -dt \otimes dt + \widetilde{g}, \quad (t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{T}^{D},$$
(1.6)

where

$$\widetilde{g} := \sum_{i=1}^{D} t^{2q_i} dx^i \otimes dx^i, \qquad (1.7)$$

and the constants $q_i \in (-1, 1]$, known as the *Kasner exponents*, are constrained by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{D} q_i = 1, \tag{1.8a}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{D} q_i^2 = 1.$$
(1.8b)

In the rest of the paper, we will also use the notation

$$\widetilde{k} := -t^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{D} q_i \partial_i \otimes dx^i$$
(1.8c)

to denote the Kasner mixed second fundamental form (see definition (2.3)), i.e.,

$$\widetilde{k}^i{}_j = -\frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{g}^{-1})^{ia} \partial_t \widetilde{g}_{aj}$$

relative to the coordinates featured in (1.6)–(1.7). Aside from exceptional cases in which one of the q_i are equal to 1 and the rest are equal to 0, Kasner solutions have Big Bang singularities at {t = 0}, where their Kretschmann scalar $\operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\operatorname{Riem}^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ blows up like t^{-4} (see Lemma 10.1 for a proof of this fact). We now briefly summarize our main results. See Theorem 11.1 for the precise statements.

Theorem 1.8d (Rough summary of main results). *Kasner solutions whose exponents satisfy the inequality*

$$\max_{i=1,\dots,D} |q_i| < \frac{1}{6},\tag{1.8e}$$

which is possible when $D \ge 38$ (see Section 2.3), are nonlinearly stable solutions to the Einstein-vacuum equations (1.1) near their Big Bang singularities. More precisely, perturbations (belonging to a suitable high-order Sobolev space) of the Kasner initial data along $\Sigma_1 = \{t = 1\}$ launch a perturbed solution that also has a Big Bang singularity in the past of Σ_1 . In particular, relative to a set of CMC-transported spatial coordinates normalized by $k_a^a = -t^{-1}$, where k_j^i is the (mixed) second fundamental form of Σ_t , the perturbed solution's Kretschmann scalar blows up like Ct^{-4} . Hence, the past of Σ_1 in the maximal (classical) globally hyperbolic development of the data is foliated by a family of spacelike CMC hypersurfaces Σ_t . Furthermore, every past-directed causal geodesic that emanates from Σ_1 crashes into the singular hypersurface Σ_0 in finite affine parameter time. That is, the perturbed solutions are geodesically incomplete to the past, and the incompleteness coincides with curvature-blowup.

Remark 1.9 (Additional information about the solution). Theorems 1.8d and 11.1 reveal only the most fundamental aspects of the singularity formation. It is possible to derive substantial additional information about the solution using the estimates that we prove in this paper. For example, one could show that various time-rescaled variables, such as the time-rescaled second fundamental form components $tk^i_j(t, x)$, converge to regular functions of x as $t \downarrow 0$, which is a manifestation of the AVTD behavior mentioned above. For brevity, we have chosen to neither state nor prove such additional results in this article since, thanks to the a priori estimates yielded by Proposition 9.3, their statements and proofs are similar to the ones given in [51, Theorem 2].

Remark 1.10 (On the bound of 1/6). The value of 1/6 on the right-hand side of (1.8e) is possibly not optimal. This bound for q emerges from considering the strength of various error terms; see Section 1.5 for further discussion on this point.

1.4. Previous breakdown results for Einstein's equations

The study of the breakdown of solutions in general relativity was ignited by the classic Hawking–Penrose "singularity" theorems (see, e.g., [28, 40], and the discussion in [29]),

which show that for appropriate matter models and spatial topologies, a compellingly large set of initial conditions (with non-empty interior relative to a suitable function space topology) leads to geodesically incomplete solutions. In particular, Hawking's theorem (see [59, Theorem 9.5.1]) guarantees that under assumptions satisfied by the initial data featured in our main theorem, all past-directed timelike geodesics are incomplete. Although these theorems are robust with respect to the kinds of initial data and matter models to which they apply, they are "soft" in that they do not reveal the nature of the incompleteness, leaving open the possibilities that (i) it is tied the blowup of some invariant quantity, such as a spacetime curvature scalar, or (ii) it is due to some other more sinister phenomenon, such as the formation of a Cauchy horizon (beyond which the solution cannot be classically extended in a unique sense due to lack of sufficient information). In the wake of the Hawking-Penrose theorems, many authors studied the nature of the breakdown, though, with only a few key exceptions, the works produced were heuristic, numerical, concerned initial data with symmetry, or yielded information only about "special" solutions (as opposed to an open set of solutions corresponding to regular initial data given along a spacelike Cauchy hypersurface). In the next several subsubsections, we review some of these works.

1.4.1. Heuristic and numerical work. The famous-but-controversial work of Belinskiĭ, Khalatnikov and Lifshitz [11] gave heuristic arguments suggesting that for the Einstein-vacuum equations in three spatial dimensions, the "generic" (in an unspecified sense) solution that breaks down should (i) be local near the breakdown, i.e., be well-modeled by a family of Bianchi IX⁷ ODE solutions⁸ that are parameterized by space; (ii) become highly oscillatory in time near the breakdown-points,⁹ like the Bianchi IX solutions do; and (iii) the breakdown-points should collectively form a spacelike singularity. We refer readers to the recent monograph [9] for a detailed, modern account of [11] and related works. Although the work [11] has stimulated a lot of research activity, as of the present, it is not clear to what extent the heuristic picture it painted holds true. The picture is almost certainly not true in a generic sense, for the recent breakthrough work [22] shows, assuming only a widely believed (but not yet proven) quantitative version of the stability of the Kerr black hole family of solutions to the Einstein-vacuum equations, that the Cauchy horizon inside the black hole is dynamically stable. Specifically, in [22], the

$$\mathbf{g} = -dt^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \ell_i^2(t) \omega^{(i)} \otimes \omega^{(i)},$$

where $\{\omega^{(i)}\}_{i=1,2,3}$ are one-forms on \mathbb{S}^3 verifying $d\omega^{(i)} = \frac{1}{2}[ijk]\omega^{(j)} \wedge \omega^{(k)}$, and [ijk] is the fully antisymmetric symbol normalized by [123] = 1.

⁹Here, by "breakdown-points," we roughly mean points on the boundary of the MGHD.

⁷Readers can consult [18] for an overview of the Bianchi IX symmetry class and other symmetry classes that we mention later.

⁸More precisely, the authors argued that they should be well-modeled by the so-called "Mixmaster" [36] solutions, which are of the form

authors showed that the metric is C^0 -extendible past the Cauchy horizon, which is a null hypersurface that is contained in the boundary of the MGHD. This result in particular contradicts the vision of spacelike singularities posited in [11]. In the opposite direction (i.e., in accordance with [11]), in three spatial dimensions, Ringström [45] confirmed the oscillatory picture¹⁰ of solutions near singularities for solutions with Bianchi IX symmetry to the Einstein-vacuum equations and to the Euler–Einstein equations under the equations of state $p = c_s^2 \rho$, where p is the pressure, ρ is the density, and the constant $0 < c_s < 1$ is the speed of sound. However, outside of the class of spatially homogeneous solutions, there are currently no known examples of Einstein-vacuum solutions that exhibit the oscillatory behavior suggested by [11].

There are also heuristic results concerning the existence of *non-oscillatory* solutions to various Einstein-matter systems that form a spacelike singularity. Specifically, in [10], Belinskiĭ and Khalatnikov noted that if one considers the Einstein-scalar field system in three spatial dimensions, then the heuristic arguments given in [11] concerning oscillations no longer seem plausible. They argued that instead, the generic incomplete solution should exhibit monotonic behavior near the breakdown-points, which should still collectively form a spacelike singularity. In [8], Barrow gave a similar heuristic argument for the Einstein-stiff fluid system. Most relevant for our work here is the work [25] that we mentioned at the beginning, in which, for $D \ge 10$ (i.e., at least eleven spacetime dimensions), the authors gave heuristic arguments, similar to the type given in [8, 10], suggesting that there is a *nontrivial regime* for the Einstein-vacuum equations in which solutions exhibit non-oscillatory spacelike singularity formation. This suggests that indeed, in high spatial dimensions, stable blowup-results of the type that we prove in our main theorem should hold. Note that there is a significant gap between the assumption D > 10 used in the heuristic arguments of [25] and the assumption D > 38 that we make in our main theorem. In Section 1.6, we will further discuss this gap.

We close this subsubsection by noting that the above works and others like them have stimulated a large number of numerical studies that have been designed to probe the validity of the heuristic predictions. We do not attempt to survey the vast literature here, but instead refer to the works [3, 12, 27, 43], which serve as useful starting points for exploring the subject of numerical analysis in the context of singularities in general relativity.

1.4.2. Construction of (but not the stability of) singular solutions. There are a variety of works showing the existence of, but not the *stability* of, singularity-containing solutions to various Einstein-matter systems that exhibit the same kind of AVTD behavior¹¹ near the singularity exhibited by the solutions in our main theorem. Typically, the constructions rely on deriving/solving a Fuchsian PDE system. Roughly speaking, a Fuchsian PDE is

¹⁰Ringström also studied the stiff fluid case $c_s = 1$ in Bianchi IX symmetry and proved monotonic-type singularity formation results similar to the ones we obtained in [50, 51, 53] and in the present work.

¹¹That is, time-derivative dominated behavior, as we described in Section 1.2.

a system of the following form, the key point being that the equation degenerates as $t \downarrow 0$ (where for convenience we restrict out attention to one spatial dimension):

$$tA^{0}(t, x, u)\partial_{t}u + tA^{1}(t, x, u)\partial_{x}u + B(t, x, u)u = f(t, x, u).$$
(1.11)

In (1.11), u is the array of unknowns, A^{α} and B are matrices (which are often assumed to be symmetric so that the symmetric hyperbolic framework for energy estimates can be invoked), and f is an array, all of which must satisfy a collection of technical assumptions. A typical Fuchsian analysis is based on splitting the solution as $u = u_0 + w$, where u_0 is the leading order part and w is an error term that one would like to show is small compared to u_0 as $t \downarrow 0$. The leading order part u_0 , which typically is singular as $t \downarrow 0$, must be guessed/solved for using an appropriate ansatz. Here we do not describe how this is typically accomplished; readers can consult [50] for a further description of Fuchsian analysis in the context of singular solutions in general relativity. Although the Fuchsian approach can sometimes be used to show the existence of singular solutions, it is inadequate for treating the true stability problem, i.e., the problem of posing initial data on a regular Cauchy hypersurface {t = const} with const > 0 and then solving the equations all the way down to the singular hypersurface {t = 0}.

We now describe some of the Fuchsian-type existence results in more detail. Notable among these is the work of Andersson and Rendall [5], in which they constructed a family of spatially analytic Big-Bang-containing solutions to the Einstein-scalar field and Einstein-stiff fluid systems in three spatial dimensions that exhibit approximately monotonic behavior near the singularities. The family of solutions that the authors constructed was large in the sense that its number of degrees of freedom coincides with the number of free functions in Einstein initial data for the standard Cauchy problem. However, the results of [5] do not show the *stability* of the blowup under Sobolev-class perturbations of initial data given along a spacelike hypersurface near the expected singularity. Another notable work in the spirit of [5] is [24], in which the authors proved similar results for various Einstein-matter systems in various spatial dimensions, including for the Einsteinvacuum equations in ten or more spatial dimensions (i.e., $D \ge 10$ in the notation of the present article). Note that the Einstein-vacuum result with $D \ge 10$ supports the heuristic work [25] mentioned in the previous subsubsection.

There are many additional works that yield the construction of (but not the stability of) singularity-containing solutions to select Einstein-matter systems. We do not attempt to exhaustively survey the literature here, but we mention the following ones, which concern various symmetry-reduced equations: [1, 6, 13, 15, 30, 33, 41, 54].

There are also results in which the authors constructed singular solutions by essentially prescribing "singular data" on the singular hypersurface itself and then solving to the future; see, for example, [7, 20, 37, 38, 55–57]. One drawback of this approach is that there are fewer degrees of freedom in the singular data compared to the initial data corresponding to a standard Cauchy problem on a regular spacelike hypersurface. Thus, generic solutions cannot be constructed in this fashion; this is explained in more detail in [44, Section 6.1].

We close this subsubsection by mentioning that the Fuchsian techniques behind the above results have applications outside of general relativity. There are techniques for con-

structing solutions to large classes of hyperbolic Fuchsian PDEs; see, for example, [2]. Readers can consult Rendall's work [42] for a more detailed comparison of many of the results described above as well as application of the Fuchsian framework to prove the existence of singular solutions to the Einstein-vacuum equations with Gowdy symmetry.

1.4.3. Constructive stable blowup-results under symmetry assumptions. There are a variety of works on symmetry-reduced Einstein-matter systems in which the authors gave a constructive proof of *stable* singularity formation. In the spatially homogeneous case, in which the equations reduce to a system of ODEs, there are many results, including the constructive work of Ringström [45] mentioned earlier. We do not attempt to survey the literature here; instead we direct readers to [44, 58] for an overview of ODE-blowup for solutions to Einstein's equations.

There are also constructive proofs of stable singularity formation for various symmetry-reduced Einstein-matter systems in which the equations reduce to a 1 + 1-dimensional system of PDEs; see, e.g., [19, 31, 46, 48]. Chief among these are Christodoulou's remarkable works [16, 17] on the Einstein-scalar field system in three spatial dimensions in spherical symmetry for 1- or 2-ended asymptotically flat data. In those works, he showed that the maximal globally hyperbolic future developments of generic data are future-inextendible as time-oriented Lorentzian manifolds with a C^0 metric; i.e., the breakdown is severe, at the level of the metric itself. See also the recent works [34, 35] on the spherically symmetric Einstein-Maxwell-(real) scalar field system with asymptotically flat 2-ended initial data, in which the authors proved that the maximal globally hyperbolic future developments of generic data are future-inextendible as time-oriented Lorentzian manifolds with a C^2 metric. This is an especially intriguing result in view of the fact that Dafermos and Rodnianski [21, 23] showed that the statement is *false* for this system if one replaces C^2 with C^0 , i.e., the maximal globally hyperbolic future development can sometimes be extended as a time-oriented Lorentzian manifold with a C^0 metric.

1.4.4. Constructive stable blowup-results without symmetry assumptions. The only prior works exhibiting stable spacelike singularity formation for solutions to Einstein's equations without symmetry assumptions are [51, 53], which are closely related to the present work. In [51, 53], we showed that a curvature singularity develops along a spacelike hypersurface for open sets of solutions to two Einstein-matter systems: the Einstein-scalar field system and the Einstein-stiff fluid system; see also our related work [50] concerning the linear analysis and Ringström's recent monograph [49], which concerns estimates for solutions to a large family of linear wave equations whose corresponding metrics model the behavior that can occur in solutions to Einstein's equations near cosmological singularities.

Specifically, in [51], we showed that in three spatial dimensions with spatial topology \mathbb{T}^3 , the FLRW solution is nonlinearly stable in a neighborhood of its Big Bang singularity. In [53], we proved the same result in the case of \mathbb{S}^3 spatial topology, a key new feature being that the solutions are not approximately spatially flat in the \mathbb{S}^3 case (although they are nearly spatially homogeneous and isotropic). As we stressed earlier, the analytic framework of [50, 51, 53] was quite different from that of the present work, due to the availability of L^2 -based approximate monotonicity identities tied to the special structure of the matter models and the spatially isotropic nature of the FLRW background solutions.

1.5. An overview of the proof of the main theorem

In this subsection, we outline the ideas behind the proof of our main results, i.e., Theorem 11.1. As in our prior works [50, 51, 53], we analyze solutions relative CMC-transported spatial coordinates, in which the spacetime metric is decomposed into the lapse n and a Riemannian metric g on the constant time hypersurfaces Σ_t as follows:

$$\mathbf{g} = -n^2 dt \otimes dt + g_{ab} dx^a \otimes dx^b. \tag{1.12}$$

In such coordinates, the Einstein-vacuum evolution problem consists of the Hamiltonian and momentum constraint equations, hyperbolic evolution equations for the first fundamental form g of Σ_t and the second fundamental form k of Σ_t , and an elliptic PDE for n along Σ_t , supplemented by initial data for g and k given along Σ_1 that satisfy the constraints; see Proposition 2.10 for the details. Here we only note that the mixed second fundamental form k^i_j verifies $\partial_t g_{ij} = -2ng_{ia}k^a_j$ and that we normalize t so that $k^a_a = -t^{-1}$, i.e., Σ_t is a hypersurface of constant mean curvature $-D^{-1}t^{-1}$.

The main part of the proof is showing that the solution (g, k, n) exists classically for $(t, x) \in (0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$, i.e., long enough to form a curvature singularity. The proofs that the Kretschmann scalar blows up as $t \downarrow 0$ and that the spacetime is geodesically incomplete follow as straightforward consequences of estimates that we use in proving existence on $(0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$; we refer readers to Section 10 for details on the nature of the breakdown, which we will not discuss here.

The main step in proving that the solution exists classically for $(t, x) \in (0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$ is to obtain suitable a priori estimates showing that various solution norms along Σ_t do not blow up until t = 0. For this reason, in our discussion here, we describe only the a priori estimates. At the heart of the proof lies the following task, whose importance we describe below:

Showing that for perturbed solutions, the *t*-rescaled type $\binom{1}{1}$ spatial Ricci components $t \operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{j}$ are, at each fixed spatial point $x \in \mathbb{T}^{D}$, *integrable in time* over $t \in (0, 1]$. Here and throughout, Ric denotes the Ricci curvature of g.

Remark 1.13 (On the significance of working with the type $\binom{1}{1}$ spatial Ricci tensor). One might wonder why we work with the spatial Ricci tensor in type $\binom{1}{1}$ form, i.e., as Ric^{*i*}_{*j*}, instead of working with it in type $\binom{0}{2}$ form. The reason is that our work crucially relies on working with the evolution equation for the type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensorfield tk^i_j , which features a source term proportional to $t \operatorname{Ric}^i_j$; see equation (6.5). One might now wonder what the advantage is of working with tk^i_j instead of tk_{ij} . The answer is that the evolution equation (6.5) for tk^i_j does not feature any Riccati-type term that is proportional to $k \cdot k$, while an evolution equation of type $\partial_t(tk_{ij}) = \cdots$ would feature such a Riccati term. The absence of Riccati-type terms in the evolution equation for tk^i_j is quite helpful for

proving the boundedness of tk^i_j as $t \downarrow 0$, which as we describe below, is central for our results. See also Remark 2.6.

The task of proving that $t \operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{j}(t, x)$ is integrable in time over (0, 1] is essentially a quantified version of the following idea, which has its origins in the heuristic works discussed in Section 1.4.1:

For near-Kasner initial data, we can prove stable blowup in regimes where we can prove that time-derivative terms dominate spatial derivative terms in the equations, i.e., when we can prove that the AVTD behavior described in Section 1.2 occurs.

In practice, to prove the time-integrability of $t \operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{j}$ (and the many other estimates that we need to close the proof), we rely on a bootstrap argument involving various norms that capture the following behavior: the solution's high-level derivatives are allowed to be substantially more singular than its low-level derivatives. Here we will not describe the logical flow of our bootstrap argument in detail, but rather only describe how the various estimates fit together consistently. Moreover, we will not focus on the "smallness assumptions" (i.e., near-Kasner assumptions) on the initial data that we need in our detailed proof, but rather only on the main feature of the analysis: the various powers of t that arise; in this subsection, we will simply denote all quantities that can be estimated in terms of the near-Kasner initial data by "Data". We stress already that our proof relies on commuting the evolution equations with up to N spatial derivatives, where N has to be chosen sufficiently large in a manner that we explain below.

We now recall that we are studying perturbations of a Kasner solution (1.6) whose exponents satisfy (1.8e) (see Section 2.3 for a proof that such Kasner solutions exist when $D \ge 38$). We also recall that for the Kasner solution $(\tilde{g}, \tilde{k}, \tilde{n})$, we have $\tilde{n} \equiv 1$, while \tilde{g} and \tilde{k} are respectively given by (1.7) and (1.8c). Note also that the Kasner solution is spatially flat and thus the Ricci tensor of \tilde{g} vanishes. For the perturbed solution, to obtain the desired time integrability of the components $t \operatorname{Ric}^{i}{}_{j}$ described in the previous paragraph, it clearly suffices to prove that

$$|\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{j}| \lesssim t^{-p}$$
 for some constant $p < 2$. (1.14)

We stress that (1.14) is essentially the same as the heuristic estimates featured in the works [8,10,25], and that the estimate was verified by the solutions that we studied in [50,51,53]. Before describing how we prove (1.14), we first outline the two main consequences that it affords:

(1) $n - 1 \rightarrow 0$ as $t \downarrow 0$.

(2) The components tk_i^i remain bounded as $t \downarrow 0$.

The proof of (1) follows from a simple application of the maximum principle to the elliptic PDE

$$t^2 g^{ab} \nabla_a \nabla_b n = (n-1) + t^2 n \mathbf{R},$$

where $R = Ric_a^a$ is the scalar curvature of g; see the proof of (5.2) for the details. The proof of (2) essentially follows from freezing the spatial point and integrating the follow-

ing evolution equation (see equation (6.5)) from time t to time 1: $\partial_t (tk_j^i) = t \operatorname{Ric}_j^i + \cdots$, and from using a few additional estimates that allow one to show that, like $t \operatorname{Ric}_j^i$, the error terms denoted by \cdots are integrable over $t \in (0, 1]$; see the proof of Proposition 6.1 for the details.

We now return to the crucial issue of proving that $|\text{Ric}_{j}^{i}| \leq t^{-p}$ for some constant p < 2, a bound that is tied to all aspects of the proof. To achieve this, we first, in view of (1.8e), fix a constant q such that

$$\max_{i=1,...,D} |q_i| < q < \frac{1}{6}.$$

To control $\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{i}$, we rely on the following estimates, whose proof we will describe below:

$$\max_{i,j=1,\dots,D} |g_{ij}| \lesssim t^{-2q}, \quad \max_{i,j=1,\dots,D} |g^{ij}| \lesssim t^{-2q}.$$
(1.15)

Note that the bounds (1.15) represent an absolute worst-case scenario, in which all components of g and g^{-1} are allowed to be slightly more singular than the most singular component of the background Kasner spatial metric and its inverse. As will become clear, the bounds (1.15) are the most fundamental ones in our analysis. One might think of (1.15) as allowing for the "complete mixing" of the Kasner exponents in the perturbed solutions; this is the most glaring spot in the proof that has potential for improvements in future studies. To control $\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{i}$, we first express it in terms of the Christoffel symbols of the transported spatial coordinates (see (2.15b) for the precise expression). For the solutions under study, the most singular term in the component $\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{j}$ is not a top-order term, but rather lower-order terms (i.e., the last two products on the right-hand side of (2.15b)) that have the following schematic form: $g^{-3}(\partial g)^2$, where ∂ denotes the spatial gradient with respect to the transported spatial coordinates. An interpolation argument, which heavily relies on (1.15) and which we explain below, yields that for large N (where we again stress that N is the maximum number of times that we commute the equations with spatial derivatives), the low-level spatial derivatives of the components of g, including ∂g , are only slightly more singular than the components of g itself. Thus, in view of (1.15), we see that $g^{-3}(\partial g)^2$ is only slightly more singular than $(t^{-2q})^5 = t^{-10q}$. Since q < 1/6, we conclude that the product $g^{-3}(\partial g)^2$ is less singular than t^{-2} , consistent with the desired bound (1.14).

Remark 1.16. Since $g^{-3}(\partial g)^2$ is fifth-order in $(g, \partial g)$, the discussion above suggests that the proof should close assuming only q < 1/5. However, in the top-order energy estimates, we encounter some below-top-order error terms that seem to prevent the proof from closing unless we assume q < 1/6; as we further describe below, we encounter such error terms, for example, in the proof of (7.21b).

Having outlined how to obtain the desired bound for $\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{j}$, we can, as we described above, show that as $t \downarrow 0, n-1 \rightarrow 0$ and tk^{i}_{j} remains bounded. Then, given these bounds for *n* and *k*, we can integrate the evolution equations

$$\partial_t g_{ij} = -2ng_{ia}k^a_{\ j},$$

 $\partial_t g^{ij} = 2ng^{ia}k^a_{\ a}$

and use a near-Kasner assumption on the initial data to obtain, through standard arguments, the desired estimates (1.15) (see Proposition 6.1 and its proof for the precise statements).

We now return to the issue of the interpolation argument mentioned above, which we used to show, for example, that ∂g is only slightly more singular than g. To appreciate the role of interpolation, it is essential to already know that the best energy estimates we are able to obtain allow for the following rather singular behavior:

The top-order derivatives of g can be as large (in L^2) as Data $\times t^{-(A+1)}$, where

A > 0 is a large universal constant, independent of the maximum number of times

(i.e., N) that we commute the equations with spatial derivatives.

That is, under appropriate bootstrap assumptions, we can prove only that¹²

$$t^{A+1} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \text{Data.}$$
(1.17)

Then standard Sobolev interpolation (see Lemma 4.5) yields the following bound for the components of ∂g :

$$\|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1-(1+\lfloor D/2 \rfloor)/(N+1)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}^{(1+\lfloor D/2 \rfloor)/(N+1)} + \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
 (1.18)

From (1.18), we see that even if the top-order homogeneous norm $\|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^N(\Sigma_t)}$ is as singular as Data $\times t^{-(A+1)}$, as long as we take *N* to be sufficiently large (relative to *A* and *D*), the singular nature of $\|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ will not be much worse than that of $\|g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, i.e., no worse than $t^{-(2q+\alpha)}$, where α is small; see the beginning of Section 4.4 for further discussion of this issue.

It remains for us to discuss the top-order energy estimates for g and k. In reality, these must be complemented with top-order elliptic estimates for n, but we will ignore this (relatively standard) issue in this subsection in order to condense our summary of the proof. Let \vec{I} be a top-order spatial derivative multi-index, i.e., $|\vec{I}| = N$. Using the evolution equations and integration by parts, and using appropriate bootstrap assumptions to control error terms, we are able to derive an estimate of the following form, valid for $t \in (0, 1]$ (see Proposition 7.1 for the details and Section 3.3 for the definition of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\pi}(\Sigma_I)}$):

$$\begin{aligned} \|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \\ &\leq \text{Data} - \{2A - C_{*}\}\int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \Big\{\|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}\partial g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} \Big\} \, ds \\ &+ \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(1.19)

where \cdots denotes error terms that, while they require some care to handle, are less singular. We stress the following points.

 $^{^{12}}$ The bound (1.17) is slightly inaccurate in that it does not feature the precise norm that we use in proving the main theorem; see Section 3.3 for the precise definitions of the norms.

- The constant C_* on the right-hand side of (1.19) is *universal*, i.e., independent of N and A. Roughly, C_* is generated by the coefficients of the most singular *linear* terms in the evolution equations and the elliptic PDE for n; the most singular linear terms involve the top-order derivatives of g, k, and n, and because the terms are linear, their coefficient does not change when the term is differentiated (i.e., when N increases), nor does it depend on A. In our prior works [50, 51, 53], we were able to show that C_* is small or vanishing, thanks to the approximate monotonicity¹³ identities that we mentioned earlier in the paper. For the solutions under study here, C_* can be large but fixed (and we do not bother to carefully track the precise value of C_*).
- We inserted the time weights t^{A+1} "by hand" into the energies in equation (1.19). We note that when proving (1.19) (roughly, by taking the time derivative of the left-hand side and integrating by parts), one encounters terms in which ∂_t falls on the weights. Roughly, this leads to the integrals preceded by the factor of -2A on the right-hand side of (1.19) (note that $t \in (0, 1]$, which explains why the factors -2A are on the right-hand side).

The key point is that if we choose A to be sufficiently large, then the factor $-\{2A - C_*\}$ on the right-hand side of (1.19) is negative, and the corresponding integral has an overall "friction" sign. In particular, it can be discarded, leaving only the less singular error terms " \cdots " on the right-hand side of (1.19). A careful analysis of the error integrals " \cdots " allows one to conclude, via Gronwall's inequality, the top-order a priori energy estimate

$$\left\|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\right\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}^2 + \frac{1}{4}\left\|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\right\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}^2 \lesssim \text{Data}$$

as desired.

Although the above discussion summarizes the main ideas, in our detailed proof, we encounter several hurdles that we overcome using additional ideas. While conceptually simple, these ideas are somewhat technically involved. We close this subsection by highlighting some of the features of this analysis.

(1). To control error terms, we rely on a variety of norms. In the next point below, we will shed some light on how we use the different kinds of norms; see Sections 3.2 and 3.3 for the precise definitions. For example, when bounding Σ_t -tangent tensors, we rely on pointwise norms $|\cdot|_{\text{Frame}}$ that measure the size of components relative to the transported spatial coordinate frame as well as the more geometric norm $|\cdot|_g$, which measures the size of tensors using the dynamic spatial metric g. Similarly, our analysis relies on Sobolev norms for the frame components, such as $\|\cdot\|_{H^N_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$, as well as more geometric Sobolev norms $\|\cdot\|_{H^p_g}(\Sigma_t)$.

¹³One might say that inequality (1.19) also signifies a form of "approximate monotonicity." The difference between (1.19) and the "approximate monotonicity identities" from [50, 51, 53] is that these works relied on the "natural" time weights in which A = 0, whereas in the present paper, we must choose A to be sufficiently large in order to "force the approximate monotonicity to reveal itself."

(2). Although the interpolation estimates described above are sufficient for controlling various error terms at the low derivative levels, interpolation is not quite sufficient, in itself, for controlling some of the error terms in the high-order energy estimates. For example, our proof of the error term estimate (7.21b) relies not only on interpolation, but also on controlling the term in the norm on the left-hand side of (7.21b) (which we decompose in (7.5d) by exploiting the structure of Einstein's equations in our gauge to derive *improved estimates* for the below-top-order derivatives of the solution via derivativelosing transport equation estimates. In Remark 1.20, we explain these issues in detail in the context of proving estimate (7.21b). Here we will provide a schematic overview of these issues. First, the top-order energy estimates can be directly obtained only in terms of geometric norms such as $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\alpha}(\Sigma_{t})}$, since the basic energy identities involve these kinds of norms. In contrast, for $M \leq N$, Sobolev interpolation estimates involving the "background differential operators" ∂_i are most naturally stated and derived in terms of the less geometric norms $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{\text{Fermin}}(\Sigma_{t})}$. Therefore, to close our estimates, we must compare the geometric norms with the frame-based norms. For tensorfields, the discrepancy between the norms $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{e}(\Sigma_{t})}$ is factors of g and g^{-1} (where the number of factors depends on the order of the tensorfield inside the norms), and by (1.15), the two norms can differ in strength by (singular) powers of t^{-q} ; in some cases, these powers of t^{-q} are strong enough so that in the energy estimates, certain below-top-order error terms seem, at first glance, to be more singular than the main top-order terms. If this were the case, then our bootstrap argument would not close. Fortunately, this is not the case, but to prove this, we use an argument that involves deriving energy estimates not only at the very highest level, but also at down-to-two derivatives below top. In deriving these below-top-order energy estimates, we use arguments that lose one derivative, by treating the evolution equations like transport equations along the integral curves of ∂_t with derivative-losing source terms. These transport-type estimates lead to better below-toporder estimates compared to the ones that pure interpolation would afford, and we stress that this approach is viable only because in the solution regime under study, in our gauge, the source terms in the transport equations exhibit a favorable size (in various norms) with respect to powers of t. To implement this procedure in a consistent fashion, we rely on a hierarchy of energies that features different t weights at different orders and that involves both geometric norms $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{\sigma}(\Sigma_{t})}$ and coordinate frame norms $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$. See Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 for the precise definitions of the t-weighted norms that use to control the solution; in our main theorem, we prove that the norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 are uniformly bounded up to the singularity.

(3). In carrying out our bootstrap argument, we find it convenient to derive, as a preliminary step, estimates showing that the lapse n can be controlled in terms of g and k. This is the content of Section 5. We have downplayed these estimates in this subsection since they are based on deriving standard estimates for elliptic equations. One feature worth noting is that for most lapse estimates, in particular the estimates at the lower-order derivative levels, we rely on the elliptic PDE

$$\left\{g^{ab}\nabla_a\nabla_b - (t^{-2} + \mathbf{R})\right\}(n-1) = \mathbf{R}.$$

This is a "good" equation for n - 1 in the sense that it involves source terms that depend only on spatial derivatives of g, which are less singular than time derivatives of g (as represented by k). However, to obtain the top-order lapse estimates, we do not use the elliptic lapse PDE in the form stated above. Instead, we first use the Hamiltonian constraint (2.11a) to algebraically replace R with terms that depend on k; see equation (5.11) and its proof. This algebraic replacement leads to error terms that can be controlled within the scope of our bootstrap approach, both from the point of view of regularity and from the point of view of the structure of the singular error terms that our framework can accommodate.

Remark 1.20 (We need below-top-order estimates that are better than interpolation). For concreteness, here we explain why our proof of (7.21b) cannot be carried out using only interpolation. That is, we will explain why we need more than just interpolation, the highest-order energies, and the lowest-order L^{∞} -type bootstrap assumptions to bound the terms in the sum (7.5d) by \leq RHS (7.21b). This remark would perhaps more naturally fit in with the analysis in Section 7, but we have placed it here so that the interested reader can obtain further preliminary insights on why we need to supplement our top-order energy norms with norms that control the solution down to two derivatives below top. We refer readers to Section 3 for the definitions of the norms relevant for the discussion here. Using only the aforementioned ingredients, which are sufficient for allowing us to use the comparison estimate (4.4) and the product estimate (4.10), and the ideas used in the proof of the interpolation results provided by Lemma 4.11, we can deduce that the terms in the sum (7.5d) verify the following bound:

$$t^{A+1} \| (\partial_{\vec{I}_1} g^{-1}) (\partial_{\vec{I}_2} g^{-1}) (\partial_{\vec{I}_3} g) \partial_{\vec{I}_4} k \|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \| \partial g \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \| k \|_{\dot{H}^N_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} + \cdots$$

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-8q-\alpha} \| k \|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)} + \cdots,$$

where $\alpha > 0$ goes to 0 as $N \to \infty$. The exponent portion -8q comes from the fact that each factor of g or g^{-1} contributes a factor of t^{-2q} (coming from our bootstrap assumptions), which yields three factors of t^{-2q} , while bounding $||k||_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N}(\Sigma_t)}$ in terms of $||k||_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N}(\Sigma_t)}$ produces yet another factor of t^{-2q} , coming from equation (4.4) and the fact that k is type $\binom{1}{1}$. The factor $t^{-\alpha}$ comes from interpolation and is not important for the present discussion. In view of definition (3.17a), we see that the terms under consideration are $\lesssim t^{-8q-\alpha} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \cdots$. Since q can be as large as 1/6, $t^{-8q-\alpha}$ can be more singular than t^{-1} , which is singular enough to destroy the viability of our proof and in any case is not good enough to yield our estimate (7.21b). Thus, our proof of (7.21b) relies on the additional below-top-order norms mentioned above.

1.6. Further comparisons with two related works and open questions

In this subsection, we compare and contrast the reasons behind the assumed minimum values of D in the present work and in the aforementioned works [24, 25]. We start by recalling that, as we described in Section 1.4.1, the work [25] provided heuristic evidence

for the existence of a large family of monotonic spacelike singularity-forming Einsteinvacuum solutions whenever $D \ge 10$, and that such solution families were constructed in [24] (though stability in the sense of the present article was not proved there). There is a substantial gap between the assumption $D \ge 10$ and the assumption $D \ge 38$ of the present article. In the remainder of this subsection, we provide an overview of how the assumption $D \ge 10$ is used in [24, 25], and shed some light on how one might approach the problem of extending the results of the present article to apply to a larger range of Dvalues. Actually, we will focus on the heuristic work [25], which allows for a simplified presentation of the main ideas.

In [24, 25] and the present work, a crucial step is justifying that, in some sense, the spatial derivative terms in the Einstein-vacuum equations are negligible compared to the time derivative terms near the singularity. For example, in the present work (see in particular Section 1.5), this step is embodied by estimate (1.14), that is, our proof that the components of the Ricci tensor of g obey the following bound: $|\text{Ric}^{i}| \leq t^{-p}$ for some constant p < 2. Similarly, the heuristic arguments given in [25] were designed exactly to vield a bound of this type. From this perspective, a primary analytic difference between the present work and the works [24, 25] is that the latter works precisely accounted for, in a tensorial fashion, partial cancellations of singular powers of t that can occur in the products featured in the coordinate expression of the Ricci tensor $\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{i}$ of g (i.e., the products on the right-hand side of (2.15b)), at least for metrics that can be interpreted as having "spatially dependent Kasner exponents" (see below for more on this point). In contrast, in the present article, we allow for the possibility that all components of g and g^{-1} are as singular as t^{-2q} (see, for example, the discussion surrounding (1.15)), and we have therefore ignored the possibility of exploiting such cancellations; this is apparent from the proof outline that we gave in Section 1.5. We now further explain the connection between the work [25] and the notion of a spatial metric having "spatially dependent Kasner exponents."

The starting point of [25] is the hope that there are singular solutions to the Einsteinvacuum equations that are somehow well-described by a spacetime metric having "spatially dependent Kasner exponents", that is, a metric of the following form, defined for¹⁴ $(t, x) \in (0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$:

$$\mathbf{g} = -dt^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{D} t^{2q_i(x)} \omega^{(i)}(x) \otimes \omega^{(i)}(x), \qquad (1.21)$$

where $\{\omega^{(i)}(x)\}_{i=1,...,D}$ are a linearly independent set of time-independent one-forms on \mathbb{T}^{D} (in particular, $\omega^{(i)}(x) = \omega_{a}^{(i)}(x)dx^{a}$ relative to local coordinates), $\{q_{i}(x)\}_{i=1,...,D}$ are "x-dependent" Kasner exponents, subject to the following "spatially dependent Kasner constraints" (i.e., x-dependent analogs of (1.8a)–(1.8b)):

$$\sum_{i=1}^{D} q_i(x) = 1 = \sum_{i=1}^{D} (q_i(x))^2.$$
(1.22)

¹⁴As in our main results, here we have assumed the spatial topology \mathbb{T}^{D} ; in [25], the spatial topology was not specified.

Given the above assumptions, the authors of [25] then observe (through straightforward but tedious computations) that for metrics of the form (1.21), the Ricci tensor components of the spatial metric verify

$$\lim_{t \downarrow 0} |t^2 \operatorname{Ric}^i{}_j(t, x)| = 0 \quad (i, j = 1, \dots, D),$$
(1.23)

as long as the following system of inequalities holds:

$$2q_i(x) + \sum_{l \neq i, j, k} q_l(x) > 0 \quad \text{whenever } i \neq j, i \neq k, \text{ and } j \neq k.$$
(1.24)

Note that (1.23) is essentially equivalent to estimate (1.14) that we rigorously obtain in proving our main results; as we described in Section 1.5, (1.14) is a quantified version of the idea that spatial derivative terms should be negligible. The main conclusions of [25] can be summarized as follows.

In view of (1.22), it is not possible to simultaneously satisfy all inequalities (1.24) when $D \le 9$. However, there *does* exist an open set of $\{q_i\}_{i=1,...,D}$ satisfying (1.22) and (1.24) whenever $D \ge 10$.

We now stress that the metric \mathbf{g} featured in equation (1.21) does not generally solve the Einstein-vacuum equations. However, it does solve a truncated version of the equations in which all spatial derivative terms, including Ricⁱ, are discarded; in the mathematical general relativity literature, the truncated system is often referred to as the Velocity Term Dominated (VTD) system. For this reason, condition (1.23), which is supposed to capture the negligibility of the spatial derivative terms, suggests that one can think of the VTD solution g as "asymptotically solving" the Einstein-vacuum equations of Proposition 2.10 as $t \downarrow 0$. That is, for metrics of the form (1.21), the k-involving product in equation (2.12c) (specifically $t^{-1}k_{i}^{i}$) is of size t^{-2} while, by (1.23), the term Ric_iⁱ in equation (2.12c) is less singular. Put differently, the metrics **g** featured in (1.21) solve a PDE system obtained from the Einstein equations by throwing away terms that can be shown to be small in the sense of (1.23). The work [25] can therefore be viewed as providing a kind of "consistency argument" for metrics (1.21) that satisfy (1.24), i.e., an argument based on ignoring terms in the evolution equations that, for the *non-solution* **g**, are small compared to the main terms. For this perspective, it is reasonable to speculate that, for metrics **g** of the form (1.21) that satisfy (1.23), there might be true Einstein-vacuum solutions lying "close" to g. We clarify that this speculation was rigorously shown to be true in [24] whenever $D \ge 10$, though the results of [24] did not yield the dynamic stability of the singularity and relied on the assumption that the tensorfields $q_i(x)$ and $\omega^{(i)}(x)$ appearing in (1.21) are analytic.

We now explain some further connections between the heuristic picture painted in [25] and the results of the present article. As we described in Section 1.5, estimate (1.14) (which is almost the same as condition (1.23) from [25]) is a main ingredient needed to show that at each fixed x, $\partial_t(tk^i_j(t, x))$ is integrable over the time interval (0, 1] (we refer the readers to Remark 1.13 for a discussion on why we work with k in type $\binom{1}{1}$ form). From this integrability condition, one can easily show not only that $tk^i_j(t, x)$ remains

bounded as $t \downarrow 0$ (which is what we prove in our main theorem), but also that the following stronger result holds: $tk^i_j(t, x)$ converges uniformly to a function $K^i_j(x)$ as $t \downarrow 0$; see [50, 51] for proofs of these kinds of convergent results in a related context, and see also Remark 1.9. Combining these kinds of convergence estimates with related ones (in particular for the lapse *n*), one could rigorously prove that for the Einstein-vacuum solutions **g** under study in this article, **g** is asymptotic to a metric that behaves like the family of metrics that satisfy (1.21)–(1.24); again, readers can consult [50,51] for proofs of these kinds of results in a related context.

The situation can be summarized as follows: the singular solutions that can be shown to be dynamically stable under our framework are asymptotic (as the singularity is approached) to a metric that is well-described by the family of metrics satisfying conditions (1.21)–(1.24). The following question is glaring: whether or not, under assumptions (1.22) and (1.23), the "VTD solutions" **g** defined by (1.21) are always the asymptotic end-state of a true singularity-forming solution of the Einstein-vacuum equations. As of present, not much is rigorously known about this issue. In fact, there are no results outside of symmetry for any Einstein-matter or Einstein-vacuum system that definitively show that the set of "asymptotic end-states near the Big Bang" is open with respect to a function space topology that is natural from the point of view of well-posedness theory (such as a topology induced by a Sobolev norm). A second question also stands out: whether or not it is possible to extend the stable blowup-results of the present article to apply to perturbations of all Kasner solutions (1.6) whose Kasner exponents $\{q_i\}_{i=1,\dots,D}$ satisfy (1.8a)-(1.8b) and (1.24), which in particular would extend our results to the cases D > 10. If such a result is in fact true, then its proof would almost certainly involve detecting the kinds of tensorial cancellations that the authors of [25] exploited to derive the bound (1.23), a feat that we did not attempt in the present work. It is likely that capturing these kinds of tensorial cancellations would involve substantial new ideas and techniques, going beyond our work here. This is a worthy avenue for future investigation, especially since it is intimately tied to the fundamental question of which terms in Einstein's equations are the ones driving the breakdown of solutions.

1.7. Paper outline

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows.

- In Section 1.8, we summarize the notation and conventions that we use in the rest of the article.
- In Section 2, we set up the ensuing analysis by providing the Einstein-vacuum equations in CMC-transported spatial coordinates and showing that Kasner solutions verifying our assumptions exist when $D \ge 38$.
- In Section 3, we define the norms that we use to control solutions and formulate the bootstrap assumptions that we use in our analysis.
- In Section 4, we provide some preliminary technical estimates, which are standard.
- In Section 5, we derive elliptic estimates showing that the lapse *n* can be controlled, in various norms, in terms of *g* and *k*.

- In Section 6, we derive preliminary estimates for g and k at the low derivative levels.
- In Section 7, we derive preliminary estimates for g and k at the top derivative levels, i.e., our main top-order energy estimates.
- In Section 8, we derive preliminary energy estimates for g and k at the near-top-order derivative levels; as we explained near the end of Section 1.5, for technical reasons, we need these estimates to close our bootstrap argument.
- In Section 9, we combine the results of Sections 5–8 to obtain the main technical result of the article: a priori estimates showing that appropriately defined solution norms can be uniformly controlled by the initial data, all the way up to the singularity.
- In Section 10, we derive some results that describe the breakdown as $t \downarrow 0$, e.g., the curvature blows up and past-directed timelike geodesics terminate with a finite length.
- In Section 11, we synthesize the results of the previous sections and give a relatively short proof of the main stable blowup theorem.

1.8. Notation and conventions

For the reader's convenience, in this subsection, we provide some notation and conventions that we use throughout the article. Some of the concepts referred to here are not defined until later.

1.8.1. Indices and their lowering and raising. Greek "spacetime" indices α, β, \ldots take on the values $0, 1, \ldots, D$, while Latin "spatial" indices a, b, \ldots take on the values $1, 2, \ldots, D$. Repeated indices are summed over (from 0 to D if they are Greek, and from 1 to D if they are Latin). We use the same conventions for primed indices such as a' as we do for their non-primed counterparts. Spacetime indices are lowered and raised with the Lorentzian metric $\mathbf{g}_{\alpha\beta}$ and its inverse $(\mathbf{g}^{-1})^{\alpha\beta}$. Spatial indices are lowered and raised with the Riemannian metric g_{ij} and its inverse g^{ij} .

1.8.2. Spacetime tensorfields and Σ_t -tangent tensorfields. We denote spacetime tensorfields $\mathbf{T}_{\nu_1 \cdots \nu_m}{}^{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_l}$ in bold font. We denote Σ_t -tangent tensorfields $T_{b_1 \cdots b_m}{}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}$ in non-bold font.

1.8.3. Coordinate systems and differential operators. We often work in a fixed standard local coordinate system (x^1, \ldots, x^D) on \mathbb{T}^D . The vectorfields $\partial_j := \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}$ are globally well-defined even though the coordinates themselves are not. Hence, in a slight abuse of notation, we use $\{\partial_1, \ldots, \partial_D\}$ to denote the globally defined vectorfield frame. We denote the corresponding basis-dual co-frame by $\{dx^1, \ldots, dx^D\}$. In CMC-transported spatial coordinates, the spatial coordinate functions are transported along the unit normal to Σ_t , thus producing a local coordinate system (x^0, x^1, \ldots, x^D) on manifolds-with-boundary of the form $(T, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^D$, and we often write t instead of x^0 . The corresponding vectorfield frame on $(T, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^D$ is $\{\partial_0, \partial_1, \ldots, \partial_D\}$, and the corresponding basis-dual co-frame is $\{dx^0, dx^1, \ldots, dx^D\}$. Relative to this frame, Kasner solutions are of the form (1.6)–(1.7). The symbol ∂_{μ} denotes the frame derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}$, and we often write ∂_t instead of ∂_0 and dt instead of dx^0 . Many of our equations and estimates are stated relative to the frame $\{\partial_{\mu}\}_{\mu=0,1,\dots,D}$ and basis-dual co-frame $\{dx^{\mu}\}_{\mu=0,1,\dots,D}$.

We use the notation ∂f to denote the *spatial coordinate* gradient of the scalar-valued function f relative to the coordinates described above, which we view to be a Σ_t -tangent one-form. That is, $(\partial f)_i := \partial_i f$. More generally, if ω is a type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with components $\omega_{b_1 \cdots b_m}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}$ relative to the frame described above, then $\partial \omega$ denotes the type $\binom{l}{m+1} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with components

$$(\partial \omega)_{b_1 \cdots b_{m+1}}^{a_1 \cdots a_l} := \partial_{b_1} \omega_{b_2 \cdots b_{m+1}}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}$$

relative to the same frame. Similarly, $\partial^2 \omega$ denotes the type $\binom{l}{m+2} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with components

$$(\partial^2 \omega)_{b_1 \cdots b_{m+2}} \overset{a_1 \cdots a_l}{:=} \partial_{b_1} \partial_{b_2} \omega_{b_3 \cdots b_{m+2}} \overset{a_1 \cdots a_l}{:}$$

If $\vec{I} = (n_1, n_2, \dots, n_D)$ is an array comprising D non-negative integers, then we define the *spatial* multi-indexed differential operator $\partial_{\vec{I}}$ by

$$\partial_{\vec{I}} := \partial_1^{n_1} \partial_2^{n_2} \cdots \partial_D^{n_D}$$

The notation $|\vec{I}| := n_1 + n_2 + \dots + n_D$ denotes the order of \vec{I} .

If ω is a type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with components $\omega_{b_1 \cdots b_m}{}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}$ relative to the frame described above, then $\partial_{\bar{I}} \omega$ denotes the type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with components

$$(\partial_{\vec{I}}\omega)_{b_1\cdots b_m}{}^{a_1\cdots a_l} := \partial_{\vec{I}}(\omega_{b_1\cdots b_m}{}^{a_1\cdots a_l}).$$

In particular, under this definition, the operators $\partial \vec{j}$ do not change the order of tensorfields; this is in contrast to the operators ∂ and ∂^2 introduced two paragraphs above.

Throughout, **D** denotes the Levi-Civita connection of **g**. We write

$$\mathbf{D}_{\nu}\mathbf{T}_{\nu_{1}\cdots\nu_{m}}{}^{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{l}} = \partial_{\nu}\mathbf{T}_{\nu_{1}\cdots\nu_{m}}{}^{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{l}} + \sum_{r=1}^{l}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{\nu\ \alpha}{}^{\mu_{r}}\mathbf{T}_{\nu_{1}\cdots\nu_{m}}{}^{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{r-1}\alpha\mu_{r+1}\cdots\mu_{l}}$$

$$-\sum_{s=1}^{m}\mathbf{\Gamma}_{\nu\ \nu_{s}}{}^{\alpha}\mathbf{T}_{\nu_{1}\cdots\nu_{s-1}\alpha\nu_{s+1}\cdots\nu_{m}}{}^{\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{l}}$$

$$(1.25)$$

to denote a component of the covariant derivative of a tensorfield **T** (with components $\mathbf{T}_{\nu_1 \cdots \nu_m}{}^{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_l}$) defined on the set $(T, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^D$. The Christoffel symbols of **g**, which we denote by $\mathbf{\Gamma}_{\mu \nu}^{\lambda}$, are defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\mu \nu}^{\lambda} := \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{g}^{-1})^{\lambda \sigma} \{ \partial_{\mu} \mathbf{g}_{\sigma \nu} + \partial_{\nu} \mathbf{g}_{\mu \sigma} - \partial_{\sigma} \mathbf{g}_{\mu \nu} \}.$$
(1.26)

We use similar notation to denote the covariant derivative of a Σ_t -tangent tensorfield T (with components $T_{b_1 \cdots b_n}{}^{a_1 \cdots a_m}$) with respect to the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of the Riemannian metric g, i.e., the first fundamental form of Σ_t . The Christoffel symbols of g, which we denote by $\Gamma_i^i_k$, are defined by

$$\Gamma_{jk}^{i} := \frac{1}{2} g^{ia} \{ \partial_j g_{ak} + \partial_k g_{ja} - \partial_a g_{jk} \}.$$
(1.27)

1.8.4. Integrals and basic norms. Throughout this subsection, f denotes a scalar function defined on the hypersurface $\Sigma_t = \{(s, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^D \mid s = t\}$. We define

$$\int_{\Sigma_t} f \, dx := \int_{\mathbb{T}^D} f(t, x^1, \dots, x^D) \, dx.$$
(1.28)

Above, the notation " $\int_{\mathbb{T}^D} f dx$ " denotes the integral of f over \mathbb{T}^D with respect to the measure corresponding to the volume form of the *standard Euclidean metric* E on \mathbb{T}^D , which has the components diag(1, 1, ..., 1) relative to the coordinate frame described in Section 1.8.3. Note that dx is not the canonical integration measure associated to the Riemannian metric g.

All of our Sobolev norms are built out of the (spatial) L^2 norms of scalar quantities (which may be the components of a tensorfield). We define the standard L^2 norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ as follows:

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} := \left(\int_{\Sigma_{t}} f^{2} dx\right)^{1/2}.$$
(1.29)

For integers $M \ge 0$, we define the standard H^M norm $\|\cdot\|_{H^M(\Sigma_t)}$ as follows:

$$\|f\|_{H^{M}(\Sigma_{t})} := \left(\sum_{|\vec{I}| \le M} \|\partial_{\vec{I}} f\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(1.30)

We also define the following standard homogeneous analog of (1.30):

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{M}(\Sigma_{l})} := \left(\sum_{|\vec{I}|=M} \|\partial_{\vec{I}}f\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{l})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(1.31)

Finally, we define the Lebesgue norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}$ of scalar functions f in the usual way:

$$\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{T}^D} |f(t, x)|.$$
(1.32)

In Sections 3.2 and 3.3, we will introduce additional norms for tensorfields, many of which are built out of the basic ones from this subsubsection.

1.8.5. Parameters.

- $A \ge 1$ denotes a "time-weight exponent parameter" that is featured in the high-order solution norms from Definition 3.16. To close our estimates, we will choose A to be large enough to overwhelm various universal constants C_* (see Section 1.8.6). This corresponds to our use of high-order energies featuring large powers of t, which leads to weak high-order energies near t = 0.
- 0 < q < 1/6 is a constant, fixed throughout the proof, that bounds the magnitude of the background Kasner exponents.
- σ > 0 is a small constant, fixed throughout the proof, that we use to simplify the proofs of various estimates that "have room in them."
- q and σ are constrained by (3.2).

- N denotes the maximum number of times that we commute the equations with spatial derivatives (e.g., k ∈ H^N(Σ_t) and g ∈ H^{N+1}(Σ_t)). To close our estimates, we will choose N to be sufficiently large in a (non-explicit) manner that depends on A, D, q, σ.
- $\delta > 0$ is a small (N, D)-dependent parameter that is allowed to vary from line to line and that is generated by the estimates of Lemma 4.11. We use the convention that a sum of two constants δ is another δ . The only important feature of δ that we exploit in the proof is the following: at fixed D, we have $\lim_{N\to\infty} \delta = 0$. In particular, if Ais also fixed, then $\lim_{N\to\infty} A\delta = 0$.
- ε is a small "bootstrap parameter" that, in our bootstrap argument, bounds the size of the solution norms; see (3.18). The smallness of ε needed to close the estimates is allowed to depend on the parameters N, A, D, q, and σ .

1.8.6. Constants.

- *C* denotes a positive constant that is free to vary from line to line. *C* can depend on *N*, *A*, *D*, *q*, and σ , but it can be chosen to be independent of all $\varepsilon > 0$ that are sufficiently small in the manner described in Section 1.8.5.
- C_* denotes a positive constant that is free to vary from line to line and that can depend on *D*. Like *C*, C_* can be chosen to be independent of all $\varepsilon > 0$ that are sufficiently small in the manner described in Section 1.8.5. However, unlike *C*, C_* can be chosen to be **independent** of *N* and *A*. The constant C_* can also be chosen to be independent of *q* and σ , but that is less important in the sense that we view *q* and σ to be fixed throughout the article; see Remark 3.3. For example, $1 + CN!\varepsilon \le C_*$ while N! = Cand $N!/\sigma = C$, where *C* and C_* are as above.
- We write $v \leq w$ to indicate that $v \leq Cw$, with C as above.
- We write $v = \mathcal{O}(w)$ to indicate that $|v| \le C |w|$, with C as above.

1.8.7. Schematic notation.

- We write $v = \prod_{r=1}^{R} v_r$ to indicate that the Σ_t -tangent tensorfield v is a tensor product, possibly involving contractions, of the Σ_t -tangent tensorfields v_r . We use this notation only when the precise details of the tensor product are not important for our analysis. We sometimes display the indices of v to indicate its order; for example, the expression $v_i^i = \prod_{r=1}^{R} v_r$ emphasizes that v is type $\binom{1}{1}$.
- We write v ≃ ∑_{r=1}^R v_r to indicate that the Σ_t-tangent tensorfield v is a linear combination of the Σ_t-tangent tensorfields v_r, where the coefficients in the linear combination are constants ±C, with C as in Section 1.8.6. As above, we sometimes display the indices of v to indicate its order. For example, v_{ijk} ≃ v₁ + v₂ means that v is type (⁰₃) and that v = ±C₁v₁ ± C₂v₂, where the C_i can depend on N, A, D, q, and σ.
- We write v ^{*} ≥ ∑_{r=1}^R v_r to indicate that the Σ_t-tangent tensorfield v is a linear combination of the Σ_t-tangent tensorfields v_r, where the coefficients in the linear combination are constants ±C_{*}, with C_{*} universal constants enjoying the properties described in Section 1.8.6. As above, we sometimes display the indices of v to indi-

2. Setting up the analysis

In this section, we start by providing the Einstein-vacuum equations in the gauge that we use to prove our main theorem. Next, we provide some standard expressions for the curvature tensors of the first fundamental form of Σ_t . Finally, we show that when $D \ge 38$, there exist Kasner solutions that satisfy the Kasner exponent assumptions in our main theorem.

2.1. The Einstein-vacuum equations in CMC-transported spatial coordinates

In this subsection, we recall the Einstein-vacuum equations in CMC-transported spatial coordinates gauge; this is the gauge that we use throughout the article.

2.1.1. Basic ingredients in the setup. In CMC-transported spatial coordinates, the spacetime metric is decomposed into the lapse n and a Riemannian metric g on the constant time hypersurfaces Σ_t (known as the first fundamental form of Σ_t) as follows:

$$\mathbf{g} = -n^2 dt \otimes dt + g_{ab} dx^a \otimes dx^b. \tag{2.1}$$

We use g^{ab} to denote the components of the inverse Riemannian metric g^{-1} . Above and throughout, *t* is a time function on the spacetime manifold \mathcal{M} that we will describe just below and $\{x^a\}_{a=1,...,D}$ are standard (locally defined) "spatial coordinates" on the constant-time hypersurfaces $\Sigma_t := \{(s, x) \in \mathcal{M} \mid s = t\}$, which are diffeomorphic to \mathbb{T}^D . We refer readers to Section 1.8.3 for further discussion of these coordinates and notation tied to them. In view of (2.1), we see that the future-directed unit normal $\hat{\mathbf{N}}$ to Σ_t can be expressed as

$$\hat{\mathbf{N}} = n^{-1}\partial_t. \tag{2.2}$$

Note that $\hat{\mathbf{N}}x^a = 0$ for a = 1, ..., D. Thus, in the gauge under consideration, the spatial coordinates are transported along the flow lines of $\hat{\mathbf{N}}$.

The second fundamental form k of Σ_t is defined by requiring that the following relation holds for all vectorfields X, Y tangent to Σ_t :

$$\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{D}_X \hat{\mathbf{N}}, Y) = -k(X, Y), \tag{2.3}$$

where **D** is the Levi-Civita connection of **g**. It is a standard fact that k is symmetric:

$$k(X, Y) = k(Y, X).$$
 (2.4)

For such *X*, *Y*, the action of the spacetime connection **D** can be decomposed into the action of the Levi-Civita connection ∇ of *g* and *k* as follows:

$$\mathbf{D}_X Y = \nabla_X Y - k(X, Y) \mathbf{\tilde{N}}.$$
(2.5)

Remark 2.6. As we described in Section 1.5, when analyzing the components of k (and in particular when differentiating the components of k), we will always assume that it is written in mixed form (i.e., type $\binom{1}{1}$ form) as k^{i}_{j} with the first index upstairs and the second one downstairs. This convention is absolutely essential for some of our analysis; in the problem of interest to us, the evolution and constraint equations verified by the components k^{i}_{j} have a more favorable structure than the corresponding equations verified by k_{ij} . We refer to Section 1.8.1 regarding our conventions for lowering and raising indices.

Throughout the vast majority of our analysis, we normalize the CMC hypersurfaces Σ_t as follows:

$$k_a^a = -\frac{1}{t}, \quad t \in (0, 1].$$
 (2.7)

In order for (2.7) to hold, the lapse has to verify the elliptic equation (2.13b).

We adopt the following sign convention for the Riemann curvature Riem of g:

$$\mathbf{D}_{\alpha}\mathbf{D}_{\beta}\mathbf{X}_{\mu} - \mathbf{D}_{\beta}\mathbf{D}_{\alpha}\mathbf{X}_{\mu} = \operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}\mathbf{X}^{\nu}.$$
(2.8)

Similarly, we adopt the following sign convention for the Riemann curvature Riem of g:

$$\nabla_a \nabla_b X_c - \nabla_b \nabla_a X_c = \operatorname{Riem}_{abcd} X^d.$$
(2.9)

2.1.2. Statement of the equations. In this subsubsection, we state a proposition that provides the Einstein-vacuum equations relative to CMC-transported spatial coordinates. The proposition can be proved using standard calculations; we refer readers to [51, Appendix B] and [52, Section 6.2] for details.

Proposition 2.10 (The Einstein-vacuum equations in CMC-transported spatial coordinates). In CMC-transported spatial coordinates normalized by $k_a^a = -t^{-1}$, the Einstein-vacuum equations (1.1) take the following form.

• The Hamiltonian and momentum constraint equations verified by g and k are respectively

$$\mathbf{R} - k^a_{\ b} k^b_{\ a} + t^{-2} = 0, \tag{2.11a}$$

$$\nabla_a k^a_{\ i} = 0, \tag{2.11b}$$

where ∇ denotes the Levi-Civita connection of g, $\mathbf{R} = \operatorname{Ric}_{a}^{a}$ denotes the scalar curvature of g, and Ric denotes the Ricci curvature of g (a precise expression is given in (2.15b)).

• The evolution equations verified by g, g^{-1} , and k are

$$\partial_t g_{ij} = -2ng_{ia}k^a_{\ i}, \tag{2.12a}$$

$$\partial_t g^{ij} = 2n g^{ia} k^j_a, \tag{2.12b}$$

$$\partial_t(k^i_{\ j}) = -g^{ia} \nabla_a \nabla_j n + n(\operatorname{Ric}^i_{\ j} - t^{-1} k^i_{\ j}).$$
(2.12c)

• *The elliptic lapse equation* can be written in either of the following two forms (by virtue of the constraint (2.11a)):

$$\{g^{ab}\nabla_a\nabla_b - t^{-2}\}(n-1) = (n-1)\{k^a_{\ b}k^b_{\ a} - t^{-2}\} + \{k^a_{\ b}k^b_{\ a} - t^{-2}\},$$
(2.13a)
$$\{g^{ab}\nabla_a\nabla_b - (t^{-2} + \mathbf{R})\}(n-1) = \mathbf{R}.$$
(2.13b)

Remark 2.14 (The form of equations (2.13a)–(2.13b)). We have written (2.13a)–(2.13b) in a form that is useful for studying perturbations of the background Kasner solution $(\tilde{g}, \tilde{k}, \tilde{n})$, which is such that

$$\widetilde{k}^a_{\ b}\widetilde{k}^b_{\ a} \equiv t^{-2}$$
 and $\widetilde{n} \equiv 1$

and such that \tilde{g} has vanishing curvature. In the relevant spots in Sections 5–8, we will rewrite some of the other equations in Proposition 2.10 to make it easier to study perturbations of the background Kasner solution, and we will also derive equations satisfied by the derivatives of perturbed solutions.

2.2. Standard expressions for curvature tensors of g

For future use, we note the following standard facts: relative to an arbitrary coordinate system on Σ_t (and in particular relative to the transported spatial coordinates that we use in our analysis), the components of the type $\binom{0}{4}$ Riemann curvature Riem of g and the type $\binom{1}{1}$ Ricci curvature Ric of g can be expressed, respectively, as

$$\operatorname{Riem}_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{2} \{ \partial_i \partial_l g_{jk} + \partial_j \partial_k g_{il} - \partial_i \partial_k g_{jl} - \partial_j \partial_l g_{ik} \} + g^{ab} \Gamma_{ial} \Gamma_{jbk} - g^{ab} \Gamma_{iak} \Gamma_{jbl}, \qquad (2.15a)$$
$$\operatorname{Ric}^i{}_j = \frac{1}{2} g^{cd} g^{ie} \{ \partial_e \partial_c g_{dj} + \partial_c \partial_j g_{ed} - \partial_e \partial_j g_{cd} - \partial_c \partial_d g_{ej} \} + g^{ab} g^{cd} g^{ie} \Gamma_{eac} \Gamma_{jbd} - g^{ab} g^{cd} g^{ie} \Gamma_{eaj} \Gamma_{cbd}, \qquad (2.15b)$$

where $\Gamma_{ijk} := g_{ja} \Gamma_{ik}^{a}$ and Γ_{jk}^{i} are the Christoffel symbols of g (see (1.27)).

2.3. The existence of Kasner solutions verifying our exponent assumptions when $D \ge 38$

Note that in view of (1.8b), if $D \le 36$, then there do not exist any Kasner solutions that satisfy the exponent assumption (1.8e). In this subsection, we show that for $D \ge 38$, such Kasner solutions *do* exist; recall that this is equivalent to finding real numbers $\{q_i\}_{i=1,...,D}$ that satisfy (1.8a)–(1.8b) and (1.8e).

To start, we note that in the case D = 36, the following Kasner exponents satisfy (1.8a)–(1.8b) but just barely fail to satisfy (1.8e):

$$q_1 = q_2 = \dots = q_{15} := -\frac{1}{6},$$

 $q_{16} = q_{17} = \dots q_{36} = \frac{1}{6}.$
(2.16)

Considering now the case D = 38, we let $\epsilon > 0$ be a small parameter, and we perturb the 36 Kasner exponents from (2.16) by ϵ so that they are bounded in magnitude by < 1/6:

$$q_1 = q_2 = \dots = q_{15} := -\frac{1}{6} + \epsilon,$$

$$q_{16} = q_{17} = \dots q_{36} = \frac{1}{6} - \epsilon.$$
(2.17)

Notice that by (1.8a)–(1.8b), assuming (2.17), any solution (q_{37}, q_{38}) to the following system yields, when complemented with the exponents (2.17), a complete set of Kasner exponents:

$$q_{37} + q_{38} = 6\epsilon, \tag{2.18a}$$

$$q_{37}^2 + q_{38}^2 = 12\epsilon - 36\epsilon^2.$$
 (2.18b)

Using (2.18a) to solve for q_{38} in terms of q_{37} and then substituting into (2.18b), we obtain the equation $q_{37}^2 - 6\epsilon q_{37} - 6\epsilon + 36\epsilon^2 = 0$, which has the solutions

$$q_{37} = 3\epsilon \pm \sqrt{6\epsilon - 27\epsilon^2}.$$
(2.19)

We now observe that for any $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the corresponding solutions q_{37} to (2.19) are real and bounded in magnitude by $\leq \sqrt{\epsilon}$. From (2.18a), we deduce that the same statement holds for the corresponding exponent q_{38} . In view of (2.17), we see that for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the exponents $\{q_i\}_{i=1,...,38}$ constructed in this fashion satisfy (1.8a)–(1.8b) and (1.8e). Moreover, in the cases $D \geq 39$, we can complement these 38 Kasner exponents with others as follows: $q_i = 0$ for $39 \leq i \leq D$. In total, we have constructed, for any $D \geq 38$, sets of Kasner exponents $\{q_i\}_{i=1,...,D}$ that satisfy (1.8a)–(1.8b) and (1.8e). That is, the Kasner solutions whose perturbations we study in our main theorem exist when $D \geq 38$.

3. Norms and bootstrap assumptions

In this section, we define the norms that we use to control the solution. We also state bootstrap assumptions for the solution norms; the bootstrap assumptions are convenient for our analysis in subsequent sections.

3.1. Fixed constants appearing in the norms

The norms that we define in Section 3.4 involve the positive numbers q and σ featured in the following definition.

Definition 3.1 (The constants q and σ). Assuming that the Kasner exponents satisfy the condition (1.8e), we fix positive numbers q and σ verifying the following inequalities:

$$0 < \sigma < \sigma + \max_{i=1,\dots,D} |q_i| < q < q + 2\sigma < \frac{1}{6}.$$
(3.2)

Remark 3.3. We consider q and σ to be fixed for the remainder of the article. In particular, q and σ do not vary when we choose N and A to be large.

3.2. Pointwise norms

To control Σ_t -tangent tensorfields, we will rely on two kinds of pointwise norms: one that refers to the transported spatial coordinate frame, and the standard geometric norm that is based on the Riemannian metric g.

Definition 3.4 (Pointwise norms). For Σ_t -tangent type $\binom{l}{m}$ tensorfields T, we define

$$|T|_{\text{Frame}} := \left\{ \sum_{a_1, \dots, a_l, b_1, \dots, b_m = 1}^{D} |T_{b_1 \cdots b_m}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}|^2 \right\}^{1/2},$$
(3.5a)

$$|T|_{g} := \left\{ g_{a_{1}a'_{1}} \cdots g_{a_{l}a'_{l}} g^{b_{1}b'_{1}} \cdots g^{b_{m}b'_{m}} T_{b_{1} \cdots b_{m}}^{a_{1} \cdots a_{l}} T_{b'_{1} \cdots b'_{m}}^{a'_{1} \cdots a'_{l}} \right\}^{1/2}.$$
 (3.5b)

3.3. Lebesgue and Sobolev norms

In this subsection, we define the Lebesgue and Sobolev norms that we will use to control the solution. We start by defining the $\partial_{\vec{t}}$ -derivative of a tensorfield.

Definition 3.6 (Derivative of a tensorfield). If $T_{b_1 \cdots b_m}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}$ is a type $\binom{l}{m} \sum_t$ -tangent tensorfield and \vec{I} is a spatial multi-index, then we define $\partial_{\vec{I}}T$ to be the type $\binom{l}{m}$ tensorfield whose components $(\partial_{\vec{I}}T)_{b_1 \cdots b_m}^{a_1 \cdots a_l}$ relative to the CMC-transported spatial coordinate frame are the following:

$$(\partial_{\vec{I}}T)_{b_1\cdots b_m}{}^{a_1\cdots a_l} := \partial_{\vec{I}}(T_{b_1\cdots b_m}{}^{a_1\cdots a_l}).$$

$$(3.7)$$

Remark 3.8. The operator $\partial_{\vec{I}}$, when acting on Σ_t -tangent tensorfields, can be given the following invariant interpretation: it can be viewed as repeated Lie differentiation with respect to the (globally defined) spatial coordinate partial derivative vectorfields $\{\partial_i\}_{i=1,...,D}$.

Remark 3.9. We remind the reader that, as we described in Section 1.8.3, if *T* is a type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield, then ∂T is by definition type $\binom{l}{m+1}$ and $\partial^2 T$ is by definition type $\binom{l}{m+2}$. Thus, for example, in the ensuing equations and estimates, readers should carefully distinguish between the meaning of $\partial^2 T$ and $\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} T$ when $|\vec{I}| = 1$ (the former tensorfield is type $\binom{l}{m+2}$) while the latter is type $\binom{l}{m+1}$).

In what follows, $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{L^\infty(\Sigma_t)}$ denote the standard Lebesgue norms for scalar functions on Σ_t ; see Section 1.8.4. We now define additional Sobolev and Lebesgue norms that we will use in our analysis.

Definition 3.10 (Sobolev and Lebesgue norms). If T is a type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield, $p \in \{2, \infty\}$, and $M \ge 0$ is an integer, then we define

$$\|T\|_{L^{p}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} := \||T|_{\text{Frame}}\|_{L^{p}(\Sigma_{t})}, \quad \|T\|_{L^{p}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} := \||T|_{g}\|_{L^{p}(\Sigma_{t})}, \quad (3.11a)$$

$$\|T\|_{W^{M,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} := \sum_{|\vec{I}| \le M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{\text{Frame}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{I})},$$

$$\|T\|_{W^{M,\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{I})} := \sum_{|\vec{I}| \le M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{g}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{I})},$$
(3.11b)

$$\|T\|_{\dot{W}^{M,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} := \sum_{|\vec{I}|=M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{\text{Frame}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})},$$

$$\|T\|_{\dot{W}^{M,\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} := \sum \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{g}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})},$$
(3.11c)

$$\|T\|_{H^{M}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} := \left\{ \sum_{|\vec{I}| \le M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{\text{Frame}}\|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{I})} \right\}^{1/2},$$

$$(3.11d)$$

$$\|T\|_{H^{M}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} := \left\{ \sum_{|\vec{I}| \le M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{g}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \right\}^{1/2},$$

$$\|T\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} := \left\{ \sum_{|\vec{I}| = M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{\text{Frame}}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \right\}^{1/2},$$

$$\|T\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} := \left\{ \sum_{|\vec{I}| = M} \||\partial_{\vec{I}}T|_{g}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \right\}^{1/2}.$$

(3.11e)

Remark 3.12 (The omission of norm subscripts when appropriate). If *T* is a scalar function, then we typically omit the subscripts "Frame" and "g" in the norms since there is no danger of confusion over how to measure the norm of *T*. For example if *f* is scalar function, then we write $||f||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ instead of $||f||_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$ or $||f||_{L^{\infty}_{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$.

Remark 3.13 (Simple comparison estimates that we use silently use in our analysis). Here, by way of example, we note some simple but important comparison estimates that we often silently use in our analysis. First, by using the *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, it is straightforward to see that if *T* is any type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield and $\partial^2 T$ is the type $\binom{l}{m+2}$ tensorfield defined as in Section 1.8.3, then

$$|\partial^2 T|_g^2 \le g^{ab} |\partial_a \partial T|_g |\partial_b \partial T|_g,$$

where we are viewing $\partial_a \partial T$ and $\partial_b \partial T$ as type $\binom{l}{m+1} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfields (i.e., we are not imposing any tensorial structure on ∂_a or ∂_b). It follows that

$$|\partial^2 T(t,x)|_g \lesssim \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}^{1/2} \sum_{|\vec{I}|=1} |\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} T(t,x)|_g$$

and that

$$\|\partial^2 T\|_{\dot{H}^M_g(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim \|g^{-1}\|_{L^\infty_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}^{1/2} \|\partial T\|_{\dot{H}^{M+1}_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

The same reasoning yields, for example, that

$$|\partial T(t,x)|_g \lesssim \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}^{1/2} \sum_{|\vec{I}|=1} |\partial_{\vec{I}} T(t,x)|_g$$

and that

$$\|\partial T\|_{\dot{H}^{M}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|T\|_{\dot{H}^{M+1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Estimates of this type, together with the singular behavior of $||g^{-1}||_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$ as $t \downarrow 0$, are the primary reason that our analysis relies on the complete hierarchy of norms defined in Section 3.4.

3.4. The specific norms that we use to control the deviation of the solution from the Kasner background

Let $A \gg 1$ be a large parameter, to be chosen later. We recall that q > 0 and $\sigma > 0$ are the real numbers fixed in Section 3.1.

To control the solution variables (g, k, n), we will rely on a combination of norms for the low-order derivatives of the solution and norms for its high-order derivatives. Our norms are designed to measure the deviation of the perturbed solution from the background Kasner solution $(\tilde{g}, \tilde{k}, \tilde{n})$, which is spatially homogeneous (in particular, \tilde{g}_{ij} does not depend on x) with $\tilde{k}_{b}^{a} \tilde{k}_{a}^{b} = t^{-2}$ and $\tilde{n} = 1$.

We now define the low-order norms.

Definition 3.14 (Low norms). Let \tilde{g} and \tilde{k} denote the background Kasner solution variables and let q and σ be the fixed constants (which depend on the background Kasner solution (\tilde{g}, \tilde{k})) satisfying (3.2). We define

$$\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) := \max \left\{ t^{2q} \| g - \widetilde{g} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{2q} \| g^{-1} - \widetilde{g}^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{2q} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t$$

$$\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) := t^{-(2-10q-\sigma)} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}.$$
(3.15b)

We clarify that $t|\tilde{k}|_{\tilde{g}} = 1$ by (1.8b)–(1.8c) and thus the term $||tk|_g - 1||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ on the right-hand side of (3.15a) is a measure of the deviation of k from \tilde{k} .

We will use the following norms to control the high-order derivatives of the solution.

Definition 3.16 (High norms). Let q and σ be the fixed constants (which depend on the background Kasner solution (\tilde{g}, \tilde{k})) that satisfy (3.2). Let $A \gg 1$ be a real parameter (to be chosen later) and let $N \gg 1$ be an integer-valued parameter (also to be chosen later). We define

$$\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) := \max \left\{ t^{A+1} \|k\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+1} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|k\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|k\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+q+\sigma} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} \right\},$$
(3.17a)

$$\mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) := \max\left\{t^{A+1} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}, t^{A+q-1} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}\right\}.$$
 (3.17b)

3.5. Bootstrap assumptions

To facilitate our analysis, we find it convenient to rely on bootstrap assumptions. Let $T_{(Boot)} \in (0, 1)$ be a "bootstrap time". Until the proof of Theorem 11.1, we assume that the perturbed solution exists classically for $(t, x) \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$ and that the following bootstrap assumptions hold for the norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16:

$$\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \le \varepsilon, \quad t \in (T_{(\text{Boot})}, 1],$$
(3.18)

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is a small bootstrap parameter.

Remark 3.19 (The required smallness of ε depends on various parameters). We will continually adjust the required smallness of ε throughout our analysis. The required smallness of ε is allowed to depend on N, A, D, q, and σ , but we will often avoid pointing this out.

4. Estimates for the Kasner solution and preliminary technical estimates

In this section, we derive some simple estimates for the background Kasner solution and provide other basic estimates that we will use throughout the paper.

4.1. Basic estimates for the Kasner solution

In controlling various error terms, we will rely on the following simple estimates for the background Kasner solution.

Lemma 4.1 (Basic estimates for the Kasner solution). *The following estimates hold for* $t \in (0, 1]$:

$$\|\widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \le t^{\sigma-2q}, \quad \|\widetilde{g}^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \le t^{\sigma-2q}, \tag{4.2a}$$

$$\|\widetilde{k}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} \le t^{-1}.$$
(4.2b)

Proof. Recall that the Kasner solution variables \tilde{g} and \tilde{k} are given, relative to the transported spatial coordinates, respectively, by expressions (1.7) and (1.8c). All estimates stated in the lemma follow as straightforward consequences of these expressions and the inequalities in (3.2).

4.2. Norm comparisons

In controlling various error terms, we will compare the pointwise norms $|\cdot|_{\text{Frame}}$ and $|\cdot|_g$. Our comparisons will often rely on the following lemma.

Lemma 4.3 (Pointwise norm comparisons). Let T be a type $\binom{l}{m} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield. Under the bootstrap assumptions (3.18), there exists a universal constant $C_* > 1$ independent of N and A (but depending on m and l) such that if $\varepsilon \leq 1$, then the following estimates hold for the pointwise norms of Definition 3.4 for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$C_*^{-1} t^{(l+m)q} |T|_g \le |T|_{\text{Frame}} \le C_* t^{-(l+m)q} |T|_g.$$
(4.4)

Proof. Let δ denote the standard Euclidean metric on Σ_t , i.e., relative to the transported spatial coordinates, δ has components δ_{ij} equal to diag(1, 1, ..., 1), and likewise for the inverse Euclidean metric δ^{-1} . Then in view of the definition of the norm $|\cdot|_{\text{Frame}}$, we have, schematically,

$$|T|_{\text{Frame}} = |(\delta)^l (\delta^{-1})^m T^2|^{1/2},$$

and by g-Cauchy–Schwarz, the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\leq |\delta|_{g}^{l/2} |\delta^{-1}|_{g}^{m/2} |T|_{g} = \left\{ g^{ac} g^{bd} \delta_{ab} \delta_{cd} \right\}^{l/4} \left\{ g_{a'c'} g_{b'd'} (\delta^{-1})^{a'b'} (\delta^{-1})^{c'd'} \right\}^{m/4} |T|_{g}.$$

From Definitions 3.4 and 3.14, estimate (4.2a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the above expression (which we consider from the perspective of the transported coordinate frame) is

$$\leq |g^{-1}|_{\text{Frame}}^{l/2} |g|_{\text{Frame}}^{m/2} |T|_g \leq C_* t^{-(m+l)q} |T|_g$$

which yields the second inequality in (4.4). To obtain the first inequality in (4.4), we note that we have, schematically,

$$|T|_g = |(g)^l (g^{-1})^m T^2|^{1/2}$$

The same Cauchy–Schwarz argument as before, but with the role of g and δ interchanged, yields (relative to the transported coordinate frame) that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq |g|_{\text{Frame}}^{l/2} |g^{-1}|_{\text{Frame}}^{m/2} |T|_{\text{Frame}}$. From Definition 3.14, estimate (4.2a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq C_* t^{-(m+l)q} |T|_{\text{Frame}}$, which yields the first inequality in (4.4).

4.3. Sobolev interpolation and product inequalities

In this subsection, we provide some Sobolev interpolation and product inequalities that we will use to control various error terms. We start with the following lemma, which provides basic interpolation estimates.

Lemma 4.5 (Basic interpolation estimates). If M_1 and M_2 are non-negative integers with $M_1 \le M_2$ and v is a scalar function, then the following inequalities hold:

$$\|v\|_{\dot{H}^{M_{1}}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1-M_{1}/M_{2}} \|v\|_{\dot{H}^{M_{2}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{M_{1}/M_{2}} \lesssim \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} + \|v\|_{\dot{H}^{M_{2}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
 (4.6)

If M_1 and M_2 are non-negative integers with $M_1 + 1 + \lfloor D/2 \rfloor \le M_2$ and v is a scalar function, then the following inequalities hold:

$$\|v\|_{\dot{W}^{M_{1},\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \|v\|_{H^{M_{1}+1+\lfloor D/2 \rfloor}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \|v\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} + \|v\|_{\dot{H}^{M_{2}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(4.7)

Proof. The first inequality in (4.6) follows as a special case of Nirenberg's famous interpolation results [39], except that on the right-hand side, we have replaced the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ with $\|\cdot\|_{L^\infty(\Sigma_t)}$; the replacement is possible because of the estimate

$$\|v\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim \|v\|_{L^\infty(\Sigma_t)}$$

for scalar functions v (which holds because \mathbb{T}^{D} is compact). Strictly speaking, Nirenberg stated his results for functions defined on \mathbb{R}^{D} , but the arguments given in his paper can be used to derive the same estimates for functions defined on \mathbb{T}^{D} . The second inequality in (4.6) follows from the first and Young's inequality.

The first inequality in (4.7) is a standard Sobolev embedding result on \mathbb{T}^{D} . The second inequality in (4.7) follows from the first inequality in (4.7) and the second inequality in (4.6).

Lemma 4.8 (Sobolev product estimates for tensorfields). Let M be a non-negative integer, let $\{v_r\}_{r=1}^R$ be a finite collection of Σ_t -tangent tensorfields, and let $v = \prod_{r=1}^R \partial_{\vec{l}_r} v_r$ be a (schematically denoted) tensor product, possibly involving contractions. Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold for some ε with $\varepsilon \leq 1$. Then the following estimate holds for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\max_{\sum_{r=1}^{R} |\vec{I}_r| = M} \left\| \prod_{r=1}^{R} \partial_{\vec{I}_r} v_r \right\|_{L^2_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim \sum_{r=1}^{R} \|v_r\|_{\dot{H}^M_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \prod_{s \neq r} \|v_s\|_{L^\infty_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}.$$
(4.9)

Moreover, under the same assumptions as above, and assuming that v is type $\binom{l}{m}$, the following estimate holds for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\max_{\sum_{r=1}^{R} |\vec{I}_{r}| = M} \left\| \prod_{r=1}^{R} \partial_{\vec{I}_{r}} v_{r} \right\|_{L_{g}^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim t^{-(l+m)q} \sum_{r=1}^{R} \|v_{r}\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{M}(\Sigma_{t})} \prod_{s \neq r} \|v_{s}\|_{L_{\text{Frame}}^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(4.10)

Proof. If the $\{v_r\}_{r=1}^R$ are all scalar functions (and hence l = m = 0), then inequality (4.9) is standard; it is proved, for example, as [47, Lemma 6.16]. If one or more of the v_r are not scalar functions, then estimate (4.9) follows a straightforward consequence of the estimate (4.9) for scalar functions, essentially by writing out the definition of the left-hand side of (4.9) relative to the transported spatial coordinate frame and estimating the components of all tensorfields.

To prove (4.10), we first use (4.4) to deduce that

$$\max_{\sum_{r=1}^{R} |\vec{I}_r|=M} \left\| \prod_{r=1}^{R} \partial_{\vec{I}_r} v_r \right\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{-(l+m)q} \max_{\sum_{r=1}^{R} |\vec{I}_r|=M} \left\| \prod_{r=1}^{R} \partial_{\vec{I}_r} v_r \right\|_{L^2_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

We then use (4.9) to conclude that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (4.10) as desired.

4.4. Sobolev embedding

We will use the following lemma to obtain $L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)$ -control over some additional loworder derivatives that are not directly controlled by the low-order norms from Definition 3.14. To achieve the desired control, we borrow, via interpolation with sufficiently large N, a small amount of the high norm. Because the high norms are quite weak near t = 0 (at least when A is large), the interpolation introduces singular behavior into the
estimates of the lemma, represented by the factors of $t^{-A\delta}$ on the right-hand sides of the estimates. However, $\delta \to 0$ as $N \to \infty$. Thus, at fixed A, if N is large, then the following basic principle, central to our approach, applies:

The singular contribution to the behavior of the low-order norms coming from the high-order norms is very small.

Lemma 4.11 (Sobolev embedding, borrowing only a small amount of high norm). *There* exists a parameter¹⁵ $\delta > 0$, depending on N and D, such that $\lim_{N\to\infty} \delta = 0$ (at fixed D) and such that if $N \ge 5 + \lfloor D/2 \rfloor$, then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\|g - \widetilde{g}\|_{W^{4,\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_I)} \lesssim t^{-2q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(4.12a)

$$\|g^{-1} - \widetilde{g}^{-1}\|_{W^{4,\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{-2q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(4.12b)

$$\|n-1\|_{W^{4,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{2-10q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \}.$$
(4.12c)

Proof. To prove (4.12c), we first use the second inequality in (4.7) to deduce

$$||n-1||_{W^{4,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim ||n-1||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} + ||n-1||_{\dot{H}^{5+\lfloor D/2 \rfloor}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

Then using the first inequality in (4.6), we deduce that for $N \ge 5 + \lfloor D/2 \rfloor$, the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} + \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1-\delta} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}^{\delta},$$

where $\delta := (5 + \lfloor D/2 \rfloor)/N$. Combining these estimates and appealing to definitions (3.15b) and (3.17b), we find that

$$\|n-1\|_{W^{4,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \{t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t)\}^{1-\delta} \{t^{-A} \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)\}^{\delta}.$$

Finally, we use Young's inequality to deduce

$$t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \{t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t)\}^{1-\delta} \{t^{-A} \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)\}^{\delta} = t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + t^{(2-10q-\sigma)(1-\delta)-A\delta} \{\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t)\}^{1-\delta} \{\mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)\}^{\delta} \lesssim t^{2-10q-\sigma-A\delta} \{\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)\},$$
(4.13)

where in obtaining the last inequality in (4.13), we have used (3.2), the assumption $A \ge 1$, and our running convention that δ is free to vary from line to line, subject only to the restriction $\lim_{N\to\infty} \delta = 0$. In total, we have derived the desired bound (4.12c).

The remaining estimates in the lemma can be proved using similar arguments that take into account Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, and we omit the details.

¹⁵Recall that, as we described in Section 1.8.5, we allow δ to vary from line to line and we use the convention that a sum of two parameters δ is another δ .

5. Control of *n* in terms of *g* and *k*

Our primary goal in this section is to prove the next proposition, in which we derive the main estimates for *n*. The proof of the proposition is located in Section 5.3. In Sections 5.1-5.2, we derive the identities and estimates that we will use when proving the proposition. The proposition shows that *n* is controlled, in various norms, by complementary norms of *g* and *k*. Achieving such control is possible since *n* solves the elliptic PDEs (2.13a)–(2.13b), which feature source terms that depend, respectively, on *k* and R.

Proposition 5.1 (Control of *n* in terms of *g* and *k*). We recall that $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$, $\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t)$, $\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, and $\mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)$ are the norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, and assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exists a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of *N* and *A* and a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if *N* is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on *A*, *D*, *q*, and σ , and if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on *N*, *A*, *D*, *q*, and σ), then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$.

• Estimates at the lowest order. The following estimate holds:

$$\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) \le C\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(5.2)

• Estimate for $\partial_t n$. The following estimate holds:

$$\|\partial_t n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{1-10q-\sigma} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$
(5.3)

• **Top-order estimates.** If $|\vec{I}| = N$, then the following estimates hold (see Remark 3.9):

$$t^{A+1} \|\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} n\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A} \|\partial_{\vec{I}} n\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\leq C_{*} t^{A+1} \|\partial_{\vec{I}} k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + C t^{\sigma} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}$$

$$\leq C_{*} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + C t^{\sigma} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(5.4)

• Near-top-order estimates. The following estimate holds:

$$t^{A+q-1} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_t)} \le C\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(5.5)

5.1. The equations

In this subsection, we derive some equations that we use to control n in terms of g and k.

5.1.1. The equations verified by the time derivative of the lapse. The next lemma provides an analog of equation (2.13b) for $\partial_t n$, and we will use it to derive estimates for $\|\partial_t n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$. We remark that we need estimates for $\|\partial_t n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ only in Section 10.2, when we bound the length of past-directed causal geodesic segments.

Lemma 5.6 (The ∂_t -commuted lapse equation). The quantity $\partial_t n$ verifies the following elliptic PDE on Σ_t :

$$g^{ab}\nabla_a\nabla_b\partial_t n - (\partial_t n)(t^{-2} + \mathbf{R}) = \mathfrak{N}',$$
(5.7)

where (see Remarks 2.6 and 3.9)

$$\mathfrak{M}' \simeq \sum_{i_1+i_2+i_3=2} \sum_{p=0}^{1} (n-1)^p (g^{-1})^2 (\partial^{i_1} n) (\partial^{i_2} g) \partial^{i_3} k$$

+
$$\sum_{i_1+i_2+i_3=1} \sum_{p=0}^{1} (n-1)^p (g^{-1})^3 (\partial g) (\partial^{i_1} n) (\partial^{i_2} g) \partial^{i_3} k + t^{-3} (n-1)$$

+
$$ng^{-1} k \partial^2 n + n(g^{-1})^2 k (\partial g) \partial n$$

+
$$\sum_{i_1+i_2+i_3=1} (g^{-1})^2 (\partial n) (\partial^{i_1} n) (\partial^{i_2} g) \partial^{i_3} k.$$
(5.8)

Proof. Relative to CMC-transported spatial coordinates, the elliptic PDE (2.13b) can be expressed as

$$g^{ab}\partial_a\partial_b n - g^{ab}\Gamma^c_{a\ b}\partial_c n - (n-1)(t^{-2} + \mathbf{R}) = \mathbf{R},$$

where, schematically,

$$\mathbf{R} \simeq (g^{-1})^2 \partial^2 g + (g^{-1})^3 (\partial g)^2$$

(see (2.15b) and recall that $R = Ric_a^a$) and

$$g^{ab}\Gamma^{\ c}_{a\ b}\simeq g^{-2}\partial g.$$

Commuting the elliptic PDE with ∂_t , using equations (2.12a) and (2.12b) to algebraically substitute for $\partial_t g$ and $\partial_t g^{-1}$, and carrying out straightforward computations, we conclude the desired equation (5.7).

5.1.2. The equations verified by the high-order derivatives. We will use the equations in the next lemma to control the $L^2(\Sigma_t)$ -norms of high-order derivatives of n.

Remark 5.9 (Borderline error terms vs. junk error terms). In the rest of the paper, we will denote difficult "borderline" error terms by decorating them with "(Border)", e.g., $(Border; \vec{I})\mathfrak{N}$. These error terms must treated with care since at the top derivative level, there is no room (in the sense of powers of *t*) in our estimates for such terms. In contrast, the error terms that we decorate with "(Junk)", such as $(Junk; \vec{I})\mathfrak{N}$, are such that there is some room in our estimates, though we sometimes rely on subtle arguments to show that there is room.

Lemma 5.10 (The \vec{I} -commuted lapse equation). For each spatial multi-index \vec{I} with $|\vec{I}| = N$, $\partial_{\vec{I}}n$ verifies the following equation:

$$t^{A+2}g^{ab}\partial_a\partial_b\partial_{\vec{l}}n - t^A\partial_{\vec{l}}n = {}^{(\text{Border};\vec{l})}\mathfrak{N} + {}^{(\text{Junk};\vec{l})}\mathfrak{N},$$
(5.11)

where¹⁶ (see Section 1.8.7 regarding our use of notation $\stackrel{*}{\simeq}$ and \simeq , and see Remarks 2.6

¹⁶We clarify that the factor $(tk) \cdot (tk) - 1$ in braces on the right-hand side of (5.12a) can be written more precisely as $(tk_{a}^{b})(tk_{a}^{b}) - 1$, which, in view of the symmetry property $k_{ab} = k_{ba}$, can alternatively be expressed as the following term (that is controlled by the norm $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$ from Definition 3.14): $(|tk|_{g} - 1)(|tk|_{g} + 1)$.

and 3.9)

$${}^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})}\mathfrak{N} \stackrel{*}{\simeq} (t^{A}\partial_{\vec{I}}n)\{(tk)\cdot(tk)-1\} + (tk)(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k),$$
(5.12a)

$${}^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})}\mathfrak{N} \simeq \sum_{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}} t^{A+2}\{\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}(n-1)\}(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}k)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k$$
(5.12a)

$$+ \sum_{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}} t^{A+2}\{\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}k\}\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}k$$
(5.12b)

$$+ \sum_{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}} t^{A+2}(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}n$$
(5.12b)

$$+ \sum_{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}} t^{A+2}(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}n.$$
(5.12b)

Furthermore, for each spatial multi-index \vec{I} with $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$, $\partial_{\vec{I}}n$ verifies the following equation:

$$t^{A+1+q}g^{ab}\partial_a\partial_b\partial_{\vec{l}}n - t^{A+q-1}(1+t^2\mathbf{R})\partial_{\vec{l}}n = {}^{(\vec{l})}\widetilde{\mathfrak{N}},$$
(5.13)

where

$$\begin{split} {}^{(\vec{l})}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}} &\simeq \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q} (\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g \\ &+ \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\cdots+\vec{l}_{5}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q} (\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g^{-1})(\partial\partial_{\vec{l}_{4}}g)\partial\partial_{\vec{l}_{5}}g \\ &+ \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}+\vec{l}_{4}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q} \{\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}(n-1)\}(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{l}_{4}}g \\ &+ \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\cdots+\vec{l}_{6}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q} \{\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}(n-1)\}(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{4}}g^{-1}) \\ &+ \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}+\vec{l}_{4}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q} \{\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}(n-1)\}(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g)\partial\partial_{\vec{l}_{4}}n \\ &+ \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}+\vec{l}_{4}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q}(\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g)\partial\partial_{\vec{l}_{4}}n \\ &+ \sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q}(\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}n. \end{split}$$
(5.14)

Remark 5.15 (The decay of $||n - 1||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ and its role in yielding "Junk" terms). From definition (3.15b) and the bootstrap assumption (3.18), we see that

$$\|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \leq \varepsilon t^{(2-10q-\sigma)}$$

Thus, in view of the parameter inequalities (3.2), we see that $||n - 1||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ decays to 0 at least as fast as *t* to a positive power as $t \downarrow 0$. This explains, for example, why we characterized the top-order product $t^{A+2}(n-1)k\partial_{\vec{l}}k$ featured in the first sum on the right-hand side of (5.12b) as a "Junk" term, even though we characterized the similar-looking top-order product $(tk)(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{l}}k)$ on the right-hand side of (5.12a) as a "Borderline" term; the extra decay yielded by the factor n-1 makes it easy for us to control the top-order product $t^{A+2}(n-1)k\partial_{\vec{l}}k$ compared to the difficult product $(tk)(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{l}}k)$. Similar remarks apply throughout the rest of the paper to top-order products featuring the factor n-1.

Proof of Lemma 5.10. First, we multiply equation (2.13a) by t^{A+2} and use the relation $g^{ab}\nabla_a\nabla_b n = g^{ab}\partial_a\partial_b n - g^{ab}\Gamma_{a\ b}^{\ c}\partial_c n$ to obtain the equation

$$t^{A+2}g^{ab}\partial_a\partial_b n - t^A(n-1) = t^A(n-1)\{(tk^a_b)(tk^b_a) - 1\} - t^A + t^{A+2}k^a_bk^b_a + t^{A+2}g^{ab}\Gamma^c_{a\ b}\partial_c n.$$
(5.16)

Commuting equation (5.16) with $\partial_{\vec{t}}$ and using the schematic identity

$$g^{ab}\Gamma^{\ c}_{a\ b}\partial_c n \simeq g^{-2}(\partial g)\partial n$$

we easily deduce (5.11). We clarify that the terms on the right-hand side of (5.12a) arise, respectively, when all $|\vec{I}|$ derivatives fall on the factor n-1 in the first product on the right-hand side of (5.16) or on one of the factors of k in the next-to-last product $t^{A+2}k_b^ak_a^b$ on the right-hand side of (5.16). It is for this reason that the coefficients in the corresponding products do not depend on N or A, as is indicated by the symbol \simeq in equation (5.12a).

Equation (5.13) follows similarly from multiplying equation (2.13b) by t^{A+1+q} and using the schematic identity

$$\mathbf{R} \simeq (g^{-1})^2 \partial^2 g + (g^{-1})^3 (\partial g)^2,$$

which follows from (2.15b) and the fact that $R = \text{Ric}_{a}^{a}$.

5.2. Control of the error terms in the lapse estimates

In this subsection, we derive estimates for the error terms in the equations of Lemmas 5.6 and 5.10.

Lemma 5.17 (Control of the error terms in the elliptic estimates). Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exists a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of N and A and a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , and if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$.

|.

Control of the error term in the equation verified by ∂_tn. The following estimate holds for the error term 𝔑' defined in (5.8):

$$\|\mathfrak{N}'\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \le Ct^{-1-10q-\sigma} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)\}.$$
 (5.18)

• Borderline top-order error term estimates. If $|\vec{I}| = N$, then the following estimate holds for the error term from (5.12a):

$$\|^{(\text{Border};I)}\mathfrak{N}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C_{*}\varepsilon t^{A} \|\partial_{\vec{I}}n\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} + C_{*}t^{A+1} \|\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.19)

• Non-borderline top-order error term estimates. The following estimate holds for the error term from (5.12b):

$$\max_{\vec{l}|=N} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};\vec{l})} \mathfrak{N}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C t^{\sigma} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$
(5.20)

• Just-below-top-order error term estimates. The following estimate holds for the error term from (5.14):

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(I)} \widetilde{\mathfrak{N}}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(5.21)

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed *A*, this can be achieved by choosing *N* to be sufficiently large. We also freely use the observations of Remark 3.13.

Proof of (5.18). This estimate follows in a straightforward fashion from using (3.2), Definition 3.14, Lemma 4.1, and Lemma 4.11 to control the products on the right-hand side of (5.8) in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, where we bound each factor in the products in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$. We remark that the most singular (in the sense of powers of *t*) products on the right-hand side of (5.8) are $t^{-3}(n-1)$ and the terms in the second sum with $p = i_1 = 0$.

Proof of (5.19). From Definition 3.14 and the *g*-Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we deduce that the magnitude of the right-hand side of (5.12a) is

$$\leq C_* \{ 1 + \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) \} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) | t^A \partial_{\vec{l}} n | + | t^{A+1} \partial_{\vec{l}} k |_g \}.$$

From this bound and the bootstrap assumption bound $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) \leq \varepsilon$, we conclude (5.19).

Proof of (5.20). : Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. To bound the first sum on the right-hand side of (5.12b), we first consider the top-order case in which $|\vec{I}_2| = N$ or $|\vec{I}_3| = N$. Then using g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we see that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{e}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$. In view of (3.2), we see that the

right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_1|, |\vec{I}_2|, |\vec{I}_3| \le N - 1$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{2}|,|\vec{I}_{3}|\leq N-1\\ \lesssim t^{A+2}\|n-1\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\\ + t^{A+2}\|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}\\ + t^{A+2}\|n-1\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.22)

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2b) and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (5.22)
$$\lesssim t^{3-13q-2\sigma-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{1-q} \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$$

In view of (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired.

To bound the second sum on the right-hand side of (5.12b), we first use (4.9) to deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2} \|k\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the righthand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{1-3q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (5.20) as desired.

To bound the third sum on the right-hand side of (5.12b), we first consider the toporder case in which $|\vec{I}_3| = N$. Using *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz and the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, we see that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2} \|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Applying (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 1) to $\|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{S}}(\Sigma_l)}$, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+2-q} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^N_{g}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{3-11q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired. We now consider the top-order case in which $|\vec{I}_4| = N$. Arguing as above, we deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim t^{A+2-3q} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{1-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \lesssim t^{1-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired. It remains for us to handle the cases in which $|\vec{I}_3|, |\vec{I}_4| \leq N - 1$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{3}|,|\vec{I}_{4}|\leq N-1}} t^{A+2} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g)\partial\partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}n\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+2} \|n-1\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+2} \|n-1\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \times \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+2} \|n-1\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.23)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS
$$(5.23) \lesssim t^{4-16q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{2-6q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired.

To bound the last sum on the right-hand side of (5.12b), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_2| = N - 1$. Using (4.4), we bound the terms under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim t^{A+2-q} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12b), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{1-3q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \lesssim t^{1-3q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_2| \le N - 2$. Using (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_1+\vec{I}_2=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_2|\leq N-2\\ \lesssim t^{A+2} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^N(\Sigma_t)} + t^{A+2} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^N_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}.$$
 (5.24)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.12b) and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS
$$(5.24) \lesssim t^{2-2q-A\delta} \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{4-12q-2\sigma-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$$

In view of (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (5.20) as desired.

Proof of (5.21). Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$. To bound the first sum on the right-hand side of (5.14), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_3| = N - 1$. Using g-Cauchy–Schwarz and the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, we see that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|\partial^2 g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From the definitions of $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^M_g(\Sigma_t)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_t)}$, we deduce (see Remark 3.13) that the right-hand side of the previous estimate is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.2a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which is $\leq \text{RHS}$ (5.21) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_3| \leq N - 2$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{3}|\leq N-2}} t^{A+1+q} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$+ t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$+ t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.25)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12a), and (4.12b), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(5.25) \lesssim t^{1-5q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired.

To bound the second sum on the right-hand side of (5.14), we first consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_4| = N - 1$ or $|\vec{I}_5| = N - 1$. Using *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz and the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, we see that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Applying (4.4) to $\|\partial g\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ (with l = 0 and m = 3), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-2q} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{1-6q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is $\leq \text{RHS}$ (5.21) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_4|, |\vec{I}_5| \leq N - 2$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\dots+\vec{I}_{5}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{4}|,|\vec{I}_{5}|\leq N-2\\ \lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3} \|g^{-1}|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{5}}g\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_$$

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12a), and (4.12b), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS (5.26)
$$\lesssim t^{2-12q-3\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired.

To bound the third sum on the right-hand side of (5.14), we first consider the case $|\vec{I}_4| = N - 1$. Using g-Cauchy–Schwarz and the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, we see that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial^2 g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

Considering the definitions of $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^M_g(\Sigma_t)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$, we deduce (see Remark 3.13) that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2}$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.2a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{2-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (5.21) as desired. It remains for us to consider the case $|\vec{I}_4| \leq N-2$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}\\ |\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{4}|\leq N-2\\ \lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{3,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \times \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{3,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\times \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{3,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{3,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.27)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(5.27) \lesssim t^{3-15q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{2-6q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired.

To bound the fourth sum on the right-hand side of (5.14), we first consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_5| = N - 1$ or $|\vec{I}_6| = N - 1$. Using *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz and the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, we see that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}$$

Applying (4.4) to $\|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{l})}$ (with l = 0 and m = 3), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-2q} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{3-16q-2\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_1|, |\vec{I}_5|, |\vec{I}_6| \le N - 2$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\dots+\vec{I}_{6}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{5}|,|\vec{I}_{6}|\leq N-2\\ \lesssim t^{A+1+q} \|n-1\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3} \|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g-\widetilde{$$

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(5.28) \lesssim t^{4-22q-4\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

+ $t^{2-10q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired.

To bound the fifth sum on the right-hand side of (5.14), we first use (4.6), (4.9), and the fact that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ to deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded as

follows:

$$\sum_{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}+\vec{l}_{4}=\vec{l}} t^{A+1+q} \| (\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g)(\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}g)(\partial_{\vec{l}_{4}}n) \|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+1+q} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \| g \|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \| n \|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \| n \|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g \|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g \|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \| n \|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g^{-1} \|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1+q} \| g^{-1} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g \|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \| n \|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.29)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(5.29) \lesssim t^{1-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{3-15q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired.

To bound the last sum on the right-hand side of (5.14), we first use (4.9) and the fact that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ to deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{2}|\leq N-2}} \|t^{A+1+q}(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}n\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\leq t^{A+1+q}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$+ t^{A+1+q}\|n\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(5.30)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.12b) and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS (5.30)
$$\lesssim t^{1-q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{4-14q-4\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (5.21) as desired. This completes the proof of (5.21) and finishes the proof of the lemma.

5.3. Proof of Proposition 5.1

In this subsection, we prove Proposition 5.1. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed *A*, this can be achieved by choosing *N* to be sufficiently large.

Proof of (5.2). From (2.15b), we deduce that $\mathbb{R} \simeq (g^{-1})^2 \partial^2 g + (g^{-1})^3 (\partial g)^2$. Hence, we can bound these products by bounding each factor in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_I)}$ with the help of estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12b) and the bootstrap assumptions, thereby deducing that

$$|\mathbf{R}| \lesssim t^{-10q - A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} \lesssim \varepsilon t^{-10q - A\delta}.$$
(5.31)

From (3.2), both inequalities in (5.31), and equation (2.13b) (multiplied by t^2), we deduce that if $A\delta < \sigma$, then

$$|t^{2}g^{ab}\nabla_{a}\nabla_{b}n - (n-1)\{1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)\}| \lesssim t^{2-10q-A\delta}\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}$$

$$\lesssim t^{2-10q-\sigma}\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(5.32)

At any point $p_{(Max)} \in \Sigma_t$ at which n-1 achieves its maximum value, we have that $g^{ab} \nabla_a \nabla_b n \leq 0$. From this fact and estimate (5.32), it follows that

$$(n-1)|_{p_{(Max)}} \lesssim t^{2-10q-\sigma} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

Using similar reasoning, we deduce that at any point $p_{(Min)} \in \Sigma_t$ at which n - 1 achieves its minimum value, we have the estimate

$$(n-1)|_{p(Min)} \gtrsim -t^{2-10q-\sigma} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

Combining these two estimates, we find that

$$\|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{2-10q-\sigma} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\},\$$

which, in view of definition (3.15b), yields (5.2).

Proof of (5.4) *and* (5.5). In view of Definition 3.16, we see that to obtain (5.4) and (5.5), it suffices to prove the following estimates:

$$\left[\int_{\Sigma_{t}} (|t^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}n|_{g}^{2} + |t^{A}\partial_{\vec{I}}n|^{2}) dx \right]^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C_{*} \|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L_{g}^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} + Ct^{\sigma} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}, \quad (|\vec{I}| = N),$$

$$\left[\int_{\Sigma_{t}} (|t^{A+q}\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}n|_{g}^{2} + |t^{A+q-1}\partial_{\vec{I}}n|^{2}) dx \right]^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\} \quad (|\vec{I}| = N - 1).$$

$$(5.33)$$

To prove (5.33), we let \vec{I} be any spatial derivative multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. Multiplying equation (5.11) by $t^A \partial_{\vec{I}} n$ and integrating by parts over Σ_t , we deduce

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Sigma_{t}} (|t^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\bar{I}}n|_{g}^{2} + (t^{A}\partial_{\bar{I}}n)^{2}) \, dx &\leq \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |(t\partial_{b}g^{ab})(t^{A+1}\partial_{a}\partial\partial_{\bar{I}}n)(t^{A}\partial_{\bar{I}}n)| \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})} \mathfrak{N}| |t^{A}\partial_{\bar{I}}n| \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \mathfrak{N}| |t^{A}\partial_{\bar{I}}n| \, dx. \end{split}$$
(5.35)

Next, we use (3.2), (4.2a), (4.12b), the bootstrap assumptions, and *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz to deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} |t\partial_{b}g^{ab}||t^{A+1}\partial_{a}\partial_{\vec{I}}n| &\lesssim |g_{ac}(t\partial_{b}g^{ab})(t\partial_{d}g^{cd})|^{1/2}|t^{A+1}\partial_{d\vec{I}}n|_{g} \\ &\lesssim t\|g\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}|t^{A+1}\partial_{d\vec{I}}n|_{g} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon|t^{A+1}\partial_{d\vec{I}}n|_{g}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.36)

From (5.35), (5.36), and Young's inequality, we deduce that if ε is sufficiently small, then

$$\int_{\Sigma_{t}} (|t^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\bar{I}}n|_{g}^{2} + |t^{A}\partial_{\bar{I}}n|^{2}) dx$$

$$\leq C\varepsilon \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |t^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\bar{I}}n|_{g}^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |t^{A}\partial\partial_{\bar{I}}n|^{2} dx$$

$$+ 4 \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |^{(\text{Border};\bar{I})} \mathfrak{N}|^{2} dx + 4 \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |^{(\text{Junk};\bar{I})} \mathfrak{N}|^{2} dx.$$
(5.37)

Using (5.19) and (5.20) to bound the last two integrals on the right-hand side of (5.37), and soaking (assuming ε is sufficiently small) the first two terms on the right-hand side of (5.37) and the first term on the right-hand side of (5.19) back into the left-hand side of (5.37), we arrive at (5.33).

Similarly, to prove inequality (5.34), we let \vec{I} be any spatial derivative multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$. We multiply equation (5.13) by $t^{A+q-1}\partial_{\vec{I}}n$, use (5.31), use the bound

$$|(t\partial_b g^{ab})(t^{A+q}\partial_a\partial_{\bar{l}}n)(t^{A+q-1}\partial_{\bar{l}}n)| \lesssim \varepsilon |t^{A+q}\partial_{\bar{l}}n|_g |t^{A+q-1}\partial_{\bar{l}}n|$$

(which follows from essentially the same reasoning we used to prove (5.36)), and argue as in the previous paragraph to deduce the following analog of (5.37):

$$\int_{\Sigma_{t}} (|t^{A+q}\partial\partial_{\vec{l}}n|_{g}^{2} + \{1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)\}|t^{A+q-1}\partial_{\vec{l}}n|^{2}) dx$$

$$\leq C\varepsilon \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |t^{A+q}\partial\partial_{\vec{l}}n|_{g}^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |t^{A+q-1}\partial\partial_{\vec{l}}n|^{2} dx + 4 \int_{\Sigma_{t}} |\overset{(\vec{l})}{\mathfrak{N}}|^{2} dx.$$
(5.38)

Soaking the first two terms on the right-hand side of (5.38) back into the left-hand side and using (5.21) to bound the last integral on the right-hand side of (5.38), we arrive at (5.34).

Proof of (5.3). We argue as in the proof of (5.2), but using estimate (5.18) to control the right-hand side of (5.7). This leads to the bound

$$\|\partial_t n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{1-10q-\sigma} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \}.$$

Using Definition 3.16 and estimates (5.2), (5.4), and (5.5), we have that

$$\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \leq C \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\},\$$

which, when combined with the previous estimate, yields the desired bound (5.3).

6. Estimates for the low-order derivatives of g and k

Our main goal in this section is to prove the following proposition, which provides the integral inequality that we use to control the low norm $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$. The proof of the proposition is located in Section 6.2. In Section 6.1, we derive the equations that we will use in proving it.

Proposition 6.1 (Integral inequality for $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$). Recall that $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$ is the low-order norm from Definition 3.14, and assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. If N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , then there exists a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following estimate holds for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) \le C \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s) \} \, ds. \tag{6.2}$$

6.1. The equations

In this subsection, we derive the equations that we use to control g and k at the lowest derivative levels.

Lemma 6.3 (A rewriting of the equations verified by g and k). Let \tilde{g} and \tilde{k} denote the background Kasner solution variables with corresponding Kasner exponents $\{q_i\}_{i=1,...,D}$. Then the following evolution equations hold, where $i \leq j$ in (6.4a)–(6.4b) and there is no summation over j in (6.4a)–(6.4b) (note that $t^{-2q_j}\tilde{g}_{ij} = t^{2q_j}(\tilde{g}^{-1})^{ij} = \text{diag}(1,1,...,1)$):

$$\partial_{t} \{ t^{-2q_{j}} g_{ij} - t^{-2q_{j}} \widetilde{g}_{ij} \} = -2t^{-2q_{j}} \{ g_{ia} - \widetilde{g}_{ia} \} \{ k^{a}_{j} - \widetilde{k}^{a}_{j} \}$$
$$-2t^{2q_{i}-2q_{j}} \{ k^{i}_{j} - \widetilde{k}^{i}_{j} \}$$
$$-2t^{-2q_{j}} (n-1)g_{ia}k^{a}_{j}, \qquad (6.4a)$$

$$\partial_{t} \{ t^{2q_{j}} g^{ij} - t^{2q_{j}} (\widetilde{g}^{-1})^{ij} \} = 2t^{2q_{j}} \{ g^{ia} - (\widetilde{g}^{-1})^{ia} \} \{ k_{a}^{j} - \widetilde{k}_{a}^{j} \} + 2t^{-2q_{i}+2q_{j}} \{ k_{i}^{j} - \widetilde{k}_{i}^{j} \} + 2t^{2q_{j}} (n-1)g^{ia} k_{a}^{j}.$$
(6.4b)

Moreover, the following evolution equation holds (note that $t\tilde{k}_{j}^{i} = -\text{diag}(q_{1}, \dots, q_{D})$):

$$\partial_t \{ tk^i_{\ j} - t\widetilde{k}^i_{\ j} \} = (1-n)k^i_{\ j} - tg^{ia}\partial_a\partial_j n + tg^{ia}\Gamma^b_{a\ j}\partial_b n + tn\operatorname{Ric}^i_{\ j}.$$
(6.5)

Proof. Throughout this proof, we do not use Einstein summation over *j*. To derive equation (6.4a), we first use equation (2.12a) and the fact that $t^{-2q_j}\widetilde{g}_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$ (where δ_{ij} is the standard Kronecker delta) to deduce

$$\partial_t \{ t^{-2q_j} g_{ij} - t^{-2q_j} \widetilde{g}_{ij} \} = -2t^{-2q_j} g_{ia} k^a_{\ j} - 2q_j t^{-2q_j-1} g_{ij} -2t^{-2q_j} (n-1) g_{ia} k^a_{\ j}.$$
(6.6)

Since $\widetilde{k} = -t^{-1} \text{diag}(q_1, \dots, q_D)$, we can express the first two products on the right-hand side of (6.6) as follows:

$$-2t^{-2q_j}g_{ia}k^a_{\ j} - 2q_jt^{-2q_j-1}g_{ij} = -2t^{-2q_j}g_{ia}\{k^a_{\ j} - \widetilde{k}^a_{\ j}\}$$

Next, using that $\tilde{g} = \text{diag}(t^{2q_1}, \dots, t^{2q_D})$ and $\tilde{k} = -t^{-1}\text{diag}(q_1, \dots, q_D)$, we express the right-hand side of the previous expression as follows:

$$-2t^{-2q_j}g_{ia}\{k^a_{\ j}-\widetilde{k}^a_{\ j}\} = -2t^{-2q_j}\{g_{ia}-\widetilde{g}_{ia}\}\{k^a_{\ j}-\widetilde{k}^a_{\ j}\} - 2t^{2q_i-2q_j}\{k^i_{\ j}-\widetilde{k}^i_{\ j}\}.$$

Combining these calculations, we arrive at (6.4a).

Equation (6.4b) can be derived by applying similar arguments to equation (2.12b), and we omit the details.

Equation (6.5) follows from multiplying both sides of equation (2.12c) by t and using $t\tilde{k} = -\text{diag}(q_1, \dots, q_D)$.

6.2. Proof of Proposition 6.1

In this subsection, we prove Proposition 6.1. In this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed *A*, this can be achieved by choosing *N* to be sufficiently large.

First, we note that to obtain (6.2), it suffices to show that the following bounds hold:

$$\|t^{2q}g - t^{2q}\widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \quad (6.7) \\\|t^{2q}g^{-1} - t^{2q}\widetilde{g}^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \quad (6.8) \\\|tk - t\widetilde{k}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1)$$

+
$$C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s) \} ds.$$
 (6.9)

For we can then use the symmetry property $k_{ab} = k_{ba}$ and the fact that $(t\tilde{k}_{b}^{a})(t\tilde{k}_{a}^{b}) = 1$ to derive the identity

$$|tk|_g - 1 = \sqrt{1 + 2(t\widetilde{k}^a_b)\{tk^b_a - t\widetilde{k}^b_a\}} + \{tk^a_b - t\widetilde{k}^a_b\}\{tk^b_a - t\widetilde{k}^b_a\} - 1,$$

which, in conjunction with the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) and estimates (4.2b) and (6.9), also yields (upon Taylor expanding the square root) the estimate

$$\||tk|_g - 1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \le C \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + \int_{s=t}^1 s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} \, ds.$$
(6.10)

In view of definition (3.15a), from (6.7)–(6.10), we conclude the desired estimate (6.2).

It remains for us to prove (6.7)–(6.9). We first prove (6.7) by analyzing equation (6.4a). From Definition 3.14, estimates (4.2a), (4.2b), and (5.2), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce, by bounding each factor on the right-hand side of (6.4a) in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$, that the following estimate holds:

$$\begin{aligned} |\text{RHS } (6.4a)| &\leq C \varepsilon t^{-1-2q-2q_j} \| t^{2q} g - t^{2q} \widetilde{g} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \\ &+ C t^{-1+2q_i-2q_j} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} \\ &+ C t^{1-12q-\sigma-2q_j} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.11)

From (3.2), we deduce that the last two products on the right-hand side of (6.11) are $\leq Ct^{\sigma-1-2q-2q_j} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$ for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$. Hence, with the help of these bounds, we can integrate equation (6.4a) from time *t* to time 1 and use the initial data bound $||g - \tilde{g}||_{L^{\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_1)} \leq C \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1)$ to deduce the following estimate for components, where we do not sum over *j* on the left-hand side of (6.12):

$$t^{-2q_{j}}|g_{ij} - \widetilde{g}_{ij}| \leq C \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \varepsilon \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1-2q-2q_{j}} \|s^{2q}g - s^{2q}\widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{s})} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1-2q-2q_{j}} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds.$$
(6.12)

Multiplying both sides of (6.12) by t^{2q+2q_j} and using (3.2), we deduce

$$|t^{2q}g_{ij} - t^{2q}\widetilde{g}_{ij}| \le C\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C\varepsilon t^{2q+2q_j} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1-2q-2q_j} ||s^{2q}g - s^{2q}\widetilde{g}||_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_s)} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds.$$
(6.13)

We now define $G(t) := \sup_{s \in [t,1]} \|s^{2q}g - s^{2q}\widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_s)}$. Next, with the help of (3.2), we deduce the following estimate for the first integral on the right-hand side of (6.13):

$$C\varepsilon t^{2q+2q_j} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1-2q-2q_j} \|s^{2q}g - s^{2q}\widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_s)} ds$$
$$\leq C\varepsilon G(t) t^{2q+2q_j} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1-2q-2q_j} ds \leq C\varepsilon G(t).$$
(6.14)

From (6.13) and (6.14), we deduce that for $(t, x) \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$, we have

$$|t^{2q}g_{ij} - t^{2q}\widetilde{g}_{ij}| \le C\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C\varepsilon G(t) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} \, ds.$$
(6.15)

From (6.15), it follows that

$$G(t) \le C \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \varepsilon G(t) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s) \} \, ds.$$
(6.16)

For ε sufficiently small, we can absorb the product $C \varepsilon G(t)$ on the right-hand side of (6.16) back into the left-hand side (at the minor expense of increasing the constants *C* on the right-hand side). From these arguments, we conclude the bound

$$G(t) \leq C \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s) \} ds,$$

which in particular implies the desired bound (6.7).

Estimate (6.8) can be proved using a similar argument based on the evolution equation (6.4b), and we omit these details.

To prove (6.9), we note that the right-hand side of (6.5) can be expressed (with the help of (2.15b)) in the schematic form

$$(1-n)k + tg^{-1}\partial^2 n + tg^{-2}(\partial g)\partial n + tng^{-2}\partial^2 g + tng^{-3}(\partial g)\partial g.$$

Hence, commuting (6.5) with up to two spatial derivatives and bounding all of the resulting products by bounding each factor in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_I)}$ with the help of Definition 3.14, Lemma 4.1, Lemma 4.11, (5.2), (5.4), (5.5), and the bootstrap assumptions, and also using Young's inequality, we find, in view of (3.2), that if $A\delta$ is sufficiently small, then

$$\|\partial_{t}\{tk - t\widetilde{k}\}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq Ct^{1-10q-\sigma-A\delta}\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\} + Ct^{3-16q-\sigma-A\delta}\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\} \leq Ct^{\sigma-1}\{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(6.17)

Integrating (6.17) in time and using the initial data bound $||k - \widetilde{k}||_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_1)} \leq \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(1)$, we conclude (6.9). We have therefore proved the proposition.

7. Estimates for the top-order derivatives of g and k

Our main goal in this section is to prove the following proposition, which provides the main integral inequality for the top-order derivatives of g and k. The proof is located in Section 7.4. In Sections 7.1–7.3, we derive the identities and estimates that we will use when proving the proposition.

Proposition 7.1 (Integral inequality for the top-order derivatives of g and k). Let \vec{I} be a top-order spatial multi-index, that is, a multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exists a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of N and A and a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , and if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{I})}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{I})}^{2}$$

$$\leq C\mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - \{2A - C_{*}\}\int_{s=t}^{1}s^{-1}\{\|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{S})}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{S})}^{2}\}ds$$

$$+ C\int_{s=t}^{1}s^{\sigma-1}\{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\}ds.$$
(7.2)

7.1. The equations

In this subsection, we derive the equations that we will use when deriving estimates for g and k at the high derivative levels.

Lemma 7.3 (The equations verified by the high-order derivatives of the metric and second fundamental form). Let \vec{I} be a top-order spatial multi-index, that is, a multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. Then the following commuted momentum constraint equations hold (see Remark 3.9):

$$t^{A+1}\partial_a\partial_{\vec{l}}k^a_{\ i} = {}^{(\text{Border};I)}\mathfrak{M}_i + {}^{(\text{Junk};I)}\mathfrak{M}_i, \qquad (7.4a)$$

$$t^{A+1}g^{ab}\partial_a\partial_{\vec{l}}k^i_{\ b} = {}^{(\text{Border};I)}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^i + {}^{(\text{Junk};I)}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^i, \qquad (7.4b)$$

where (see Section 1.8.7 regarding our use of notation $\stackrel{*}{\simeq}$ and \simeq , and see Remarks 2.6 and 3.9)

$$\underset{i}{(\text{Border};I)}\mathfrak{M}_{i} \stackrel{*}{\simeq} t^{A+1}g^{-1}(\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}g)k, \tag{7.5a}$$

$$^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})}\mathfrak{M}_{i} \simeq \sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\ |\vec{I}_{2}|\leq N-1}} t^{A+1} (\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1}) (\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g) \partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k, \tag{7.5b}$$

$$(\text{Border}; \vec{I}) \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}^{i} \stackrel{*}{\simeq} t^{A+1} (g^{-1})^{2} (\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} g) k,$$

$$(\text{Junk}; \vec{I}) \widetilde{\infty}^{i} \qquad \sum q^{A+1} (g^{-1})^{2} (\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} g) k,$$

$$(7.5c)$$

$$\lim_{I_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}} t^{A+1} (\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1}) (\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g^{-1}) (\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g) \partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}k.$$
(7.5d)
$$|\vec{I}_{3}| \leq N-1$$

Moreover, for any constant $P \ge 0$ and for any spatial multi-index \vec{I} , the following commuted evolution equations hold:

$$\partial_{t}(t^{A+P}\partial_{e}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ij}) = \frac{1}{t}\{(A+P)\delta^{a}_{\ j} - 2tk^{a}_{\ j}\}(t^{A+P}\partial_{e}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ia}) - 2t^{A+P}ng_{ia}\partial_{e}\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{a}_{\ j} + {}^{(\text{Border};P;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{S}_{eij} + {}^{(\text{Junk};P;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{S}_{eij}, \qquad (7.6a)$$

$$\partial_{t}(t^{A+P}\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{i}_{\ j}) = (A+P-1)t^{A+P-1}\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{i}_{\ j} - t^{A+P}g^{ia}\partial_{a}\partial_{j}\partial_{\bar{I}}n + \frac{1}{2}t^{A+P}ng^{ic}g^{ab}\{\partial_{a}\partial_{c}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bj} + \partial_{a}\partial_{j}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc} - \partial_{a}\partial_{b}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{cj} - \partial_{c}\partial_{j}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ab}\}$$

$$+ {}^{(\text{Border};P;\bar{I})}\mathfrak{K}^{i}{}_{j} + {}^{(\text{Junk};P;\bar{I})}\mathfrak{K}^{i}{}_{j}, \qquad (7.6b)$$

where δ^{i}_{j} is the standard Kronecker delta, and (Border; P; \vec{l}) $\tilde{c}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A + P_{i}) \hat{c}_{i}$

and

Proof. To prove (7.4a), we first write equation (2.11b) relative to the transported spatial coordinates in the schematic form $\partial_a k^a_i = g^{-1}(\partial g)k$. Commuting this equation with $t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}$, we arrive at (7.4a). The proof of (7.4b) is similar, but we start by raising the index *i* in equation (2.11b) to deduce $g^{ab}\nabla_a k^i_b = 0$ and then (schematically) writing this equation in coordinates as $g^{ab}\partial_a k^i_b = g^{-2}(\partial g)k$.

To prove (7.6a), we commute equation (2.12a) with $\partial_e \partial_{\vec{I}}$ and then with t^{A+P} and carry out straightforward computations.

To prove (7.6b), we first use (2.15b) to decompose

$$\operatorname{Ric}^{i}_{\ j} = \frac{1}{2}g^{ic}g^{ab}\{\partial_{a}\partial_{c}g_{bj} + \partial_{a}\partial_{j}g_{bc} - \partial_{a}\partial_{b}g_{cj} - \partial_{c}\partial_{j}g_{ab}\} + \operatorname{Error}^{i}_{\ j},$$
(7.9)

where (schematically) $\text{Error} = g^{-3}(\partial g)^2$. We now use (7.9) to decompose the term Ric_{j}^{i} on the right-hand side of (2.12c), commute the evolution equation (2.12c) with $\partial_{\vec{l}}$ and then with t^{A+P} , and carry out straightforward computations, thereby arriving at (7.6b).

7.2. Energy currents

When deriving top-order energy estimates (see the proof of Proposition 7.1), we will integrate by parts by applying the divergence theorem on spacetime regions of the form $[t, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^D$ with the help of the vectorfields (\vec{I}) **J** featured in the following definition. Put differently, the vectorfields (\vec{I}) **J** are convenient for bookkeeping during integration by parts.

Remark 7.10 (Another way to think about the results of this subsection). Roughly speaking, Definition 7.11 and the ensuing Lemma 7.14 are equivalent to setting P = 1 in the

equations of Lemma 7.3, then multiplying equation (7.6a) by the *g*-dual of $\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} g$, multiplying (7.6b) by the *g*-dual of $\partial_{\vec{I}} k$, differentiating by parts, and using the constraints (7.4a)–(7.4b) to eliminate all terms involving $|\vec{I}| + 2$ derivatives of *g*, $|\vec{I}| + 2$ derivatives of *n*, and $|\vec{I}| + 1$ derivatives of *k*, up to a perfect divergence term (which appears on the left-hand side of (7.15) as $\partial_{\alpha} (\vec{I}) \mathbf{J}^{\alpha}$). That is, the results of this subsection are just an intricate differential version of integration by parts that relies on the evolution equations (7.6a)–(7.6b) and the constraint equations (7.4a)–(7.4b).

Definition 7.11 (Energy current vectorfields). To each top-order spatial multi-index \vec{I} (i.e., $|\vec{I}| = N$), we associate the energy current ${}^{(\vec{I})}\mathbf{J}$, which we define to be the vectorfield with the following components relative to the CMC-transported spatial coordinates:

$$\begin{split} {}^{(\vec{I})}\mathbf{J}^{0} &:= |t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2}, \end{split} (7.12a) \\ {}^{(\vec{I})}\mathbf{J}^{j} &:= 2g^{ab}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k_{a}^{j})(t^{A+1}\partial_{b}\partial_{\vec{I}}n) + ng^{ij}g^{bc}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k_{b}^{a})(t^{A+1}\partial_{i}\partial_{\vec{I}}g_{ac}) \\ &+ ng^{ab}g^{cd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k_{c}^{j})(t^{A+1}\partial_{d}\partial_{\vec{I}}g_{ab}) \\ &- ng^{ab}g^{cd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k_{c}^{j})(t^{A+1}\partial_{a}\partial_{\vec{I}}g_{bd}) \\ &- ng^{ab}g^{jc}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k_{c}^{d})(t^{A+1}\partial_{a}\partial_{\vec{I}}g_{bd}). \end{split} (7.12b$$

Remark 7.13. The components $\{{}^{(\vec{I})}\mathbf{J}^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha=0,\dots,D}$ are quadratic forms in $(\partial_{\vec{I}}k, \partial_{\vec{I}}g, \partial_{\vec{I}}g, \partial_{\vec{I}}n)$ with coefficients that depend on g, g^{-1} , and n.

Lemma 7.14 (Divergence identity verified by (\vec{I}) **J**). Let \vec{I} be a top-order spatial multiindex, that is, a multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. Then for solutions to the commuted equations of Lemma 7.3 with P = 1 in equations (7.6a)–(7.6b), the spacetime vectorfield (\vec{I}) **J** from Definition 7.11 verifies the following divergence identity relative to the CMC-transported spatial coordinates:

$$\partial_{\alpha}{}^{(\vec{I})}\mathbf{J}^{\alpha} = \frac{2A}{t} |t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{A+1}{2t} |t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} + {}^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})}\mathfrak{F} + {}^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})}\mathfrak{F}, \quad (7.15)$$

where

$$^{(\text{Border};I)}\mathfrak{J} := 2t^{A+1}g_{ac}g^{bd}(\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{a}_{b})^{(\text{Border};1;I)}\mathfrak{K}^{c}_{d} + \frac{1}{2}t^{A+1}g^{ad}g^{be}g^{cf}(\partial_{a}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc})^{(\text{Border};1;\bar{I})}\mathfrak{H}_{def} + 2t^{A+1}g^{ab}(\partial_{a}\partial_{\bar{I}}n)^{(\text{Border};\bar{I})}\mathfrak{M}_{b} + t^{A+1}ng^{ab}g^{cd}(\partial_{c}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ab})^{(\text{Border};\bar{I})}\mathfrak{M}_{d} - t^{A+1}ng^{ab}g^{cd}(\partial_{a}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc})^{(\text{Border};\bar{I})}\mathfrak{M}_{d} - t^{A+1}ng^{ab}(\partial_{a}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc})^{(\text{Border};\bar{I})}\mathfrak{M}_{d} - t^{A+1}ng^{ab}(\partial_{a}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc})^{(\text{Border};\bar{I})}\mathfrak{M}_{d} - 2t^{2A+2}ng_{ac}g^{id}k^{b}_{i}(\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{a}_{b})(\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{c}_{d}) - 2t^{2A+2}ng_{ai}g^{bd}k^{i}_{c}(\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{b}_{b})(\partial_{\bar{I}}k^{c}_{d})$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ \frac{1}{2} t^{2A+2} ng^{be} g^{cf} g^{id} k_{i}^{a} (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bc}) (\partial_{d} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{ef}) \\ &+ t^{2A+2} ng^{ad} g^{ie} g^{cf} k_{e}^{b} (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bc}) (\partial_{d} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{if}), \end{aligned} (7.16a) \\ ^{(Junk;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{J} := 2t^{A+1} g_{ac} g^{bd} (\partial_{\bar{I}} k_{b}^{a})^{(Junk;1;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{K}_{d}^{c} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} t^{A+1} g^{ad} g^{be} g^{cf} (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bc})^{(Junk;1;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{S}_{def} \\ &+ 2t^{A+1} g^{ab} (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} n)^{(Junk;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{M}_{b} \\ &+ t^{A+1} ng^{ab} g^{cd} (\partial_{c} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{ab})^{(Junk;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{M}_{d} \\ &- t^{A+1} ng^{ab} g^{cd} (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bc})^{(Junk;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{M}_{d} \\ &- t^{A+1} ng^{ab} (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bc})^{(Junk;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{M}_{c} \\ &+ 2t^{2A+2} (\partial_{j} g^{ab}) (\partial_{\bar{I}} k_{a}^{j}) (\partial_{b} \partial_{\bar{I}} n) \\ &+ t^{2A+2} \{\partial_{j} (ng^{ab} g^{cd})\} (\partial_{\bar{I}} k_{b}^{j}) (\partial_{\bar{I}} \partial_{i} g_{ab}) \\ &- t^{2A+2} \{\partial_{j} (ng^{ab} g^{cd})\} (\partial_{\bar{I}} k_{c}^{j}) (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bd}) \\ &- t^{2A+2} \{\partial_{j} (ng^{ab} g^{cd})\} (\partial_{\bar{I}} k_{c}^{j}) (\partial_{a} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{bd}) . \end{aligned} (7.16b)$$

Proof. We view the right-hand sides of equations (7.12a)–(7.12b) as quadratic forms in $(\partial_{\bar{I}}k, \partial_{\bar{I}}g, \partial_{\bar{I}}g, \partial_{\bar{I}}n)$ with coefficients that depend on g, g^{-1} , and n. We now consider the expression $\partial_{\alpha}(\bar{I})\mathbf{J}^{\alpha}$. On the right-hand side of (7.16b), we place all terms in which spatial derivatives ∂_{j} fall on the coefficients. In contrast, when ∂_{t} falls on g or g^{-1} , we use (2.12a)–(2.12b) to substitute for $\partial_{t}g$ and $\partial_{t}g^{-1}$ and then place the resulting terms on the right-hand side of (7.16a) (as the last four products). Next, we consider all of the terms in the expression $\partial_{\alpha}(\bar{I})\mathbf{J}^{\alpha}$ in which a derivative falls on one of $\partial_{\bar{I}}k, \partial_{\bar{I}}g$, or $\partial_{\bar{I}}n$. For these terms, we use equations (7.4a)–(7.4b) and (7.6a)–(7.6b) for algebraic substitution, where P = 1 (by assumption) in (7.6a)–(7.6b). More precisely, in the expression $\partial_{\alpha}(\bar{I})\mathbf{J}^{\alpha}$, we use equation (7.6b) to substitute for the factor $\partial_{t}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\bar{I}}k_{d}^{c})$ in

$$2g_{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{l}}k^a_{\ b})\partial_t(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{l}}k^c_{\ d}),$$

equation (7.6a) to substitute for the factor $\partial_t (t^{A+1} \partial_{\vec{i}} \partial_d \partial g_{ef})$ in

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{ad}g^{be}g^{cf}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}\partial_a\partial g_{bc})\partial_t(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}\partial_d\partial g_{ef}),$$

equation (7.4a) to substitute for the factor $(t^{A+1}\partial_j \partial_{\vec{l}} k^j_a)$ in

$$2g^{ab}(t^{A+1}\partial_j\partial_{\vec{l}}k^j_a)(t^{A+1}\partial_b\partial_{\vec{l}}n),$$

the factor $(t^{A+1}\partial_j \partial_{\vec{l}} k_c^j)$ in

$$ng^{ab}g^{cd}(t^{A+1}\partial_j\partial_{\vec{l}}k^j_c)(t^{A+1}\partial_d\partial_{\vec{l}}g_{ab}),$$

and the factor $(t^{A+1}\partial_j \partial_{\vec{l}} k_c^j)$ in

$$-ng^{ab}g^{cd}(t^{A+1}\partial_j\partial_{\vec{I}}k^j_c)(t^{A+1}\partial_a\partial_{\vec{I}}g_{bd}),$$

and equation (7.4b) to substitute for the factor $g^{jc}(t^{A+1}\partial_j\partial_{\vec{i}}k_c^d)$ in

$$-ng^{ab}g^{jc}(t^{A+1}\partial_j\partial_{\vec{l}}k^d_c)(t^{A+1}\partial_a\partial_{\vec{l}}g_{bd})$$

These algebraic substitutions lead to the elimination of all products that depend on a derivative of $(\partial_{\vec{l}}k, \partial_{\partial_{\vec{l}}}g, \partial_{\partial_{\vec{l}}}n)$, at the expense of introducing products that depend on the inhomogeneous terms, for example

$$2g_{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k^{a}_{b})^{(\text{Border};1;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{K}^{c}_{d} \quad \text{and} \quad 2g_{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k^{a}_{b})^{(\text{Junk};1;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{K}^{c}_{d}$$

We place the borderline error term products such as

$$2g_{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k^{a}_{b})^{(\text{Border};1;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{K}^{c}_{d}$$

on the right-hand side of (7.16a) and the junk error term products such as

$$2g_{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k^{a}_{b})^{(\operatorname{Junk};1;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{K}^{c}_{d}$$

on the right-hand side of (7.16b). Moreover, as the first product on the right-hand side of (7.15), we place

$$\frac{2A}{t}|t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_g^2,$$

which is generated by the first term on the right-hand side of (7.6b) when we use equation (7.6b) (with P = 1) to substitute for the factor $\partial_t (t^{A+1} \partial_{\bar{I}} k^c_d)$ in the expression

$$2g_{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{l}}k^{a}_{\ b})\partial_{t}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{l}}k^{c}_{\ d}).$$

Finally, as the second product on the right-hand side of (7.15), we place

$$\frac{A+1}{2t}|t^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_g^2,$$

which is generated by the first term on the right-hand side of (7.6a) when we use equation (7.6a) to substitute for the factor $\partial_t (t^{A+1} \partial_{\vec{I}} \partial_d \partial g_{ef})$ in the expression

$$\frac{1}{2}g^{ad}g^{be}g^{cf}(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}\partial_a\partial g_{bc})\partial_t(t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}\partial_d\partial g_{ef}).$$

In total, these steps yield the lemma.

7.3. Control of the error terms

In this subsection, we derive estimates for the error terms that will arise when we derive energy estimates for solutions to the equations of Lemma 7.1.

7.3.1. Pointwise estimates for the error terms in the divergence of the energy current. In this subsubsection, we derive pointwise estimates for the error terms $(Border; \vec{I})$ and $(Junk; \vec{I})$ that appear in the expression (7.15) for $\partial_{\alpha}(\vec{I}) \mathbf{J}^{\alpha}$.

Lemma 7.17 (Pointwise estimates for the error terms in the divergence of the energy current). Let \vec{I} be a top-order spatial multi-index, that is, a multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exist a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of N and A and a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , and if ϵ is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the error terms (Border; \vec{I}) \mathfrak{F} and (Junk; \vec{I}) \mathfrak{F} from (7.16a) and (7.16b) verify the following pointwise estimates for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\begin{split} |^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})}\widetilde{\Im}| &\leq C_{*}t^{2A+1}|\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + C_{*}t^{2A+1}|\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} + C_{*}t^{2A+1}|\partial_{\vec{I}}n|_{g}^{2} \\ &+ C_{*}t|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})}\widehat{\Re}|_{g}^{2} + C_{*}t|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I},\vec{I})}\widehat{\Im}|_{g}^{2} \\ &+ C_{*}t|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})}\widehat{\Im}|_{g}^{2} + C_{*}t|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})}\widetilde{\Im}|_{g}^{2}, \qquad (7.18a) \\ |^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})}\widetilde{\Im}| &\leq Ct^{2A+1+\sigma}|\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + Ct^{2A+1+\sigma}|\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} + Ct^{2A+1+\sigma}|\partial_{\vec{I}}n|_{g}^{2} \\ &+ Ct^{1-\sigma}|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I},\vec{I})}\widehat{\Re}|_{g}^{2} + Ct^{1-\sigma}|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I},\vec{I})}\widehat{\Im}|_{g}^{2} \\ &+ Ct^{1-\sigma}|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})}\widehat{\Im}|_{g}^{2} + Ct^{1-\sigma}|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})}\widehat{\Im}|_{g}^{2} \\ &+ Ct^{1-\sigma}|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I},\vec{I})}\widehat{\Im}|_{g}^{2}. \qquad (7.18b) \end{split}$$

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed A, this can be achieved by choosing N to be sufficiently large.

Estimate (7.18a) follows in a straightforward fashion from applying the *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and Young's inequality (in the form $|ab| \le \frac{1}{2}(a^2 + b^2)$) to the products on the right-hand side of (7.16a) and using the estimate $|g|_g = |g^{-1}|_g \le C_*$ as well as the pointwise estimates $|n| \le C_*$ and $|k|_g \le C_*t^{-1}$, which follow from (3.2), Definition 3.14, and the bootstrap assumptions.

To prove (7.18b), we first note the estimate $||n - 1||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_l)} \leq Ct^{\sigma}$, which follows from Definition 3.14, (3.2), and the bootstrap assumptions. Next, we use (4.4) with l = 2 and m = 1 to deduce

$$\|\partial g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq t^{-3q} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Also using (3.2) and (4.12b), we deduce that

$$\|\partial g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq Ct^{-5q-A\delta} \leq Ct^{\sigma-1}$$

Using similar reasoning and the bound (4.12c), we deduce that

$$\|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq Ct^{2-11q-\sigma-A\delta} \leq Ct^{\sigma-1}.$$

Using these three bounds to help control the $|\cdot|_g$ norms of the products on the right-hand side of (7.16b), we can derive inequality (7.18b) using arguments similar to the ones we used to deduce (7.18a).

7.3.2. L^2 estimates for the error terms in the divergence of the energy current. In this subsubsection, we bound the error terms from Lemma 7.3 in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_{\tau})}$.

Lemma 7.19 (L^2 control of the error terms in the top-order energy estimates for g and k). Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exists a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of N and A and a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , and if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$.

• Borderline top-order error term estimates. For each top-order spatial multi-index \vec{I} (i.e., $|\vec{I}| = N$), the following estimates hold for the error terms from (7.5a), (7.5c), (7.7a), and (7.8a), where P = 1 on the right-hand sides of (7.7a) and (7.8a):

$$\|^{(\text{Border};\tilde{I})}\mathfrak{M}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C_* \|t^A \partial \partial_{\tilde{I}} g\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)},\tag{7.20a}$$

$$\|^{(\text{Border};I)}\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}\|_{L^2_{\mathcal{B}}(\Sigma_I)} \le C_* \|t^A \partial \partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^2_{\mathcal{B}}(\Sigma_I)},\tag{7.20b}$$

$$\|^{(\text{Border};1,\bar{I})} \mathfrak{H}\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C_{*} \|t^{A} \partial_{\bar{I}} k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + Ct^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\},$$
(7.20c)

$$\|^{(\text{Border};1;\hat{I})} \mathfrak{K}\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{I})} \leq C_{*} \|t^{A} \partial_{\tilde{I}} k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{I})} + Ct^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}.$$
(7.20d)

• Non-borderline top-order error term estimates. The following estimates hold for the error terms from (7.5b), (7.5d), (7.7b), and (7.8b), where P = 1 on the right-hand sides of (7.7b) and (7.8b):

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};\vec{I})} \mathfrak{M}\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq Ct^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(7.21a)

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};\vec{I})} \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}} \|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(7.21b)

$$\max_{\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};1;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{H}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(7.21c)

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};1;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{K}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$
(7.21d)

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed A, this can be achieved by choosing N to be sufficiently large. We also freely use the observations of Remark 3.13.

The proof of the lemma is lengthy but straightforward. The main task is to control derivatives of products in $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_I)}$. To help the reader navigate the estimates, we make the following remarks.

- To control products involving *n*, we use Proposition 5.1; this allows us to state all of our estimates in term of norms of *g* and *k*.
- The "Borderline" error terms that we have identified throughout the article are the easiest to estimate. The reason is that they are all of the schematic form Lowest * Highest,

where "Lowest" denotes products of g, g^{-1} , and k, and "Highest" denotes a top-order term. We bound all of these products in $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_l)}$ by first bounding their $|\cdot|_g$ norms by $\leq |\text{Lowest}|_g \cdot |\text{Highest}|_g$, using that $|g|_g \leq 1$, $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, $|k|_g \leq t^{-1}$ (where the last estimate is an easy consequence of the bootstrap assumptions), and then bounding

$$\sqrt{\int_{\Sigma_t} |\text{Highest}|_g^2 dx}$$

in terms of $\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$ by directly appealing to Definition 3.16 if "Highest" is a toporder derivative of g of k, or by using Proposition 5.1 if "Highest" is a top-order derivative of n.

- We handle the "Junk" products on a case-by-case basis. To bound them in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$, we rely on all of the norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, the interpolation results provided by Lemma 4.5, the product estimates provided by Lemma 4.8, and the Sobolev embedding results provided by Lemma 4.11. We highlight three crucial things that we have to carefully track:
 - (i) the number of factors of g and g^{-1} in the products (these factors can be hit with derivatives), since our framework allows for the possibility that each of these factors contributes at least a factor of t^{-2q} to the estimates;
 - (ii) the norm comparison results of Lemma 4.3, which show that additional factors of t^{-2q} can be generated in translating from the frame norms $|\cdot|_{\text{Frame}}$ to the geometric norms $|\cdot|_g$; and
 - (iii) the precise details of the way that the *t*-weights appear in Definitions 3.14 and 3.16.

Proof of (7.20a)–(7.20d). Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. We first use Definition 3.14, the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq C_*$, the bootstrap assumptions, and g-Cauchy–Schwarz to bound the product on the right-hand side of (7.5a) as follows:

$$|^{(\text{Border};I)}\mathfrak{M}|_{g} \leq C_{*}t^{A+1}||k||_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}|\partial\partial_{\overline{I}}g|_{g} \leq C_{*}t^{A}|\partial\partial_{\overline{I}}g|_{g}.$$

Taking the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_t)}$ of this inequality, we conclude that

$$\|^{(\text{Border};I)}\mathfrak{M}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C_* \|t^A \partial \partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

as desired. Estimate (7.20b) follows similarly based on equation (7.5c), and we omit the details. The estimates (7.20c) and (7.20d) follow similarly based on equations (7.7a) and (7.8a) (with P = 1 by assumption) and the elliptic estimate (5.4), and we omit the details.

Proof of (7.21a)–(7.21b). We prove only (7.21b); estimate (7.21a) can be proved by applying a similar argument to the products on the right-hand side of (7.5b) and we omit those details. Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. To obtain the desired bound for the sum on the right-hand side of (7.5d), we first consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_1| = N$ or $|\vec{I}_2| = N$. Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we first bound the products under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Applying (4.4) to $\|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{l})}$ (with l = 0 and m = 3), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\operatorname{Frame}(\Sigma_t)}} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{-6q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (7.21b) as desired. We now consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_3| = N - 1$ on the right-hand side of (7.5d). Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we first bound the products under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_x(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}_{g}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{L_{g}^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{g}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Applying (4.4) to $||g^{-1}||_{\dot{W}_{g}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}$ (with l = 2 and m = 0) and to $||k||_{\dot{W}_{g}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}$ (with l = m = 1), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-2q} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{L_{g}^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1-2q} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12b), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{-6q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (7.21b) as desired. We now consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_4| = N$ on the right-hand side of (7.5d). Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we first bound the products under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_u(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Applying (4.4) to $\|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{l})}$ (with l = 0 and m = 3), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{-5q-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (7.21b) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining terms on the right-hand side of (7.5d), in which $|\vec{I}_1|, |\vec{I}_2|, |\vec{I}_4| \leq N - 1$ and $|\vec{I}_3| \leq N - 2$. We first use inequality (4.10) with l = 1 and m = 0 (since $(Junk; \vec{I}) \mathfrak{M}^i$ is a type $\binom{1}{0}$ tensorfield) and (4.6) to bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}+\vec{l}_{4}=\vec{l}\\|\vec{l}_{1}|,|\vec{l}_{2}|,|\vec{l}_{4}|\leq N-1\\|\vec{l}_{3}|\leq N-2}\leq t^{A+1-q}\|g^{-1}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}\\+t^{A+1-q}\|g^{-1}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}\\+t^{A+1-q}\|g^{-1}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}\\+t^{A+1-q}\|g^{-1}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}\\+t^{A+1-q}\|g^{-1}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|k\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(7.22)

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.2b), (4.12a), and (4.12b), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.22)
$$\lesssim t^{1-10q-3\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21b) as desired.

Proof of (7.21c). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we have P = 1 and $|\vec{I}| = N$.

To bound the first product on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we first use g-Cauchy–Schwarz to deduce that it is bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\leq t^{A+1} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, (3.2), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{1-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \lesssim t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$$

as desired.

To complete the proof of (7.21c), we must bound the three sums on the right-hand side of (7.7b) in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$. To bound the first sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we first consider the products with $|\vec{I}_3| = N$. Using that $|g|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we first bound the products under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_v(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Applying (4.4) to $\|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{l})}$ (with l = 0 and m = 1), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-q} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{2-11q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (7.21c) as desired. It remains for us to bound the products in the first sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b) with $|\vec{I}_1|, |\vec{I}_3| \le N - 1$. We first use inequality (4.10) with l = 0 and m = 3 (since (Junk; $P; \vec{I})$) is a type $\binom{0}{3}$ tensorfield) and (4.6) to deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that the products under consideration are bounded as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{3}|\leq N-1}} t^{A+1} \| (\partial \partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k \|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$
(7.23)
$$\lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|n-1\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1-3q} \|n-1\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1-3q} \|g\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1-3q} \|n-1\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.2b), (4.12a), and (4.12c), the elliptic estimates (5.2) and (5.4), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.23)
$$\lesssim t^{3-18q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

+ $t^{2-15q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$
+ $t^{-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$ (7.24)

In view of (3.2), we see that RHS (7.24) \lesssim RHS (7.21c) as desired.

To bound the second sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we first consider the products with $|\vec{I}_3| = N$. Using g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we first bound the products under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}$$

Applying (4.4) to $\|\partial g\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ (with l = 0 and m = 3), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{-5q-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (7.21c) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining terms in the second sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b), in which $|\vec{I}_2|, |\vec{I}_3| \leq N - 1$. We first use (4.10) with l = 0 and m = 3 (since $(\text{Junk}; P; \vec{I}) \leq 1$ is a type $\binom{0}{3}$ tensorfield) and (4.6) to deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that the terms under consideration are bounded as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{l}_{1}+\vec{l}_{2}+\vec{l}_{3}=\vec{l}\\|\vec{l}_{2}|,|\vec{l}_{3}|\leq N-1}} t^{A+1} \|(\partial_{\vec{l}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{l}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{l}_{3}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-3q} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(7.25)

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2b), (4.12a), and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS
$$(7.25) \lesssim t^{1-8q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{-5q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21c) as desired.

To bound the last sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we first consider the products with $|\vec{I}_3| = N - 1$. Using that $|g|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we first bound the products under consideration in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_x(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 2) to estimate $||g||_{\dot{W}_{g}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}$, and using the definition of the norms $|| \cdot ||_{\dot{H}_{g}^{M}(\Sigma_{t})}$ and $|| \cdot ||_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$, we deduce (see Remark 3.13) that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12a) and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{2-11q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{-5q-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (7.21c) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining terms in the last sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b), in which $|\vec{I}_3| \le N - 2$. We first use (4.10) with l = 0 and m = 3 (since (Junk; $P; \vec{I}) \le$ is a type $\binom{0}{3}$ tensorfield) and (4.6) to deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that the terms under consideration are bounded as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{3}|\leq N-2}} t^{A+1} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k\|_{L_{g}^{2}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W_{Frame}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{Frame}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{Frame}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-3q} \|g\|_{W_{Frame}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{Frame}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{Frame}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W_{Frame}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(7.26)

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12a), and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS
$$(7.26) \lesssim t^{1-8q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{-5q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21c) as desired.

Proof of (7.21d). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we have P = 1 and $|\vec{I}| = N$.

To bound the first sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_2| = N$. Then the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^A \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_{\sigma}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 and (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{1-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \lesssim t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$$

as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_1| \le N - 1$ and $|\vec{I}_2| \le N - 1$. First, using (4.10) with l = m = 1 (since $(\text{Junk}; 1; \vec{I}) \Re$ is a type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensorfield) and (4.6), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) the products under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}\\ |\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{2}|\leq N-1\\ \lesssim t^{A-2q} \|n-1\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A-2q} \|k\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(7.27)

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.27)
$$\lesssim t^{2-15q-2\sigma-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{-3q} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \leq RHS (7.21d) as desired.

To bound the second sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_5| = N$ or $|\vec{I}_6| = N$. Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, we deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

Using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 3) to estimate $\|\partial g\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_l)}$, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{-5q-A8} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$. Using (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq \text{RHS}$ (7.21d) as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_5| \leq N - 1$ and $|\vec{I}_6| \leq N - 1$. Using (4.10) with l = m = 1 (since (Junk; 1; \vec{I}) \Re is a type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensorfield) and (4.6), we deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\dots+\vec{I}_{6}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{5}|,|\vec{I}_{6}|\leq N-1\\\leq t^{A+1-2q}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3}\|g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\partial_{\vec{I}_{5}}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{6}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}}{\|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$
$$+t^{A+1-2q}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-2}\|g^{-$$

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), the elliptic estimate (5.4), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.28)
$$\lesssim t^{1-12q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired.

To bound the third sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_4| = N - 1$. Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_x(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial^2 g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} + t^{A+1} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial^2 g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}$$

Using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 3) to estimate $\|\partial g\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, and using the definition of the norms $\|\cdot\|_{L_{\text{frame}}^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, $\|\cdot\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, and $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}_g^M(\Sigma_t)}$, we deduce (see Remark 3.13) that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+1-3q} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12a) and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{2-11q-\sigma-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)+t^{-6q-A\delta}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t).$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_4| \le N - 2$. Using (4.10) with l = m = 1 (since $(Junk; 1; \vec{I})$ is a type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensorfield) and (4.6), we deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}\\ |\vec{I}_{4}|\leq N-2\\ \leq t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{W^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$
(7.29)

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), the elliptic estimate (5.4), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.29)
$$\lesssim t^{1-8q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired.

To bound the fourth sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_2| = N - 1$. Using g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the terms under consid-

eration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial^{2}n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Using (4.4) (with l = 2 and m = 0) to estimate $||g^{-1}||\dot{w}_g^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_l)$, and using the definition of the norms $|| \cdot ||_{L^{\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_l)}$, $|| \cdot ||_{L^{\infty}_g(\Sigma_l)}$, and $|| \cdot ||\dot{H}_g^M(\Sigma_l)$, we deduce (see Remark 3.13) that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-2q} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12b), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_2| \le N - 2$. Using (4.10) with l = m = 1 (since ^{(Junk; 1; \vec{I}) \Re is a type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensorfield) and (4.6), we deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that}

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{2}|\leq N-2}} t^{A+1} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})\partial^{2}\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}n\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-2q} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(7.30)

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12b), and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.30)
$$\lesssim t^{3-14q-2\sigma-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{1-4q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired.

To bound the last sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_3| = N$. Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_x(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Next, using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 1) to estimate $\|\partial n\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{l})}$, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-q} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^N_{\varphi}(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definition 3.16, estimate (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{2-11q-\sigma-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which, in view of (3.2), is \leq RHS (7.21d) as desired. We now consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_4| = N$. Using

that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the terms under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\varphi}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+1} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Next, using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 3) to estimate $\|\partial g\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_l)}$, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+1-3q} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

From Definition 3.16 and estimate (4.12a), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \lesssim t^{-5q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired. We now consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_3| \le N - 1$ and $|\vec{I}_4| \le N - 1$. Using (4.10) with l = m = 1 (since ^{(Junk; 1; \vec{I}) \Re is a type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensor-field) and (4.6), we deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that}

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{3}|,|\vec{I}_{4}|\leq N-1\\ \lesssim t^{A+1-2q} \|g^{-1}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g^{-}\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}} \\ + t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\|\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\|\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\|\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+1-2q} \|n\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\|\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-}\widetilde{g}\|_{W_{\text{Frame}}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(7.31)

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (7.31)
$$\lesssim t^{1-8q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$

In view of inequalities (3.2), we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is \lesssim RHS (7.21d) as desired. We have therefore proved (7.21d), which completes the proof of the lemma.

7.4. Proof of Proposition 7.1

In this subsection, we prove Proposition 7.1. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed *A*, this can be achieved by choosing *N* to be sufficiently large.

Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$ and let $(\vec{I})\mathbf{J}$ be the energy current from Definition 7.11. Applying the divergence theorem on the region $[t, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$, and consid-

ering equation (7.12a), we deduce that for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$, we have

$$\int_{\Sigma_{t}} \left\{ |t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} |t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} \right\} dx$$
$$= \int_{\Sigma_{1}} \left\{ |\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} |\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} \right\} dx - \int_{s=t}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{s}} \partial_{\alpha}{}^{(\vec{I})} \mathbf{J}^{\alpha} \, dx \, ds.$$
(7.32)

We now use equation (7.15) to substitute for the last integral on the right-hand side of (7.32), thereby obtaining

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Sigma_{I}} \left\{ |t^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}|t^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} \right\} dx \\ &= \int_{\Sigma_{I}} \left\{ |\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}|\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} \right\} dx \\ &- \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \int_{\Sigma_{s}} \left\{ 2A|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k|_{g}^{2} + \frac{A+1}{2}|s^{A+1}\partial\partial_{\vec{I}}g|_{g}^{2} \right\} dx ds \\ &- \int_{s=t}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{s}} (\text{Border};\vec{I}) \Im dx \, ds - \int_{s=t}^{1} \int_{\Sigma_{s}} (\text{Junk};\vec{I}) \Im dx \, ds. \end{split}$$
(7.33)

Next, we use the pointwise estimates (7.18a) and (7.18b) and the elliptic estimate (5.4) to deduce that the last two integrals on the right-hand side of (7.33) are bounded in magnitude by

$$\leq C_* \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \left\{ \|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}k\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \|s^{A+1}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 \right\} ds + C_* \int_{s=t}^{1} s\|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})} \Re\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C_* \int_{s=t}^{1} s\|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})} \Im\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C_* \int_{s=t}^{1} s\|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})} \Im\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C_* \int_{s=t}^{1} s\|^{(\text{Border};\vec{I})} \widetilde{\Im}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{1-\sigma} \|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \Re\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{1-\sigma} \|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \Im\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{1-\sigma} \|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \Im\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{1-\sigma} \|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \widetilde{\Im}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \Im\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{1-\sigma} \|^{(\text{Junk};\vec{I})} \widetilde{\Im}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}^2 ds$$
(7.34)

Next, we use the estimates (7.20a)–(7.21d) to bound the terms on lines two to five of the right-hand side of (7.34). Also noting that the term

$$\int_{\Sigma_1} \left\{ |\partial_{\vec{I}} k|_g^2 + \frac{1}{4} |\partial \partial_{\vec{I}} g|_g^2 \right\} dx$$

on the right-hand side of (7.33) is $\leq C \mathbb{H}^2_{(g,k)}(1)$, we arrive at the desired bound (7.2).

8. Estimates for the near-top-order derivatives of g and k

Our primary goal in this section is to prove the following proposition, which provides the main integral inequalities that we will use to control the near-top-order derivatives of g and k; recall that, as we explained near the end of Section 1.5, for technical reasons, we need these estimates to close our bootstrap argument. The proof of the proposition is located in Section 8.3. In Sections 8.1–8.2, we provide the identities and estimates that we will use when proving the proposition.

Proposition 8.1 (Integral inequalities for the near-top-order derivatives of g and k). We assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exist a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of N and A and a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , and if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following integral inequalities hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\|t^{A+2q+\sigma}g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - 2A \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+2q+\sigma}g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \qquad (8.2a)$$

$$\|t^{A+2q+\sigma}g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - 2A \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+2q+\sigma}g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \quad (8.2b)$$

and

$$\|t^{A+q+\sigma}g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - 2A \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+q+\sigma}g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \qquad (8.3a)$$

$$\|t^{A+q+\sigma}g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - 2A \int_{s=t}^{t} s^{-1} \|s^{A+q+\sigma}g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \quad (8.3b)$$

and

$$\|t^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) -\{2A-C_{*}\} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds, \qquad (8.4)$$
and

$$\|t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1}g\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}^{2}(1) - \{2A - C_{*}\} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+5q+3\sigma-1}g\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{2}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}^{2}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}^{2}(s)\} ds, \qquad (8.5a)$$

$$\|t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1}g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}$$

$$\leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - \{2A - C_{*}\} \int_{s=t}^{t} s^{-1} \|s^{A+5q+3\sigma-1}g^{-1}\|^{2}_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{s})} ds + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds,$$
(8.5b)

and

$$\|t^{A+3q+\sigma}k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - \{2A - C_{*}\} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+3q+\sigma}k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds,$$
(8.6a)

and

$$\|t^{A+3q+\sigma}k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - \{2A - C_{*}\} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \|s^{A+3q+\sigma}k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2} ds + \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds.$$
(8.6b)

8.1. The equations

In this subsection, we derive the evolution equations verified by the near-top-order derivatives of g.

Remark 8.7. Different from the case of g, to prove the desired estimates in Section 8, we do not need to derive a new evolution equation for the derivatives of k; it will suffice for us to use equation (7.6b). We note, however, that in Section 8, we choose the constant P from equation (7.6b) to have a smaller value than it did in Section 7. This corresponds to the fact that our estimates for the below-top-order derivatives for k are less singular as $t \downarrow 0$ compared to our top-order estimates.

Lemma 8.8 (The equations). Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index and let $P \ge 0$ be a constant. Then the following commuted metric evolution equations hold:

$$\partial_t (t^{A+P} \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{ij}) = \frac{1}{t} \{ (A+P) \delta^a_{\ j} - 2nt k^a_{\ j} \} (t^{A+P} \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{ia}) + {}^{(P;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{G}_{ij}, \qquad (8.9a)$$

$$\partial_t (t^{A+P} \partial_{\vec{I}} g^{ij}) = \frac{1}{t} \{ (A+P) \delta^j_a + 2nt k^j_a \} (t^{A+P} \partial_{\vec{I}} g^{ia}) + {}^{(P;\vec{I})} \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}^{ij}, \qquad (8.9b)$$

where

$${}^{(P;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{G}_{ij} \simeq \sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_1 + \vec{I}_2 + \vec{I}_3 = \vec{I} \\ |\vec{I}_2| \le |\vec{I}| - 1}} t^{A+P} (\partial_{\vec{I}_1} n) (\partial_{\vec{I}_2} g) \partial_{\vec{I}_3} k,$$
(8.10a)

$$\overset{(P;\vec{I})}{\mathfrak{S}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{S}}^{ij} \simeq \sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_1 + \vec{I}_2 + \vec{I}_3 = \vec{I} \\ |\vec{I}_2| \le |\vec{I}| - 1}} t^{A+P} (\partial_{\vec{I}_1} n) (\partial_{\vec{I}_2} g^{-1}) \partial_{\vec{I}_3} k.$$
(8.10b)

Proof. Equation (8.9a) follows in a straightforward fashion from commuting equation (2.12a) first with $\partial_{\vec{l}}$, and then with t^{A+P} . Equation (8.9b) follows from applying the same procedure to equation (2.12b).

8.2. Control of the error terms in the near-top-order energy estimates

We now bound various L^2 norms of the error terms from Lemma 8.8 in terms of the solution norms.

Lemma 8.11 (L^2 control of the error terms in the near-below-top-order energy estimates for the g and k). Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. If N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , then there exists a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$.

• Error term estimates for the near-top-order derivatives of g. The following estimates hold for the error terms from (8.10a)–(8.10b):

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(2q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{G}\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(8.12a)

$$\max_{\vec{I}\mid=N} \|^{(2q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}}\|_{L^2_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(8.12b)

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{G}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(8.13a)

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N} \|^{(q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \widetilde{\mathfrak{G}} \|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$
(8.13b)

Furthermore, the following estimates hold for the error terms from (8.10a)–(8.10b):

$$\max_{\substack{|\vec{I}|=N-1}} \|^{(A+5q+3\sigma-1;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{S} \|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} \leq C \varepsilon t^{A+5q+3\sigma-2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} + C t^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}, \quad (8.14a)$$

$$\max_{\substack{|\vec{I}|=N-1}} \|^{(A+5q+3\sigma-1;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{S} \|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} \leq C \varepsilon t^{A+5q+3\sigma-2} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} + C t^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}. \quad (8.14b)$$

In addition, the following estimates hold for the error terms from (7.7a)–(7.7b):

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(\text{Border};2q+\sigma;I)} \mathfrak{S}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le Ct^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(8.15a)

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};2q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{H}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_I)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$
(8.15b)

Let \vec{I} be a spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ and let T be the type $\binom{0}{3} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with the following components relative to the transported spatial coordinates:

$$T_{eij} =: -2ng_{ia}\partial_e\partial_{\vec{l}}k^a_{j}$$

Then the following estimate holds:

$$t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq C t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t).$$
(8.16)

• Error term estimates for the just-below-top-order derivatives of k. The following estimates hold for the error terms from (7.8a)–(7.8b):

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(\text{Border};3q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{K}\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{I})} \le Ct^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}, \quad (8.17a)$$

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(\text{Junk};3q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \widehat{\mathfrak{K}}\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \leq Ct^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}, \quad (8.17b)$$

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(\text{Border};3q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \widehat{\mathcal{S}}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$
(8.17c)

$$\max_{|\vec{I}|=N-1} \|^{(\operatorname{Junk};3q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{K}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_I)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}.$$
(8.17d)

Let \vec{I} be any spatial multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ and let T be the type $\binom{1}{1} \Sigma_t$ -tangent tensorfield with the following components relative to the transported spatial coordinates:

$$T^{i}_{\ j} =: -g^{ia}\partial_{a}\partial_{j}\partial_{\bar{I}}n + \frac{1}{2}ng^{ic}g^{ab}\{\partial_{a}\partial_{c}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bj} + \partial_{a}\partial_{j}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc} - \partial_{a}\partial_{b}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{cj} - \partial_{c}\partial_{j}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ab}\}.$$

Then the following estimates hold:

$$t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$
(8.18a)

$$t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \le C t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t).$$
 (8.18b)

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed *A*, this can be achieved by choosing *N* to be sufficiently large. We also freely use the observations of Remark 3.13.

Proof of (8.12a)–(8.12b). We first prove (8.12a). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (8.10a), we have $P = 2q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N$.

We first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_1| = N$ on the right-hand side of (8.10a). Using now inequalities (4.4) with l = 0 and m = 2 (since $(2q+\sigma; \vec{I})$ is type $\binom{0}{2}$), the fact that $|g|_g \leq 1$, and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the products under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{more}(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|g \cdot k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}$$
$$\lesssim t^{A+\sigma} \|g \cdot k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}$$
$$\lesssim t^{A+\sigma} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, the elliptic estimate (5.4), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

as desired. We next consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_3| = N$ on the right-hand side of (8.10a). Using now inequalities (4.4) with l = 0 and m = 2 (since $(2q+\sigma; \vec{I})$ is type $\binom{0}{2}$), and *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the products under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\text{former}}(\Sigma_l)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_{\sigma}(\Sigma_t)}$$

From inequalities (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$ as desired. It remains for us to consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_1|, |\vec{I}_2|, |\vec{I}_3| \leq N - 1$ on the right-hand side of (8.10a). We first use (4.6) and (4.9) to bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) the products under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}} t^{A+2q+\sigma} \| (\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k \|_{L^{2}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \leq t^{A+2q+\sigma} \| n \|_{W^{1,\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \| k \|_{W^{1,\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g \|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+2q+\sigma} \| n \|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g \|_{W^{1,\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \| k \|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+2q+\sigma} \| g \|_{W^{1,\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \| k \|_{W^{1,\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \| n \|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+2q+\sigma} \| n \|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \| g \|_{W^{1,\infty}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})} \| n \|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$(8.19)$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.2b), (4.12a), and (4.12c), the elliptic estimate (5.5), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that

RHS (8.19)
$$\lesssim t^{-3q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

which, in view of inequalities (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.12a) as desired. We have therefore proved (8.12a).

Estimate (8.12b) can be proved by applying nearly identical arguments to the righthand side of (8.10b) (with $P = 2q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N$), and we omit the details. *Proof of* (8.13a)–(8.13b). We first prove (8.13a). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (8.10a), we have $P = q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N$.

To bound the right-hand side of (8.10a), we first consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_3| = N$. Using that $|g|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the products under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\infty}(\Sigma_I)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_{\mathcal{P}}(\Sigma_t)}$$

Next, from inequalities (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{q+\sigma-1}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which is \leq RHS (8.13a) as desired. We now consider the case in which $|\vec{I}_1| = N$ on the right-hand side of (8.10a). Using that $|g|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the products under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\sigma}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Using Definition 3.14, the bootstrap assumptions and the elliptic estimate (5.4), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{q+\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which is \lesssim RHS (8.13a) as desired. It remains for us to consider the remaining cases, in which $|\vec{I}_1|, |\vec{I}_2|, |\vec{I}_3| \le N - 1$ on the right-hand side of (8.10a). We first use (4.4) with l = 0 and m = 2 (since $(q+\sigma; \vec{I})$ \mathfrak{G} is type $\binom{0}{2}$) to deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N$) that the products under consideration are bounded as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{2}|,|\vec{I}_{3}|\leq N-1}} t^{A+q+\sigma} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{1}|,|\vec{I}_{2}|,|\vec{I}_{3}|\leq N-1}} t^{A-q+\sigma} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k\|_{L^{2}_{Frame}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(8.20)

Since the right-hand side of (8.20) is equal to t^{-3q} times the left-hand side of (8.19), the arguments surrounding (8.19) imply that

RHS (8.20)
$$\lesssim t^{-6q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which, in view of inequalities (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.13a) as desired. We have therefore proved (8.13a).

Estimate (8.13b) can be proved by applying nearly identical arguments to the products on the right-hand side of (8.10b) (with $P = q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N$), and we omit the details.

Proof of (8.14a)–(8.14b). We first prove (8.14a). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (8.10a), we have

$$P = A + 5q + 3\sigma - 1$$

and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$.

We first use (4.6) and (4.9) to bound the terms on the right-hand side of (8.10a) as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{2}|\leq N-2}} t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\
\lesssim t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\
+ t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} \\
+ t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \sum_{|\vec{I}_{1}|+|\vec{I}_{2}|=1} \|\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\
+ t^{A+5q+3\sigma-1} \sum_{|\vec{I}_{1}|+|\vec{I}_{2}|=1} \|\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}. \quad (8.21)$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.2b), and (4.12c), the elliptic estimates (5.2) and (5.5), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the products on the right-hand side of (8.21), except for the sum on the next-to-last line, are bounded by

$$\lesssim t^{2\sigma-1-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which is \lesssim RHS (8.14a) as desired. To handle the remaining sum on the next-to-last line of the right-hand side of (8.21), we first note the bound

$$\sum_{|\vec{I}_1|+|\vec{I}_2|=1} \|\partial_{\vec{I}_1} n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial_{\vec{I}_1} k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim \varepsilon t^{-1},$$

which follows from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, (3.2), estimates (4.2b) and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions. From this bound and the interpolation estimate (4.6), it follows that the sum on the next-to-last line of the right-hand side of (8.21) is

$$\lesssim \varepsilon t^{A+5q+3\sigma-2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\lesssim \varepsilon t^{A+5q+3\sigma-2} \|g-\widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} + \varepsilon t^{A+5q+3\sigma-2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

From Definition 3.14, it follows that since (by assumption) $A \ge 1$, the right-hand side of the previous estimate is

$$\lesssim \varepsilon t^{\sigma-1} \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \varepsilon t^{A+5q+3\sigma-2} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)},$$

which is \leq RHS (8.14a) as desired. We have therefore proved (8.14a).

Estimate (8.14b) can be proved by applying nearly identical arguments to the righthand side of (8.10b) (with $P = A + 5q + 3\sigma - 1$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$), and we omit the details.

Proof of (8.15a). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (7.7a), we have $P = 2q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$.

Using that $|g|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that the product on the righthand side of (7.7a) is bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{p}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

Using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 1) to estimate $\|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}_g^{N-1}(\Sigma_l)}$, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

From Definition 3.14, the elliptic estimate (5.4) and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma-1} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim t^{q+\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}$$

which is \lesssim RHS (8.15a) as desired.

Proof of (8.15b). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we have $P = 2q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$.

To bound the first product on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we first use g-Cauchy–Schwarz to deduce that it is bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\sigma}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\leq t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_g(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{1-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.15b) as desired.

To bound the first sum on the right-hand side of (7.7b), we first use (4.10) with l = 0 and m = 3 (since $(Junk; 2q+\sigma; \vec{I})\mathfrak{S}$ is type $\binom{0}{3}$) and (4.6) to deduce (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) that the products under consideration are bounded as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}=\vec{I}\\ |\vec{I}_{1}|\leq N-2}} t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|(\partial\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}n)(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}k\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A-q+\sigma} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A-q+\sigma} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A-q+\sigma} \|g\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A-q+\sigma} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(8.22)

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.2b), (4.12a), and (4.12c), the elliptic estimates (5.2) and (5.5), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS (8.22)
$$\lesssim t^{2-16q-3\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

+ $t^{-4q+\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.15b) as desired.

Using essentially the same reasoning, we find that the second and third sums on the right-hand side of (7.7b) are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$ by $\leq (8.22)$ and thus are \leq RHS (8.15b) as well. We have therefore proved (8.15b).

Proof of (8.16). First, using that $|g|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz, we deduce that

$$\|T\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^\infty(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial k\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

Using the definition of the norms $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}_{g}^{M}(\Sigma_{t})}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$, we deduce (see Remark 3.13) that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+2q+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}^{1/2} \|k\|_{\dot{H}^N_{\mathcal{S}}(\Sigma_t)}$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.2a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is $\leq t^{q+\sigma-1}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, which is \leq RHS (8.16) as desired.

Proof of (8.17a) *and* (8.17c). We stress that for these estimates, on the right-hand side of (7.8a), we have $P = 3q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$.

We first prove (8.17a). We start by noting that the right-hand side of (7.8a) is bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\text{frome}}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\leq C t^{A+3q+\sigma-1} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.2b), the elliptic estimate (5.5), and the bootstrap assumptions, we find that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{2q+\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which is \lesssim RHS (8.17a) as desired.

Estimate (8.17c) can be proved using a nearly identical argument, the key point being that like $||k||_{L^{\infty}_{\text{frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$, the term $||k||_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_t)}$ is bounded by $\lesssim t^{-1}$.

Proof of (8.17b). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we have $P = 3q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$.

To bound the first sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first use (4.6) and (4.9) to bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{1}|\leq N-2}} t^{A+3q+\sigma-1} \|\{\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}(n-1)\}\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}k\|_{L_{\text{Frame}}^{2}(\Sigma_{I})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+3q+\sigma-1} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{I})} \|k\|_{\dot{H}_{\text{Frame}}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{I})} \\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma-1} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{I})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{I})} \\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma-1} \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{I})} \|k\|_{\dot{W}_{\text{Frame}}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{I})}.$$
(8.23)

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS (8.23)
$$\lesssim t^{1-10q-\sigma} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{2q+\sigma-1} \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17b) as desired.

To bound the second sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_5| = N - 1$ or $|\vec{I}_6| = N - 1$. Using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, using (4.4) with l = m = 1 (since $(\text{Junk}; 3q+\sigma; \vec{I}) \hat{\mathcal{K}}$ is type $\binom{1}{1}$), and then again using (4.4) (this time with l = 0 and m = 3) to estimate the term $\|\partial g\|_{L_{\infty}^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, we deduce that the products under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L_{\text{Errow}}^2(\Sigma_t)}$ as follows:

$$\lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$\lesssim t^{A-2q+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$

$$(8.24)$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(8.24) \lesssim t^{-6q-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t),$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17b) as desired. It remains for us to consider the cases in which $|\vec{I}_5| \le N - 2$ and $|\vec{I}_6| \le N - 2$. Using (4.6) and (4.9), we bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\dots+\vec{I}_{6}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{5}|,\vec{I}_{6}|\leq N-2\\ \lesssim t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3}\|g^{-2}\|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{5}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{6}}g\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{3}\|g^{-2}\|\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g^{-2}\|_{W^$$

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(8.25) \lesssim t^{1-10q-2\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17b) as desired.

To bound the third sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first use (4.6) and (4.9) to bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}\\|\vec{I}_{4}|\leq N-2\\ \lesssim t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}}\|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$+t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}\|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$+t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

$$+t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{W^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(8.26)

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS (8.26)
$$\lesssim t^{-3q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \} + t^{1+\sigma-4q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17b) as desired.

To bound the fourth sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first use (4.6) and (4.9) to bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}=\vec{I}\\ |\vec{I}_{2}|\leq |\vec{I}|-1\\ \leq t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}} \leq t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|n\|_{\dot{W}^{2,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+3q+\sigma}\|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}\|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(8.27)

From (3.2), Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a), (4.12b), and (4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS
$$(8.27) \lesssim t^{3-12q-3\sigma-A\delta} \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + t^{q+\sigma-A\delta} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\}$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17b) as desired.

To bound the last sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first use (4.9) to bound (using that $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$) the terms under consideration as follows:

$$\sum_{\vec{I}_{1}+\vec{I}_{2}+\vec{I}_{3}+\vec{I}_{4}=\vec{I}} t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|(\partial_{\vec{I}_{1}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{2}}g^{-1})(\partial_{\vec{I}_{3}}g)\partial_{\vec{I}_{4}}n\|_{L^{2}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ \lesssim t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|^{2}_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|^{2}_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \\ + t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|n\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|g^{-1}\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
(8.28)

From Definition 3.16, estimates (4.2a) and (4.12a)–(4.12c), and the bootstrap assumptions, we see that

RHS (8.28)
$$\lesssim t^{\sigma-3q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

+ $t^{2-13q-\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$
+ $t^{3-16q-3\sigma-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$ (8.29)

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17b) as desired.

Proof of (8.17d). We stress that for this estimate, on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we have $P = 3q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$.

We claim that we only have to bound (in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$) the second sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b) in the cases in which $|\vec{I}_5| = N - 1$ or $|\vec{I}_6| = N - 1$. For by inspecting the proof of (8.17b) given above, and using (3.2), we see that all remaining

products on the right-hand side of (7.8b) are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\text{ferma}}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{2q+\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

Hence, using (4.4) with l = m = 1 (since $(\operatorname{Junk}; 3q + \sigma; \vec{I}) \Re$ is type $\binom{1}{1}$), we find that these same products are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_1)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which is \lesssim RHS (8.17d) as desired.

To handle the remaining cases in which $|\vec{I}_5| = N - 1$ or $|\vec{I}_6| = N - 1$ in the second sum on the right-hand side of (7.8b), we first use that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$ and g-Cauchy–Schwarz to deduce that the products under consideration are bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{\alpha}(\Sigma_t)}$ by

$$\lesssim t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}$$

Using (4.4) (with l = 0 and m = 3) to estimate $\|\partial g\|_{L_g^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)}$, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+\sigma} \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \|g\|_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

From (3.2), Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, estimate (4.12a), and the bootstrap assumptions, we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{-4q-A\delta} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \},\$$

which, in view of (3.2), is \lesssim RHS (8.17d) as desired.

Proof of (8.18a). First, using (4.4) with l = m = 1 (since T is a type $\binom{1}{1}$ tensorfield), we deduce that

$$t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^2_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

Next, using that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq 1$, *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz, and the estimate $||n||_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \leq 1$ (which is a simple consequence of (3.2), Definition 3.14, and the bootstrap assumptions), we find that

$$t^{A+q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|\partial^2 n\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)} + t^{A+q+\sigma} \|\partial^2 g\|_{\dot{H}^{N-1}_g(\Sigma_t)}$$

Using the definition of the norms $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}_g^M(\Sigma_t)}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$ (see Remark 3.13), we deduce that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{A+q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}^{1/2} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)} + t^{A+q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}^{1/2} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^N_g(\Sigma_t)}.$$

From Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, (4.2a), the elliptic estimate (5.4), and the bootstrap assumptions, we find that the right-hand side of the previous expression is

$$\lesssim t^{\sigma-1} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) \}$$

which is \lesssim RHS (8.18a) as desired.

Proof of (8.18b). The arguments given in the proof of (8.18a) yield that

$$t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|T\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|\partial n\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{A+3q+\sigma} \|g^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{1/2} \|\partial g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim t^{2q+\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)\},$$

which is a better bound than we need.

8.3. Proof of Proposition 8.1

In this subsection, we prove Proposition 8.1. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed *A*, this can be achieved by choosing *N* to be sufficiently large.

To prove (8.2a), we first use the fundamental theorem of calculus and the evolution equation (8.9a) with $P = 2q + \sigma$ to deduce that for any multi-index \vec{I} with $|\vec{I}| = N$, we have (where we do not use Einstein summation over i, j and we stress that $0 < t \le 1$)

$$\|t^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ij}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} = \|\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ij}\|_{L^{2}(\Sigma_{1})}^{2} -2\int_{s=t}^{1}\int_{\Sigma_{s}}s^{-1}\{(A+2q+\sigma)\delta_{j}^{a}-2nsk_{j}^{a}\} \times (s^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ia})(s^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ij})dx ds -2\int_{s=t}^{1}\int_{\Sigma_{s}}(s^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ij})^{(2q+\sigma;\bar{I})}\mathfrak{G}_{ij} dx ds.$$
(8.30)

From Definition 3.16, Cauchy–Schwarz, Young's inequality, and estimate (8.12a), we deduce that the last integral on the right-hand side of (8.30) can be bounded as follows:

$$2\int_{s=t}^{1}\int_{\Sigma_{s}} (s^{A+2q}\partial_{\vec{I}}g_{ij})^{(P;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{G}_{ij} \, dx \, ds \le C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} \, ds.$$
(8.31)

Use Definition 3.14, the fact that $s\tilde{k}(s, x)$ equals the diagonal tensor $-\text{diag}(q_1, \ldots, q_D)$, (3.2), and the bootstrap assumptions to bound the (scalar) component $2nsk_j^a$ on the right-hand side of (8.30) as

$$|2nsk^a_i| \le 2q\delta^a_i + C\varepsilon,$$

where δ_{j}^{a} is the standard Kronecker delta. It follows that the integral on the second line of the right-hand side of (8.30) is bounded from above by

$$\leq -\{2A+\sigma\}\int_{s=t}^{1}\int_{\Sigma_{s}}s^{-1}(s^{A+2q+\sigma}\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ij})^{2}dx\,ds$$
$$+C\varepsilon\int_{s=t}^{1}s^{-1}\|s^{A+2q+\sigma}g\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2}ds.$$

Combining these estimates, noting that

$$\|\partial_{\vec{I}} g_{ij}\|_{L^2(\Sigma_1)}^2 \le \mathbb{H}^2_{(g,k)}(1),$$

summing the resulting estimates over $1 \le i, j \le D$ and over \vec{I} with $|\vec{I}| = N$, and taking ε to be sufficiently small, we arrive at (8.2a).

Estimate (8.2b) can be proved using a similar argument based on the evolution equation (8.9b) with $P = 2q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N$ and estimate (8.12b), and we omit the details.

Estimate (8.5a) can be proved using a similar argument based on the evolution equation (8.9a) with $P = 5q + 3\sigma - 1$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ and estimate (8.14a), and we omit the details.

Estimate (8.5b) can be proved using a similar argument based on the evolution equation (8.9b) with $P = 5q + 3\sigma - 1$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ and estimate (8.14b), and we omit the details.

Estimate (8.6a) can be proved using a similar argument based on the evolution equation (7.6b) with $P = 3q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ and estimates (8.17a), (8.17b), and (8.18a), and we omit the details.

To prove (8.3a), we let \vec{I} be any multi-index with $|\vec{I}| = N$. Using the definition of the norm $|\cdot|_g$ and equation (2.12b) (to substitute for the factors of $\partial_t g^{-1}$ that appear when ∂_t falls on the factors of g^{-1} that are inherent in the definition of $|\cdot|_g$), we deduce that

$$\partial_t \{ |t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}}g|_g^2 \} = 4ng^{ac}k^{bd}(t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}}g_{ab})(t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}}g_{cd}) + 2g^{ac}g^{bd}(t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}}g_{ab})\partial_t(t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}}g_{cd}).$$
(8.32)

Next, using equation (8.9a) with $P = q + \sigma$ to substitute for the factor $\partial_t (t^{A+2q+\sigma} \partial_{\bar{I}} g_{cd})$ on the right-hand side of (8.32), we obtain

$$\partial_t \{ |t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}} g|_g^2 \} = \frac{2(A+q+\sigma)}{t} |t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}} g|_g^2 + 2g^{ac} g^{bd} (t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{ab})^{(q+\sigma;\vec{I})} \mathfrak{G}_{cd}.$$
(8.33)

Integrating (8.33) over the spacetime slab $(t, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$, using *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz, and appealing to Definition 3.16, we obtain the following estimate (where we stress that t < 1):

$$\|t^{A+q+\sigma}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}^{2} \leq \|\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{1})}^{2} -2(A+q+\sigma)\int_{s=t}^{1}s^{-1}\|s^{A+q+\sigma}\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}^{2}ds +2\int_{s=t}^{1}\int_{\Sigma_{s}}\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\|^{(q+\sigma;\vec{I})}\mathfrak{S}\|_{L^{2}_{g}(\Sigma_{s})}ds.$$
(8.34)

Using (8.13a) to bound the integrand factor $\|^{(q+\sigma;I)} \mathfrak{G}\|_{L^2_g(\Sigma_s)}$ on the right-hand side of (8.34), using Young's inequality, noting that

$$\|\partial_{\vec{I}}g\|^2_{L^2_g(\Sigma_1)} \le \mathbb{H}^2_{(g,k)}(1),$$

and summing the resulting estimates over \vec{I} with $|\vec{I}| = N$, we arrive at the desired bound (8.3a).

Estimate (8.3b) can be proved using a similar argument based on equation (8.9b) with $P = q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N$, equation (2.12a) (which one uses to substitute for the factors of $\partial_t g$ that appear when ∂_t falls on the factors of g that are inherent in the definition of $|\cdot|_g$), and estimate (8.13b); we omit the details.

Estimate (8.4) can be proved using a similar argument based on the evolution equation (7.6a) with $P = 2q + \sigma$, and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$, equation (2.12b) (to substitute for the factors of $\partial_t g^{-1}$ that appear when ∂_t falls on the factors of g^{-1} that are inherent in the definition of $|\cdot|_g$), and estimates (8.15a)–(8.15b) and (8.16). We omit the details, noting only that the factors of $\partial_t g^{-1}$ and the factor $-2tk_j^a$ in the first braces on the right-hand side of (7.6a) lead to the terms

$$2nk^{ad}g^{be}g^{cf}(t^{A+q+\sigma}\partial_a\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc})(t^{A+q+\sigma}\partial_d\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ef}) +4(n-1)g^{ad}k^{be}g^{cf}(t^{A+q+\sigma}\partial_a\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{bc})(t^{A+q+\sigma}\partial_d\partial_{\bar{I}}g_{ef}),$$

which we pointwise bound in magnitude as follows by using *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz, the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \leq C_*$, (3.2), Definition 3.14, and the bootstrap assumptions:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| 2nk^{ad} g^{be} g^{cf} (t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_a \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{bc}) (t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_d \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{ef}) \right. \\ &+ 4(n-1)g^{ad} k^{be} g^{cf} (t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_a \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{bc}) (t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_d \partial_{\vec{I}} g_{ef}) \right| \\ &\leq C_* \{ \|n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} + \|n-1\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_g(\Sigma_t)} |t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_d \partial_{\vec{I}} g|_g^2 \\ &\leq C_* t^{-1} |t^{A+q+\sigma} \partial_d \partial_{\vec{I}} g|_g^2. \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.35)$$

We further remark that these factors of C_* lead to the C_* -dependent products on the right-hand side of (8.4).

Estimate (8.6b) can be proved using a similar argument based on equation (7.6b) with $P = 3q + \sigma$ and $|\vec{I}| = N - 1$ (where we use equations (2.12a)–(2.12b) to substitute for the factors of $\partial_t g$ and $\partial_t g^{-1}$ that arise when ∂_t falls on the factors of g and g^{-1} inherent in the definition of $|\cdot|_g$), and estimates (8.17c), (8.17d), and (8.18b); we omit the details.

9. The main a priori estimates

In this section, we use the estimates derived in Sections 5-8 to prove the main technical result of the article: Proposition 9.3, which provides a priori estimates for the solution norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16. The proposition in particular yields a strict improvement of the bootstrap assumptions.

9.1. Integral inequality for the high norm

We start with the following lemma, in which we derive an integral inequality for the high norm $\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$. The lemma is an analog of Proposition 6.1, in which we derived a similar but simpler inequality for the low norm $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$.

Lemma 9.1 (Integral inequality for the high norm). Assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold. There exist a constant $C_* > 0$ independent of N and A and a constant

 $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 0$ such that if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , and if ε is sufficiently small (in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ), then the following integral inequality holds for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(t) \leq C \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) - \{2A - C_{*}\} \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{-1} \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) \, ds \qquad (9.2)$$
$$+ C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} \, ds.$$

Proof. Sum estimates (7.2) over all \vec{I} with $|\vec{I}| = N$ together with estimates (8.2a)–(8.6b). In view of definition (3.17a), we conclude the estimate (9.2).

9.2. A priori estimates for the solution norms

In the next proposition, we provide the main result of Section 9.

Proposition 9.3 (A priori estimates for the solution norms). Recall that $\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t)$, $\mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t)$, $\mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t)$, and $\mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t)$ are the norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, and assume that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18), which involve the smallness parameter ε , hold. Let $\hat{\varepsilon}$ be the following norm of the difference between the Kasner initial data and the perturbed initial data:

$$\hat{\epsilon} := \|g - \widetilde{g}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{1})} + \|k - k\|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{1})} + \|g\|_{\dot{H}^{N+1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{1})} + \|k\|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{1})}.$$
(9.4)

If A is sufficiently large and if N is sufficiently large in a manner that depends on A, D, q, and σ , there exists a constant $C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 1$ such that if ε is sufficiently small in a manner that depends on N, A, D, q, and σ , then the following estimates hold for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \le C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} \hat{\epsilon}.$$
(9.5)

In particular, if $C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} \hat{\epsilon} < \varepsilon$, then (9.5) yields a strict improvement of the bootstrap assumptions.

Proof. We first square inequality (6.2) and use the Cauchy–Schwarz estimate

$$\left(\int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(s)\} ds\right)^{2}$$

$$\leq C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}^{2}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}^{2}(s)\} ds \times \underbrace{\int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} ds}_{\leq C}$$

$$\leq C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}^{2}(s) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}^{2}(s)\} ds$$
(9.6)

to deduce

$$\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(t) \leq C \mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(1) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1} \{\mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(s)\} \, ds.$$
(9.7)

We now fix $A \ge \max\{C_*/2, 1\}$, where $C_* > 0$ is the universal constant (independent of N and A) on the right-hand side of (9.2), while the assumption $A \ge 1$ was used in other parts of the paper (for example, the proof of (8.14a)). Given this choice of A, we fix N large enough such that whenever ε is sufficiently small, the estimates of Proposition 6.1 and Lemma 9.1 hold. Note that our choice of A ensures that the factor $\{2A - C_*\}$ on the right-hand side of (9.2) is non-positive; hence the first time integral on the right-hand side of (9.2) is non-positive and can be discarded. In particular, using (9.7) and Lemma 9.1, we see that for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$, the quantity

$$Q(t) := \mathbb{L}^{2}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}^{2}_{(g,k)}(t)$$

verifies

$$Q(t) \leq CQ(1) + C \int_{s=t}^{1} s^{\sigma-1}Q(s) \, ds.$$

Because the function $s^{\sigma-1}$ is integrable over the interval $s \in (0, 1]$, we conclude from Gronwall's inequality that

 $Q(t) \leq CQ(1)$

for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$. Moreover, from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, definition (9.4), standard Sobolev interpolation (i.e., (4.6)), and Sobolev embedding, we deduce that if N is sufficiently large, then $Q(1) \le C\hat{\epsilon}^2$. From this bound and the bound $Q(t) \le CQ(1)$, we deduce that $Q(t) \le C\hat{\epsilon}^2$ for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$. From this bound, (5.2), (5.4), and (5.5), we conclude, in view of Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, the desired bound (9.5).

10. Estimates tied to curvature-blowup and the length of past-directed causal geodesics

In this section, we derive the main estimates needed to show curvature-blowup and geodesic incompleteness for the solutions under study.

10.1. Curvature estimates

In the following lemma, we derive a pointwise estimate that shows in particular that the Kretschmann scalar blows up as $t \downarrow 0$.

Lemma 10.1 (Pointwise estimate for the Kretschmann scalar). Under the hypotheses and conclusions of Proposition 9.3, perhaps enlarging N if necessary, the following pointwise estimate holds for $t \in (T_{(Boot)}, 1]$:

$$\operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\operatorname{Riem}^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 4t^{-4}\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{D}(q_i^2 - q_i)^2 + \sum_{1 \le i < j = D}q_i^2q_j^2\right\} + t^{-4}\mathcal{O}(\widehat{\epsilon}). \quad (10.2)$$

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed A, this can be achieved by choosing N to be sufficiently large.

First, we observe the following identity, which holds relative to CMC-transported spatial coordinates in view of (2.1) and the curvature properties $\operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = -\operatorname{Riem}_{\beta\alpha\gamma\delta} = -\operatorname{Riem}_{\gamma\delta\alpha\beta}$:

$$t^{4}\operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\operatorname{Riem}^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = t^{4}\operatorname{Riem}_{ab}{}^{cd}\operatorname{Riem}_{cd}{}^{ab} + 4t^{4}\operatorname{Riem}_{a0}{}^{c0}\operatorname{Riem}_{c0}{}^{a0} - 4n^{-2}t^{4}|\operatorname{Riem}_{0}|_{g}^{2},$$
(10.3)

where **Riem**₀. is defined to be the type $\binom{0}{3}$ Σ_t -tangent tensorfield with components **Riem**_{0bcd} relative to the transported spatial coordinates. Next, from standard calculations based in part on the Gauss and Codazzi equations (see, for example, [52, equation (4.14)] and [52, equation (4.18)]), we find that relative to the CMC-transported spatial coordinates, the components **Riem**_{$\alpha\beta$}^{$\mu\nu$} of the (type $\binom{2}{2}$) Riemann curvature tensor of **g** can be decomposed into principal terms and error terms as follows:

$$\mathbf{Riem}_{ab}{}^{cd} = k^{c}_{\ a}k^{d}_{\ b} - k^{d}_{\ a}k^{c}_{\ b} + \Delta_{ab}{}^{cd}, \qquad (10.4a)$$

$$\operatorname{Riem}_{a0}{}^{c0} = t^{-1}k^{c}_{\ a} + k^{c}_{\ e}k^{e}_{\ a} + \Delta_{a0}{}^{c0}, \qquad (10.4b)$$

$$n^{-1} \operatorname{Riem}_{0b}{}^{cd} = \Delta_{0b}{}^{cd}, \qquad (10.4c)$$

where the error terms are defined by

$$\Delta_{ab}^{\ cd} := \operatorname{Riem}_{ab}^{\ cd}, \tag{10.5a}$$
$$\Delta_{a0}^{\ c0} := -t^{-1}n^{-1}\partial_t(tk_a^c) + t^{-1}(n^{-1}-1)k_a^c$$

$$-n^{-1}g^{ec}\partial_a\partial_e n + n^{-1}g^{ec}\Gamma_a^{\ f}\partial_f n, \qquad (10.5b)$$

$$\Delta_{0b}^{\ cd} := g^{ce} \partial_e(k^d_{\ b}) - g^{de} \partial_e(k^c_{\ b}) + g^{ce} \Gamma^d_{e\ f} k^f_{\ b} - g^{ce} \Gamma^f_{e\ b} k^d_{\ f} - g^{de} \Gamma^c_{e\ f} k^f_{\ b} + g^{de} \Gamma^f_{e\ b} k^c_{\ f}.$$
(10.5c)

In (10.5a), Riem_{*ab*}^{*cd*} denotes a component of the (type $\binom{2}{2}$) Riemann curvature tensor of *g*.

We now claim that the following estimates hold, where the \tilde{k}_{j}^{i} are the components of the Kasner mixed second fundamental form (see (1.8c)):

$$\|t^{2}\operatorname{Riem}_{ab}{}^{cd} - (t^{2}\widetilde{k}^{c}_{a}\widetilde{k}^{d}_{b} - t^{2}\widetilde{k}^{d}_{a}\widetilde{k}^{c}_{b})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{I})} \lesssim \overset{\circ}{\epsilon},$$
(10.6)

$$\|t^{2}\operatorname{Riem}_{a0}{}^{c0} - (tk^{c}_{a} + t^{2}k^{c}_{e}k^{e}_{a})\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{t})} \lesssim \mathring{\epsilon}, \qquad (10.7)$$

$$\|n^{-1}t^2\operatorname{\mathbf{Riem}}_{0\cdot}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{S}}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim \check{\epsilon}, \qquad (10.8)$$

where we stress that (10.6)–(10.7) are estimates for *components* of tensorfields and (10.8) is an estimate for the *norm* $|\cdot|_g$ of the tensorfield **Riem**₀. Let us momentarily accept (10.6)–(10.8). Then from (10.3), (10.6)–(10.8), Definition 3.14, and estimate (9.5) (which in particular implies the component bound $tk_b^a = t\tilde{k}_b^a + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\epsilon})$), we deduce that

$$t^{4} \operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} \operatorname{Riem}^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 2t^{4} (\widetilde{k}^{c}_{a} \widetilde{k}^{a}_{c})^{2} + 4t^{2} \widetilde{k}^{c}_{a} \widetilde{k}^{a}_{c} + 8t^{3} \widetilde{k}^{c}_{a} \widetilde{k}^{a}_{d} \widetilde{k}^{d}_{c} + 2t^{4} \widetilde{k}^{c}_{e} \widetilde{k}^{e}_{a} \widetilde{k}^{a}_{d} \widetilde{k}^{d}_{c} + \mathcal{O}(\widehat{\epsilon}).$$
(10.9)

Next, using the fact that in CMC-transported spatial coordinates, $t\tilde{k}$ is equal to the diag-

onal tensor $-\text{diag}(q_1, \ldots, q_D)$, we compute that

$$t^{2}\widetilde{k}_{a}^{c}\widetilde{k}_{c}^{a} = \sum_{i=1}^{D} q_{i}^{2}, \qquad (10.10)$$

$$t^{3}\widetilde{k}^{c}_{a}\widetilde{k}^{a}_{d}\widetilde{k}^{d}_{c} = -\sum_{i=1}^{D}q^{3}_{i}, \qquad (10.11)$$

$$t^{4}\widetilde{k}^{c}_{e}\widetilde{k}^{e}_{a}\widetilde{k}^{a}_{d}\widetilde{k}^{d}_{c} = \sum_{i=1}^{D}q^{4}_{i}.$$
(10.12)

From (10.9) and (10.10)–(10.12), we arrive at the desired bound (10.2).

It remains for us to prove (10.6)–(10.8). To prove (10.6), we first note the schematic identity $\operatorname{Riem}_{ab}{}^{cd} \simeq g^{-2}\partial^2 g + g^{-3}(\partial g)^2$, which follows from (2.15a). Hence, bounding each factor on the right-hand side of the schematic identity in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{\operatorname{Frame}}(\Sigma_t)}$ with the help of estimates (4.2a), (4.12a)–(4.12b), and (9.5), we deduce the estimate $\|\operatorname{Riem}_{ab}{}^{cd}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)} \lesssim \hat{\epsilon} t^{-10q-A8}$. From this estimate, (10.4a), (10.5a), the aforementioned component estimate $tk_b^a = t\tilde{k}_b^a + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\epsilon})$, and (3.2), we conclude (10.6). Estimate (10.7) can be proved by combining similar arguments based on equation (10.4b) with the additional bounds (4.12c) and (6.17), which are needed to help control the terms on the right-hand side of (10.5b); we omit the straightforward details. To prove (10.8), we first use the fact that $|g^{-1}|_g \lesssim 1$ and the *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz inequality to deduce that the norm $|\cdot|_g$ of the right-hand side of (10.5c) is bounded by $\lesssim |\partial k|_g + |\partial g|_g |k|_g$. Next, using (4.4), we bound the right-hand side of the previous expression as follows:

$$|\partial k|_{g} + |\partial g|_{g}|k|_{g} \lesssim t^{-3q} \|k\|_{W^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} + t^{-3q} \|g\|^{1/2}_{\dot{W}^{1,\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_{t})} \|k\|_{L^{\infty}_{g}(\Sigma_{t})}.$$
 (10.13)

From Definition 3.14 and estimates (4.2b), (4.12a), and (9.5), we deduce, in view of (3.2), that RHS (10.13) $\lesssim \hat{\epsilon}t^{-1-4q-A\delta} \lesssim \hat{\epsilon}t^{-2}$. Considering also equation (10.4c), we see that we have proved the desired bound (10.8).

10.2. Estimates for the length of past-directed causal geodesic segments

In this subsection, we show that for the solutions under consideration, the length of any past-directed causal geodesic segment is uniformly bounded from above by a constant.

Lemma 10.14 (Estimates for the length of past-directed causal geodesic segments). Under the hypotheses and conclusions of Proposition 9.3, perhaps enlarging N and shrinking $\hat{\epsilon}$ if necessary, the following holds: any past-directed causal geodesic $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$ that emanates from Σ_1 and is contained in the region $(T_{(Boot)}, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^D$ has an affine length that is bounded from above by

$$\leq \mathscr{A}(T_{\text{(Boot)}}) \leq \mathscr{A}(0) \leq \frac{|\mathscr{A}'(1)|}{1-q},\tag{10.15}$$

where $\mathscr{A}(t)$ is the affine parameter along $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$ viewed as a function of t along $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$ (normalized by $\mathscr{A}(1) = 0$).

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will assume that $A\delta$ is sufficiently small (and in particular that $A\delta < \sigma$); in view of the discussion in Section 4.4, we see that at fixed A, this can be achieved by choosing N to be sufficiently large.

Let $\boldsymbol{\zeta}(\mathscr{A})$ be a past-directed affinely parametrized causal geodesic verifying the hypotheses of the lemma. Note that the component $\boldsymbol{\zeta}^0$ can be identified with the CMC time coordinate. In the rest of the proof, we view the affine parameter \mathscr{A} as a function of $t = \boldsymbol{\zeta}^0$ along $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$. We normalize $\mathscr{A}(t)$ by setting $\mathscr{A}(1) = 0$. We also define

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\mu} := rac{d}{d\,\mathscr{A}} \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\mu}, \quad \ddot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\mu} := rac{d^2}{d\,\mathscr{A}^2} \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\mu},$$

and $\mathscr{A}' := \frac{d}{dt} \mathscr{A}$. By the chain rule, we have

$$\mathscr{A}' = \frac{1}{\dot{\xi}^0}, \quad \ddot{\xi}^0 = \dot{\xi}^0 \frac{d}{dt} \dot{\xi}^0 = -(\mathscr{A}')^{-3} \mathscr{A}''.$$
(10.16)

For use below, we note that since $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$ is a causal curve, we have (by the definition of a causal curve) that $\mathbf{g}(\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}) \leq 0$. Considering also the expression (2.1) for \mathbf{g} , we deduce that relative to the CMC-transported coordinates, causal curves satisfy

$$g_{ab}\dot{\zeta}^{a}\dot{\zeta}^{b} \le n^{2}(\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{0})^{2}.$$
 (10.17)

Next, we note that (relative to CMC-transported spatial coordinates), the 0 component of the geodesic equation is

$$\ddot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{0} + \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\alpha \ \beta}^{\ 0} |_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\alpha} \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\beta} = 0,$$

where $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\ 0}$ are Christoffel symbols of **g** (see (1.26)). Using (2.1) and (2.12a), we compute that this geodesic equation component can be written in the following more explicit form:

$$\ddot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{0} + (\partial_{t} \ln n)|_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} (\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{0})^{2} + 2(\partial_{a} \ln n)|_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{a} \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{0} - (n^{-1}g_{ac}k_{b}^{c})|_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{a} \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{b} = 0.$$
(10.18)

Multiplying (10.18) by $-(\mathscr{A}')^3$ and using the *g*-Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, (10.16), and (10.17), we deduce

$$|\mathscr{A}''| \le |n^{-1}k^a_b \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}_a \dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^b (\mathscr{A}')^3| + (n^{-1}|\partial_t n| + 2|\partial n|_g)|\mathscr{A}'|.$$
(10.19)

From Definition 3.14 and estimate (9.5), we see that in CMC-transported spatial coordinates, tk is equal to the diagonal tensor diag $-(q_1, \ldots, q_D)$ plus an $\mathcal{O}(\hat{\epsilon})$ correction. Hence, the eigenvalues of tk are all bounded in magnitude by $q_{(Max)} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\epsilon})$, where $q_{(Max)} := \max_{i=1,...,D} |q_i|$. Also using (10.16)–(10.17), we see that

$$|n^{-1}k_{b}^{a}\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}_{a}\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{b}(\mathscr{A}')^{3}| \leq \{q_{(\text{Max})} + \mathcal{O}(\boldsymbol{\hat{\epsilon}})\}t^{-1}n^{-1}(\mathscr{A}')^{3}|\dot{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}|_{g}^{2}$$

$$\leq \{q_{(\text{Max})} + \mathcal{O}(\boldsymbol{\hat{\epsilon}})\}t^{-1}|\mathscr{A}'|$$

$$+ \{q_{(\text{Max})} + \mathcal{O}(\boldsymbol{\hat{\epsilon}})\}t^{-1}|n-1||\mathscr{A}'|.$$
(10.20)

Moreover, from Definition 3.14, (3.2), and estimate (9.5), we see that the last product on the right-hand side of (10.20) obeys the bound

$$\{q_{(\text{Max})} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}})\}t^{-1}|n-1||\mathscr{A}'| \le C\,\hat{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}t^{-1}|\mathscr{A}'|.$$
(10.21)

Furthermore, also using (4.2a), (4.4), (4.12c), and (5.3), we see that the last term on the right-hand side of (10.19) is bounded as follows:

$$\left(n^{-1}|\partial_t n| + 2|\partial n|_g\right)|\mathscr{A}'| \le C \mathring{\epsilon} t^{-1}|\mathscr{A}'|.$$
(10.22)

Combining (10.19)–(10.22) and taking into account (3.2), we deduce that if $\hat{\epsilon}$ is sufficiently small, then the following bound holds:

$$|\mathscr{A}''| \le t^{-1}q|\mathscr{A}'|, \quad t \in (T_{(\text{Boot})}, 1].$$
 (10.23)

Applying Gronwall's inequality to (10.23), we deduce that

$$|\mathscr{A}'(t)| \le |\mathscr{A}'(1)|t^{-q}, \quad t \in (T_{(\text{Boot})}, 1].$$
 (10.24)

Integrating (10.24) from time t to time 1 and using the assumption $\mathscr{A}(1) = 0$, we find that

$$\mathscr{A}(t) \le \frac{|\mathscr{A}'(1)|}{1-q} (1-t^{1-q}), \quad t \in (T_{(\text{Boot})}, 1],$$
(10.25)

from which the desired estimate (10.15) follows.

11. The main stable blowup theorem

We now state and prove our main stable blowup theorem. As we noted in Remark 1.9, it is possible to derive substantial additional information about the solution, going beyond that provided by the theorem.

Theorem 11.1 (The main stable blowup theorem). Let $\widetilde{\mathbf{g}} = -dt \otimes dt + \widetilde{g}_{ab}dx^a \otimes dx^b$ be an Einstein-vacuum Kasner solution on $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{T}^D$, i.e.,

$$\widetilde{g} = \operatorname{diag}(t^{2q_1}, t^{2q_2}, \dots, t^{2q_D}),$$

where $\sum_{i=1}^{D} q_i = \sum_{i=1}^{D} q_i^2 = 1$, and assume that

$$\max_{i=1,\dots,D} |q_i| < \frac{1}{6}.$$
(11.2)

Recall that in Section 2.3, we showed that such Kasner solutions exist when $D \ge 38$. Let $\tilde{k} = -t^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(q_1, q_2, \dots, q_D)$ denote the corresponding Kasner (mixed) second fundamental form. Let $(\Sigma_1 = \mathbb{T}^D, \mathring{g}, \mathring{k})$ be initial data for the Einstein-vacuum equations verifying the constraints (2.11a)–(2.11b) and the CMC condition $\mathring{k}_a^a = -1$ (see, however, Remark 1.4), and let

$$\hat{\epsilon} := \| \overset{\circ}{g} - \widetilde{g} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_1)} + \| \overset{\circ}{k} - \widetilde{k} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_1)} + \| \overset{\circ}{g} \|_{\dot{H}^{N+1}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_1)} + \| \overset{\circ}{k} \|_{\dot{H}^{N}_{\text{Frame}}(\Sigma_1)}.$$
(11.3)

Assume that

- A > 0 is sufficiently large.
- N > 0 is sufficiently large, where the required largeness depends on A, D, q, and σ. Here we recall that q > 0 and σ > 0 are the constants fixed in Section 3.1.
- $\hat{\epsilon}$ is sufficiently small, where the required smallness depends on N, A, D, q, and σ .

Then the following conclusions hold.

• Existence and norm estimates on $(0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$. The initial data launch a solution (g, k, n) to the Einstein-vacuum equations in CMC-transported spatial coordinates (that is, the equations of Proposition 2.10, where $\mathbf{g} = -n^2 dt \otimes dt + g_{ab} dx^a \otimes dx^b$ is the spacetime metric) that exists classically for $(t, x) \in (0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$. Moreover, there exists a constant $C = C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 1$ such that the (N, A, q, σ) -dependent norms from Definitions 3.14 and 3.16 verify the following estimate for $t \in (0, 1]$:

$$\mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \le C\overset{\circ}{\epsilon}.$$
(11.4)

• Description of the "past-half" of the MGHD and curvature-blowup. The spacetime Kretschmann scalar verifies the following estimate for $t \in (0, 1]$:

$$t^{4}\operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\operatorname{Riem}^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = 4\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{D}(q_{i}^{2}-q_{i})^{2}+\sum_{1\leq i< j=D}q_{i}^{2}q_{j}^{2}\right\}+\mathcal{O}(\mathring{\epsilon}).$$
 (11.5)

In particular, for $\hat{\epsilon}$ sufficiently small, $\operatorname{Riem}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\operatorname{Riem}^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ blows up like

$$\{C + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\epsilon})\}t^{-4}$$

as $t \downarrow 0$, where

$$C = 4 \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{D} (q_i^2 - q_i)^2 + \sum_{1 \le i < j = D} q_i^2 q_j^2 \right\}.$$

Consequently, the "past-half" of the maximal (classical) globally hyperbolic development of the data is $((0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}, \mathbf{g})$, and \mathbf{g} cannot be continued as a C^2 Lorentzian metric to the past of the singular hypersurface Σ_0 . That is, the past of Σ_1 in the maximal (classical) globally hyperbolic development of the data is foliated by the family of spacelike hypersurfaces Σ_t , along which the CMC condition $k_a^a = -t^{-1}$ holds.

Bounded length of past-directed causal geodesics. Let ζ be any past-directed causal geodesic that emanates from Σ₁, and let A = A(t) be an affine parameter along ζ, where A is viewed as a function of t along ζ that is normalized by A(1) = 0. Then ζ crashes into the singular hypersurface Σ₀ in finite affine parameter time

$$\mathscr{A}(0) \le \frac{|\mathscr{A}'(1)|}{1-q},\tag{11.6}$$

where $\mathscr{A}'(t) := \frac{d}{dt} \mathscr{A}(t)$.

Proof. We first fix *A* and *N* to be large enough so that all of the estimates proved (under the bootstrap assumptions) in the previous sections hold true. By standard local wellposedness, if $\hat{\epsilon}$ is sufficiently small and the constant *C'* is sufficiently large, then there exists a maximal time $T_{(Max)} \in [0, 1)$ such that the solution (g, k, n) exists classically for $(t, x) \in (T_{(Max)}, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^D$ and such that the bootstrap assumptions (3.18) hold with $T_{(Boot)} := T_{(Max)}$ and $\varepsilon := C'\hat{\epsilon}$. By enlarging the constant *C'* if necessary, we can assume that $C' \ge 2C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma}$, where $C_{N,A,D,q,\sigma} > 1$ is the constant from inequality (9.5). Readers can consult [4] for the main ideas behind the proof of local well-posedness in a similar but distinct gauge for Einstein's equations, or [51, Theorem 14.1] for a sketch of a proof of local well-posedness in CMC-transported spatial coordinates. Moreover, in view of Definitions 3.14 and 3.16, it is a standard result (again, see [4] for the main ideas) that if ε is sufficiently small, then either $T_{(Max)} = 0$ or the bootstrap assumptions are saturated on the time interval ($T_{(Max)}$, 1], that is,

$$\sup_{t \in (T_{(Max)}, 1]} \{ \mathbb{L}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(g,k)}(t) + \mathbb{L}_{(n)}(t) + \mathbb{H}_{(n)}(t) \} = C' \hat{\epsilon}$$

The latter possibility is ruled out by inequality (9.5). Thus, $T_{(Max)} = 0$. In particular, the solution exists classically for $(t, x) \in (0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^{D}$, and estimate (11.4) holds for $t \in (0, 1]$.

The remaining aspects of the theorem follow from Lemmas 10.1 and 10.14.

Acknowledgments. We are grateful for the feedback provided by the anonymous referees, which helped improve the exposition.

References

- Ames, E., Beyer, F., Isenberg, J., LeFloch, P. G.: Quasilinear hyperbolic Fuchsian systems and AVTD behavior in T²-symmetric vacuum spacetimes. Ann. Henri Poincaré 14, 1445–1523 (2013) Zbl 1272.83009 MR 3085923
- [2] Ames, E., Beyer, F., Isenberg, J., LeFloch, P. G.: Quasilinear symmetric hyperbolic Fuchsian systems in several space dimensions. In: Complex Analysis and Dynamical Systems. Vol. 5, Contemp. Math. 591, American Mathematical Society, Providence, 25–43 (2013) Zbl 1320.35193 MR 3155675
- [3] Andersson, L.: On the relation between mathematical and numerical relativity. Classical Quantum Gravity 23, S307–S317 (2006) Zbl 1191.83017 MR 2254276
- [4] Andersson, L., Moncrief, V.: Elliptic-hyperbolic systems and the Einstein equations. Ann. Henri Poincaré 4, 1–34 (2003) Zbl 1028.83005 MR 1967177
- [5] Andersson, L., Rendall, A. D.: Quiescent cosmological singularities. Comm. Math. Phys. 218, 479–511 (2001) Zbl 0979.83036 MR 1828850
- [6] Anguige, K.: A class of plane symmetric perfect-fluid cosmologies with a Kasner-like singularity. Classical Quantum Gravity 17, 2117–2128 (2000) Zbl 0967.83041 MR 1766545
- [7] Anguige, K., Tod, K. P.: Isotropic cosmological singularities. I. Polytropic perfect fluid spacetimes. Ann. Physics 276, 257–293 (1999) Zbl 1003.83027 MR 1710663
- [8] Barrow, J. D.: Quiescent cosmology. Nature 272, 211–215 (1978)
- [9] Belinski, V., Henneaux, M.: The Cosmological Singularity. Cambridge Monogr. Math. Phys., Cambridge University, Cambridge (2018) Zbl 1378.83002 MR 3821508
- [10] Belinskiĭ, V. A., Khalatnikov, I. M.: Effect of scalar and vector fields on the nature of the cosmological singularity. Ž. Eksper. Teoret. Fiz. 63, 1121–1134 (1972) MR 0363384
- [11] Belinskiĭ, V. A., Lifshitz, E. M., Khalatnikov, I.: Oscillatory approach to the singular point in relativistic cosmology. Soviet Phys. Uspekhi **13**, art. 745 (1971)
- [12] Berger, B. K., Garfinkle, D., Isenberg, J., Moncrief, V., Weaver, M.: The singularity in generic gravitational collapse is spacelike, local and oscillatory. Modern Phys. Lett. A 13, 1565–1573 (1998) MR 1633408

- [13] Beyer, F., LeFloch, P. G.: Second-order hyperbolic Fuchsian systems and applications. Classical Quantum Gravity 27, art. 245012, 33 pp. (2010) Zbl 1206.83025 MR 2739968
- [14] Choquet-Bruhat, Y., Geroch, R.: Global aspects of the Cauchy problem in general relativity. Comm. Math. Phys. 14, 329–335 (1969) Zbl 0182.59901 MR 250640
- [15] Choquet-Bruhat, Y., Isenberg, J., Moncrief, V.: Topologically general U(1) symmetric vacuum space-times with AVTD behavior. Nuovo Cimento Soc. Ital. Fis. B 119, 625–638 (2004) MR 2136898
- [16] Christodoulou, D.: The formation of black holes and singularities in spherically symmetric gravitational collapse. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 44, 339–373 (1991) Zbl 0728.53061 MR 1090436
- [17] Christodoulou, D.: The instability of naked singularities in the gravitational collapse of a scalar field. Ann. of Math. (2) 149, 183–217 (1999) Zbl 1126.83305 MR 1680551
- [18] Chruściel, P. T., Galloway, G. J., Pollack, D.: Mathematical general relativity: a sampler. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N. S.) 47, 567–638 (2010) Zbl 1205.83002 MR 2721040
- [19] Chruściel, P. T., Isenberg, J., Moncrief, V.: Strong cosmic censorship in polarised Gowdy spacetimes. Classical Quantum Gravity 7, 1671–1680 (1990) Zbl 0703.53081 MR 1075858
- [20] Claudel, C. M., Newman, K. P.: The Cauchy problem for quasi-linear hyperbolic evolution problems with a singularity in the time. R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 454, 1073–1107 (1998) Zbl 0916.35064 MR 1631542
- [21] Dafermos, M.: Stability and instability of the Cauchy horizon for the spherically symmetric Einstein–Maxwell-scalar field equations. Ann. of Math. (2) 158, 875–928 (2003) Zbl 1055.83002 MR 2031855
- [22] Dafermos, M., Luk, J.: The interior of dynamical vacuum black holes I: The C⁰-stability of the Kerr Cauchy horizon. arXiv:1710.01722 (2017)
- [23] Dafermos, M., Rodnianski, I.: A proof of Price's law for the collapse of a self-gravitating scalar field. Invent. Math. 162, 381–457 (2005) Zbl 1088.83008 MR 2199010
- [24] Damour, T., Henneaux, M., Rendall, A. D., Weaver, M.: Kasner-like behaviour for subcritical Einstein-matter systems. Ann. Henri Poincaré 3, 1049–1111 (2002) Zbl 1011.83038 MR 1957378
- [25] Demaret, J., Henneaux, M., Spindel, P.: Nonoscillatory behaviour in vacuum Kaluza–Klein cosmologies. Phys. Lett. B 164, 27–30 (1985) MR 815631
- [26] Fourès-Bruhat, Y.: Théorème d'existence pour certains systèmes d'équations aux dérivées partielles non linéaires. Acta Math. 88, 141–225 (1952) Zbl 0049.19201 MR 53338
- [27] Garfinkle, D.: Numerical simulations of general gravitational singularities. Classical Quantum Gravity 24, S295–S306 (2007) Zbl 1117.83084 MR 2333165
- [28] Hawking, S. W.: The occurrence of singularities in cosmology. I. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 300, 187–201 (1967) Zbl 0163.23903
- [29] Hawking, S. W., Penrose, R.: The singularities of gravitational collapse and cosmology. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 314, 529–548 (1970) Zbl 0954.83012 MR 264959
- [30] Isenberg, J., Kichenassamy, S.: Asymptotic behavior in polarized T²-symmetric vacuum space-times. J. Math. Phys. 40, 340–352 (1999) Zbl 1061.83512 MR 1657863
- [31] Isenberg, J., Moncrief, V.: Asymptotic behavior of the gravitational field and the nature of singularities in Gowdy spacetimes. Ann. Physics 199, 84–122 (1990) Zbl 0723.53061 MR 1048674

- [32] Kasner, E.: Geometrical theorems on Einstein's cosmological equations. Gen. Relativity Gravitation 40, 865–876 (2008) MR 2415424
- [33] Kichenassamy, S., Rendall, A. D.: Analytic description of singularities in Gowdy spacetimes. Classical Quantum Gravity 15, 1339–1355 (1998) Zbl 0949.83050 MR 1623091
- [34] Luk, J., Oh, S.-J.: Strong cosmic censorship in spherical symmetry for two-ended asymptotically flat initial data I. The interior of the black hole region. Ann. of Math. (2) 190, 1–111 (2019) Zbl 1429.83046 MR 3990601
- [35] Luk, J., Oh, S.-J.: Strong cosmic censorship in spherical symmetry for two-ended asymptotically flat initial data II: The exterior of the black hole region. Ann. PDE 5, Paper No. 6, 194 pp. (2019) Zbl 1428.35588 MR 3969149
- [36] Misner, C. W.: Mixmaster universe. Phys. Rev. Lett. 22, 1071–1074 (1969) Zbl 0177.28701
- [37] Newman, R. P. A. C.: On the structure of conformal singularities in classical general relativity. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 443, 473–492 (1993) Zbl 810.53085 MR 1252599
- [38] Newman, R. P. A. C.: On the structure of conformal singularities in classical general relativity. II. Evolution equations and a conjecture of K. P. Tod. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 443, 493–515 (1993) Zbl 0810.53086 MR 1252600
- [39] Nirenberg, L.: On elliptic partial differential equations. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci.
 (3) 13, 115–162 (1959) Zbl 0088.07601 MR 109940
- [40] Penrose, R.: Gravitational collapse and space-time singularities. Phys. Rev. Lett. 14, 57–59 (1965) Zbl 0125.21206 MR 172678
- [41] Rein, G.: Cosmological solutions of the Vlasov–Einstein system with spherical, plane, and hyperbolic symmetry. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 119, 739–762 (1996)
 Zbl 0851.53058 MR 1362953
- [42] Rendall, A. D.: Fuchsian analysis of singularities in Gowdy spacetimes beyond analyticity. Classical Quantum Gravity 17, 3305–3316 (2000) Zbl 0967.83021 MR 1779512
- [43] Rendall, A. D.: The nature of spacetime singularities. In: 100 Years of Relativity, World Scientific, Hackensack, 76–92 (2005) Zbl 1105.83015 MR 2223111
- [44] Rendall, A. D.: Theorems on existence and global dynamics for the Einstein equations. Living Rev. Relativ. 8, 2005–6, 68 (2005) Zbl 1316.83008
- [45] Ringström, H.: The Bianchi IX attractor. Ann. Henri Poincaré 2, 405–500 (2001)
 Zbl 0985.83002 MR 1846852
- [46] Ringström, H.: Strong cosmic censorship in T³-Gowdy spacetimes. Ann. of Math. (2) 170, 1181–1240 (2009) Zbl 1206.83115 MR 2600872
- [47] Ringström, H.: The Cauchy Problem in General Relativity. ESI Lectures Math. Phys., European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich (2009) Zbl 1169.83003 MR 2527641
- [48] Ringström, H.: Cosmic censorship for Gowdy spacetimes. Living Reviews in Relativity 13, art. 2010-2, 59 pp. (2010) Zbl 1215.83008
- [49] Ringström, H.: Linear systems of wave equations on cosmological backgrounds with convergent asymptotics. Astérisque 420, 1–526 (2020) MR 4163813
- [50] Rodnianski, I., Speck, J.: A regime of linear stability for the Einstein-scalar field system with applications to nonlinear big bang formation. Ann. of Math. (2) 187, 65–156 (2018) Zbl 1384.83005 MR 3739229
- [51] Rodnianski, I., Speck, J.: Stable big bang formation in near-FLRW solutions to the Einsteinscalar field and Einstein-stiff fluid systems. Selecta Math. (N. S.) 24, 4293–4459 (2018) Zbl 1402.83120 MR 3874696

- [52] Shao, A.: Breakdown criteria for nonvacuum Einstein equations. Ph.D. thesis, Princeton University, Princeton (2010) MR 2753136
- [53] Speck, J.: The maximal development of near-FLRW data for the Einstein-scalar field system with spatial topology S³. Comm. Math. Phys. 364, 879–979 (2018) Zbl 1402.83124 MR 3875820
- [54] Ståhl, F.: Fuchsian analysis of $S^2 \times S^1$ and S^3 Gowdy spacetimes. Classical Quantum Gravity **19**, 4483–4504 (2002) Zbl 1028.83014 MR 1926244
- [55] Tod, K. P.: Isotropic singularities and the $\gamma = 2$ equation of state. Classical Quantum Gravity 7, L13–L16 (1990) Zbl 0681.53062 MR 1031097
- [56] Tod, K. P.: Isotropic singularities and the polytropic equation of state. Classical Quantum Gravity 8, L77–L82 (1991) Zbl 0718.53062 MR 1100116
- [57] Tod, K. P.: Isotropic cosmological singularities. In: The Conformal Structure of Space-Time, Lecture Notes in Phys. 604, Springer, Berlin, 123–134 (2002) Zbl 1042.83029 MR 2007045
- [58] Wainwright, J., Ellis, G. F. R. : Dynamical Systems in Cosmology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1997) MR 1448187
- [59] Wald, R. M.: General Relativity. University of Chicago, Chicago, (1984) Zbl 0549.53001 MR 757180